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Financial Highlights
MBERE

Revenue

S
123%

oL

FY2018 million HKD

2018814 9,41 0 BEBTT
FY2017 million HKD
20178445 7,651 BEET

Earnings per Share

BRER
116%

G

I

FY2018 HK cents
2018844 5 . 66 5 AL
FY2017 HK cents

2017815 4.865 541

Profit before taxation

BRBL AT A

115%
=

FY2018 2 million HKD
201881 4F 9 9 BEET
FY2017 million HKD

2017844 811 BEBT

Revenue Natural Gas Sales Volume
=L AAREEE
HK$ Million Million Cubic Meters
BEBIT 9410 BEMYHK
10,000 : 4,000 3,725
3,309
8,000 7,651 '
6,446 3,000 2,769
6,000
2,000
4,000
2,000 1,000
FY2016 FY2017 FY2018 FY2016 FY2017 FY2018
201681 2017814 201881 201681 F 201781 F 201851 F
For the period (in HK$ million) FY2018 FY2017 Changes
HA(ASET) 201881 & 201784 F &
Revenue - 9,410 7,651 +23%
Gross Profit EH 1,365 1,216 +12%
Profit before taxation & F5 Bl g 929 811 +15%
Profit attributable to owners NAIEAR A A A
of the Company 282 250 +13%
Earnings per Share (HK cents) A% Z & GBI 5.665 4.865 +16%
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Enterprise Culture
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Vision
Establish the Group as an
internationally influential
enterprise by
environment-friendly

clean energy

fiE s
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Missions wLRER . ObjeTtI:es
Develop business of AEEE ARBE rea(t:i;/;;irgr our
clean energy EFEL AIXAF BEAE Create future for our
sustainggir;iftgtzgtsociety RS e

Create rewards for our
shareholders

Integrity
Group interest as priority
Customer orientation
Innovation
Teamwork
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Mg 218
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Spirits

Passionate Ambitious

Practical Diligent

THESE
WHEHE ATALE
wETE BRERE
EBam HERL

Working environment

Respect Righteous
Disciplined Precise

Initiative  Positive
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Corporate Profiles
NAEN

China Oil And Gas Group Limited (the “Company”) (stock code: 603) and its
subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) are principally engaged in investment
in natural gas and energy related business. Operations of the Group include
piped city gas business, pipeline design and construction; transportation,
distribution and sale of compressed natural gas (“CNG") and liquefied
natural gas (“LNG"); and development, production and sale of crude oil and
gas and other upstream energy resources.

As a piped city natural gas service provider, the Group supplies city natural
gas through long-distance transmission pipelines. With 71 concession
rights, the Group has built up city pipeline networks which offer stable and
sufficient natural gas resources to local household, industrial, commercial
and other users. As a non-pipeline natural gas provider, the Group has
established 2 LNG plants in Qinghai Province, the PRC. Meanwhile, the
Group has also built certain CNG primary stations to ensure a smooth supply
of natural gas all year round. These facilities support supplies of natural gas
to cities not yet covered by pipeline networks and are treated as emergency
backup gas sources for the Group.

As a major national operator of natural gas stations for automobile natural
gas filling, the Group has built 39 CNG stations, 10 LNG stations and 6 L/
CNG stations across the country. All kinds of automobiles, city buses and
long-distance buses can be converted into natural gas operation system
by paying an affordable fee. Some of the provinces will provide subsidy to
automobile owners who are willing to convert their automobile into natural
gas operating system. With support from the PRC government, the Group
offers inexpensive, clean and environmental friendly natural gas to the
transportation sector.

As an operator of natural gas branch pipelines, the Group has already
completed 1,087 km branch pipelines in Qinghai, Hunan, Jiangsu, Jiangxi,
Shanxi, Shandong, Guizhou, Guangdong, Anhui and Hubei Province.
Apart from bringing in stable natural gas transmission revenue, the branch
pipelines constructions will also facilitate the development of projects along
the down-stream.

The Group has well established a large-scale developed natural gas transport
and logistics operation in the PRC, including the set up of LNG and CNG
fleets which have reinforced the mobility and coverage of our natural gas
supplies.

As an upstream energy resources producer, the Group engages in the
development, production and sale of crude oil and gas and other resources
in Alberta of Canada. The exploration and production business of the
Group has the proved reserves of approximately 24.8 million barrels of
oil equivalent and the proved plus probable reserves of approximately 39
million barrels of oil equivalent. Its average daily production was 5,383
barrels of oil equivalent in 2018. Our exploration and production business
possesses energy business in production, a very experienced management
team with proven tracking records, a stable production assets portfolio and
strong profitability with considerable potential for growth.
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Natural Gas Distribution Business in China
FERXARDHER

Main trunk pipelines T E# &G54 Company operating assets / data AR EEEER HiE
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Oil and Gas Production Business in Canada
MERAREEXEK

RESERVES 2
As at 31 December 2018 R-_E—)\F+-_A=+—H
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Corporate Information
NEEH

(continued) (#&)
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Chairman’s Statement

ER®E

BUSINESS REVIEW

In 2018, the Chinese government continued to promote air pollution
prevention and control and the demand for clean natural gas energy
continued to grow with the domestic consumption of natural gas in 2018
reaching 280.3 billion cubic meters, representing a year-on-year increase
of 18%. The Group gave full play to its market and business advantages,
vigorously promoted the construction of key branch pipelines, accelerated
the development of statutory regional markets, achieved steady growth in
gas sales volume, and continued to optimise assets and business structure.

For the financial year ended 31 December 2018, the Group's operational
and financial performance was satisfactory on the whole. Total revenue
increased by 23% to HK$9,410 million (2017: HK$7,651 million). Gross
profit increased to HK$1,365 million (2017: HK$1,216 million), representing
a year-on-year increase of 12%. The Group's profit before taxation was
HK$929 million (2017: HK$811 million), representing a year-on-year
increase of 15%.

Revenue
Bl AL
EERE
10,000 9,410 1,000
8,000 7,651 800
IS IR
# 10
3 1B
& 6,000 o
C . C
e o
=R 23% s
o “
4 4
T 2,000 T 200
0 0

FY2017 FY2018
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CITY PIPELINE NATURAL GAS BUSINESS

Sales and distributions of natural gas

For the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group recorded sales and
distribution of natural gas income of HK$8,476 million (2017: HK$6,774
million), representing a 25% increase and accounting for 90% of total
revenue. During the year, the Group’s total gas sales and transmission
volume increased by 15% to 4,695 million cubic meters (2017: 4,076 million
cubic meters).

Gas sales volume for industrial and commercial users increased 12%,
residential users gas sales volume increased 13% and gas stations increased
by 16%, with each representing 64%, 24% and 12% of the total gas sales
volume respectively (2017: 65%, 24% and 11%).

Chairman’s Statement
FEHRE

(continued) (#&)
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Gas Sales Volume Breakdown — By Province
AARHEHEEDTR —REND

2018 2017
Province #145 —Z2-N\#F —ET—+#F
Qinghai 58 39.8% 43.9%
Shandong I3 9.7% 10.4%
Hunan VoilEa] 8.8% 8.8%
Jiangsu TR 13.8% 12.9%
Guangdong ER 5.1% 4.8%
Jiangxi PNy 7.1% 5.0%
Hubei it 3.2% 3.0%
Shanxi I 8.6% 7.8%
Guizhou M 2.8% 2.6%
Others Hh 1.1% 0.8%
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Chairman’s Statement
FEHRE

(continued) (#)

Development of new users

During the year, the Group connected 108,347 new residential users and
1,386 new industrial and commercial users. Total connections for residential
users and industrial and commercial users were 1,343,844 (2017: 1,235,497)
and 11,812 (2017: 10,426) respectively, which were increased by 9% and
13% as compared to 2017, respectively. With local government’s advance
to carry forward the green development and its industrial transformation
and upgrading continuously, the number of new users is expected to
maintain a stable growth in the future. Industrial and commercial users
have higher demand for natural gas compared to residential users, making
their development a priority task for the Group. In light of the increasing
number of users, the Group will continue to improve service quality and will
optimise safety management systems to provide stable, safe, clean and high
quality supply of energy for all end-users.

HAFR®

FR - EBEHFLI108347TFEE R F K& 1,386
FIB¥XRF ZiAERBRERRBF1,343,844
P(ZE—+% 11235497 )R IHERFP
M8NRF(ZZT — 4 1 10426F) - T
—+FED R REI%N13% © BEE & i BT
HEHESCRERDEELXERN AR &
AEHBRFRAFEESSERFIBEER -HEF
REFRAL IHERFPAIKEXREKX At
EEBEUANARINEREAAPLH®R
THENEETK BEAFPHENEMN £
BEEERARBKEREBLLZZ2EERRE -
BEARXAGEHRBFPRERTE L2 2F
REBHEER -

Total Connected Users as of 31 December

BE12A3MH A EERAFHEE

1,500
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11250 4108 9.269

1,000

Thousands (FF&)

750

500

Residential Users /& R P

250

0 N

2016 2016 2017 2017

B Residential Users
EBERRAF

New project expansion

In 2018, besides the improvement of city natural gas networks in existing
statutory areas, the Group made efforts to develop new markets by
acquiring gas concession rights. During the year, the Group successively
obtained regional gas concession rights for 4 projects in Jiuhu Town and
Taizi Town (Zouping County, Shandong Province), Futian Town (Shangli
County, Jiangxi Province), and modern industrial development zone in
Luyanghu, Weinan City, Shaanxi Province.

As at 31 December 2018, the Group had established a total of 138 natural
gas project companies in 16 provinces and autonomous regions, with 71
gas concession rights in the PRC and the total length of natural gas pipelines
constructed was approximately 12,510 km.

CHINA OIL AND GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2018
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EXPLOITATION AND PRODUCTION OF CRUDE OIL
AND NATURAL GAS BUSINESS

In 2018, international crude oil price recovered from 2017, and the
Group realised average crude oil price increased by CAD6.66 per barrel to
CAD66.92 per barrel. Throughout the year, the average daily production
was 5,383 barrels of oil equivalent and the average operating netback was
CAD25.24 per barrel of oil equivalent in 2018 (2017: 4,849 barrels of oil
equivalent per day, CAD23.23 per barrel of oil equivalent), representing
an increase of 11% and 9% respectively. According to the reserve report
prepared by GLJ Petroleum Consultants for the year ended 31 December
2018, the Group has proved plus probable reserves of 39 million barrels
of oil equivalent (2017: 35 million barrels of oil equivalent), representing a
year-on-year increase of 11%.

Average Annual Production
2FFHER

Chairman’s Statement
FEHRE

(continued) (#&)
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Chairman’s Statement
FEHRE

(continued) (#)

CREDIT RATING

Rating agencies Ratings

Standard & Poor
Moody’s

BB (Positive)
Ba2 (Stable)

The Group was rated “BB” by Standard & Poor with a positive rating
outlook, and was rated “Ba2"” by Moody's, reflecting the Company’s
healthy financial position and promising operational prospects.

BUSINESS PROSPECTS

On 19 March 2019, the Seventh Meeting of the Central Committee for
Deepening Overall Reform deliberated and adopted the Implementation
Opinions on Reform of Operation Mechanism of Oil and Gas Pipeline
Network. In the meeting, it was stressed that to reform the operation
mechanism of oil and natural gas pipeline network, we should expand
openness to a high level, set up oil and gas pipeline network companies
with state-owned capital holding and diversified investment subjects, and
promote the development of multi-subject and multi-channel supply of
upstream oil and gas resources, with the market pattern of the midstream
unified pipeline network which can efficiently collect and transport the
downstream sales market developed by strength competition. With separate
transportation and distribution and fair and open pipeline network, more
resources supply schemes and natural gas supply will be provided in the
upstream market. Through their own strengths, city gas companies will
obtain a variety of gas sources in the future to get rid of the restriction on
gas sources at present.

In terms of demand, the annual apparent consumption of natural gas in
2018 reached 280.3 billion cubic meters, with a year-on-year increase
of 18%. According to the 73th Five-Year Plan for National Energy
Development, by 2020, the proportion of natural gas in primary energy
consumption will rise from 8% to 10%, and there will be great development
potential and space for the natural gas market in China. In 2018, the
Chinese government also continued to promote the development of the
clean energy natural gas, by successively issuing such guiding documents as
the Three-year Action Plan for Winning the Blue Sky War, the Regulations
on Fair and Open Supervision of Oil and Gas Pipeline Network Facilities, and
the Notice on Rationalizing the Price of Residential Gas Stations, to further
standardize the development and operation of the industry, which shows
the State’s emphasis on energy reform and the determination to promote
the prevention and control of air pollution, and further increased the
demand for natural gas in the domestic market.

CHINA OIL AND GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2018
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In terms of supply, the eastern line of the China-Russia natural gas pipeline
is expected to start to supply natural gas to China by the end of 2019, and
then gradually increase the supply to a final level of 38 billion cubic meters
per year. At the same time, it is expected that an additional 30 billion
cubic meters of natural gas will be supplied each year after the western
line of the China-Russia natural gas pipeline is put into operation in the
future. In terms of LNG supply, China‘s LNG import volume increased by 16
million tons in 2018, up by 40% year on year, and the global LNG supply is
expected to increase by 35 million tons in 2019, which will be fully absorbed
by Asia and Europe. With the accelerated growth of domestic self-produced
gas production, the import volume of pipeline gas and LNG is gradually
increasing, and the successive operation of several LNG receiving terminals
will effectively promote the development of the natural gas industry.

In 2019, the Group will fully grasp the development opportunities of the
domestic natural gas market, intensify our cooperation with our partners
to develop the market, actively control the procurement cost, accelerate
the expansion of the terminal business, and enhance the market share
of the terminals to embrace the opportunities and challenges brought by
the reform of the natural gas market. With the tenet of “create value for
our customers, create future for our employees, create rewards for our
shareholders” in mind, the Group will strive to build itself into an influential
clean energy company.

Chairman’s Statement
FEHRE

(continued) (#)
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEENWR DN

The following discussions should be read in conjunction with the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group and its notes and other
sections in the annual report for the year ended 31 December 2018.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Driven by the Chinese government’s environmental policies, the demand
for clean energy has continued to grow in mainland China. Leveraging its
strong sales network and gas source advantages, the Group has seized
those favourable opportunities to achieve rapid business growth. During the
year of 2018, the Group recorded a total revenue of HK$9,410 million (2017:
HK$7,651 million), representing an increase of 23%. Gross profit amounted
to HK$1,365 million (2017: HK$1,216 million), representing an increase of
12% comparing to last year. The Group's profit for the year was HK$678
million (2017: HK$623 million), representing an increase of 9% from 2017.
Profit attributable to the owners of the Company recorded an 13% growth
to HK$282 million in 2018.

The Group’s principal activities are divided into three segments.

(1) Sales and distribution of natural gas and other related products (“Sales
and distribution of natural gas”)

The Group’s natural gas sales and transmission volume increased by
15% to 4,695 million cubic meters in 2018. Sales and distribution of
natural gas continued to be the Group’s principal source of revenue
and constituted 90% of the total revenue in 2018 (2017: 89%).
Revenue related to this segment showed a significant increase of 25%
to HK$8,476 million (2017: HK$6,774 million) and segment results
increased by 17% to HK$774 million (2017: HK$664 million), whereas
segment profit ratio was 9% (2017: 10%).

(2)  Gas pipeline construction and connection (“Connection”)
Revenue related to gas pipeline construction and connection business

constituted around 5% of our total revenue in 2018 and amounted to
HK$517 million (2017: HK$525 million).
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Management Discussion and Analysis

(3)  Exploitation and production of crude oil and natural gas (“Exploitation
and production”)

Revenue related to exploitation and production amounted to HK$417
million (2017: HK$353 million) in 2018, with a growth of 18%. Crude
oil prices recovered more in 2018, with West Texas Intermediate (WTI)
averaging US$64.78 per barrel as compared to US$50.93 per barrel
in 2017. The Group realized crude oil price of CAD66.92 per barrel in
2018 as compared to CAD60.26 per barrel in 2017, with an increase
of 11%.

The Group's sales and distribution cost increased by 12% to HK$57 million
in 2018 from HK$51 million in 2017; administrative expenses increased by
19% from HK$307 million in 2017 to HK$365 million in 2018. Both costs
together represented approximately 4% of total revenue in 2018, whereas
this was approximately 5% in 2017.

Finance cost were HK$207 million (2017: HK$204 million), which was
relatively stable as compared to the Group’s total debt in 2018 and 2017.

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

It is the Group’s policy to adopt conservative financial strategies by using
the cash flow generated from operations as the principal source of fund
to finance its capital expenditures. As at 31 December 2018, the Group’s
total indebtedness (including bank borrowings, other borrowings and senior
notes) was HK$6,549 million (2017: HK$5,719 million). Total available credit
facility amounted to HK$4,563 million as of 31 December 2018 (2017:
HK$5,081 million) with an utilisation rate of 33% (2017: 13%).

As at 31 December 2018, the Group had cash and cash equivalents
and time deposits with maturity over three months of approximately
HK$2,667 million (2017: HK$2,339 million). Total assets increased by 3% to
HK$16,028 million (2017: HK$15,547 million), among which current assets
were HK$4,707 million (2017: HK$4,235 million). Total liabilities of the
Group were HK$10,116 million (2017: HK$9,341 million), and among which
current liabilities were HK$4,611 million (2017: HK$3,920 million). The
Group's debt-to-asset ratio, measured on the basis of total indebtedness
divided by total assets, was 41% (2017: 37%). The current ratio (current
assets divided by current liabilities) of the Group was 1.02 times (2017: 1.08
times).
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BEEENRRDN

(continued) (#)

The Group's financial and liquidity ratios remained stable, and hence the
Group is well prepared for its development in the future.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICY

At the end of 2018, the Group employed a total of 3,595 (2017: 3,600)
full-time employees, most of whom were stationed in the PRC. Total staff
cost for the year amounted to HK$384 million (2017: HK$333 million). The
Group remunerates its employees based on their performance, working
experience and the prevailing market wage level. The total remuneration
of the employees consist of basic salary, cash bonus and share-based
incentives.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

No assets of the Group have been pledged for the outstanding borrowings
as at 31 December 2018.

CONTINGENT LIABILITY

The Group had no material contingent liability as at 31 December 2018.

FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT AND TREASURY
POLICY

The Group is responsible for the financial risk management, and its treasury
function at the head office in Hong Kong. One of the major objectives of
the Group’s treasury policies is to manage its exposure to fluctuation in
interest rates and foreign currency exchange rates. It is the Group's policy
not to engage in speculative activities.

The Group conducts its business primarily in Renminbi. The Group's certain
bank deposits are denominated in Hong Kong dollars, Renminbi and United
Stated dollars, and the Group’s offshore bank loans and senior notes are
denominated in Renminbi, United Stated dollars and Canadian dollars.

Other than those disclosed, the Group does not have any material exposures
to foreign exchange fluctuations. The Group does not have a foreign
currency hedging policy. However, the Group monitors its foreign currency
exposure closely and may, depending on the circumstances and trend of
foreign currencies, consider adopting a significant foreign currency hedging
policy in the future.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

LITIGATION

As at 31 December 2018, the Group had no significant litigation.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

As at 31 December 2018, the issued share capital of the Company was
approximately HK$58,391,238 divided into 5,839,123,834 shares with a
nominal value of HK$0.01 each.

DISTRIBUTION OUT OF CONTRIBUTED SURPLUS
ACCOUNT

The Board resolved to propose to the shareholders of the Company at
the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company to be held on
Wednesday, 29 May 2019 (the “2019 AGM"), a distribution of HK cent 0.40
(2017: HK cent 0.35) per share out of the contributed surplus account of the
Company to be paid on Monday, 24 June 2019 to those shareholders whose
names appear on the register of members of the Company on Thursday,
6 June 2019. The proposed distribution will amount to approximately
HK$23,356,000 (2017: HK$20,390,000).
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Biographical Details of Directors
EEEEBN

CHAIRMAN, CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER AND
EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. Xu Tie-liang, aged 55, was appointed as an executive Director and the
Chairman of the Board of the Company on 30 August 2006. He was also
appointed as the Chief Executive Officer of the Company on 4 November
2009. Mr. Xu is the chairman of the corporate governance committee of
the Company (the “CG Committee”), also the chairman of China City
Natural Gas Investment Group Co., Ltd and Baccalieu Energy Inc. and a
director of certain subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Xu is also a Honorary
Life Chairman of Cross-Strait Peaceful Development Federation; vice
chairman of Hong Kong Energy and Minerals United Associations; Honorary
Chairman of The Hong Kong Chinese Enterprises Association (Shandong).
Mr. Xu graduated from Xi‘an Shiyou University (78 % A # X &) and the
University of International Business and Economics (¥f b 45 % & 5 K £3),
Postgraduate degree, EMBA of Tsinghua University (& ZE A 2 & & £
Bt). He is a certified public accountant and lawyer. Mr. Xu has 30 years’
experience in management, investments, legal and finance.

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. Guan Yijun, aged 54, was appointed as an executive Director of the
Company on 10 September 2010. She was appointed as the vice president
of the Company on 1 September 2006. Ms. Guan is a member of each
of the CG Committee and the remuneration committee of the Company
(“Remuneration Committee”). She is also a director of certain subsidiaries
of the Company. She graduated from Changchun Normal University in the
early years and studied at the Advanced Business Administration of Peking
University. She has extensive business operation management experiences
over 20 years.

Mr. Liu Chunsun, aged 60, was appointed as an executive Director of the
Company on 12 June 2018. He is a member of each of the nomination
committee of the Company (the “Nomination Committee”) and the
CG committee. Mr. Liu graduated from China University of Mining And
Technology in 1987 and completed correspondence course at China
University of Petroleum in 1996. He is a certified accountant. He is engaged
in oil industry for 40 years and gas industry over 18 years. Since 2002, he
joined China City Natural Gas Investment Group Co., Ltd. (FF )i F Z2 R &
£ @R E AR & EAF), anon wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
served successively as deputy general manager of investment department,
manager of financial division, assistant to general manager, vice president,
director and chief member of remuneration and assessment committee. Mr.
Liu has extensive investment and financial management experiences.

CHINA OIL AND GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2018

EFECITHRBRATES

HHEREE - ATHER RZTZSFENA
ST HEZERARNTESRESTRER -
RZZEZNF+—AMNB WA EZTAERD
BIMTHAY HFEERAALEEAREZE
B(ICEERZEENER REFBP R
R & &£ BB R 2 A KBaccalieu Energy Inc.
EERRARETHEBARMNES - #x4E
NAMENTERBALGKEREGR
ERERBERSSRER: BAFELE
BELRSEREER TARELREER
AXABMAKEREIMEEESIRE  FEK
BB ZREMBAI R ERE - thE A M
AR EMAR FEEEER KRE - E
7 RUMBEEFERE=TFLR -

HITES

MEExt AtHEE R-FT-—FTFAA+
BEZERAFARTEST MR _TEXF
NA—BEZERRAIZEBER BRLLRE
REAEEERZBEERFMEZES(HFME
EgWKE BRI RAFDETHERA
MEE MFFRERREMBAEL RN
RABRRIBERRE BHLIRELE
REERIFBB _+F AFEEKR-

BEFEE NTHR RZZE-NFRATZ
FEZERARARTERT ERAREZE
Eg((RE2ZzBe) hbEERZBENX
B -BEER-NANEFEERFHEHBEBEK
R ANRFETTRET B A AR (EF
RIMEHERIZ -MMABSHAMER - it =
FOMITEZAF RERARITERISF - ftb
B_TZ_FMARHPERREERESR
REERAR(—HARFZENBAR) B
EREREIKEE MR EE - RLEE -
Bl EERFMEEZZES@IMEERE -
BIEERKRERMBERETHABEELR

e



Biographical Details of Directors

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Li Yunlong, aged 67, was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director of the Company on 18 April 2008. He is the chairman of each of
the audit committee of the Company (the “Audit Committee”) and the
Remuneration Committee, and a member of the Nomination Committee.
Mr. Li graduated from the Accounting School of Zhongnan University
of Economics and Law (7 g Bf &% B )% K 2 & =t £ [7) with a Bachelor
Degree in Economics. Mr. Li is a registered certified public accountant in
the PRC and possesses the qualification of PRC senior auditor. Mr. Li had
been working at the National Audit Office of the PRC for over 18 years in
various audit departments, and he is currently a partner of Hua Wen CPA
Ltd (= [ & 51 A0 = % F7) in the PRC. He was employed as senior researcher
(professor grade) by The Institute of Modern Communication Research,
Shandong University. He is also a national financial expert of The Ministry of
Science and Technology of the PRC. He is the financial consultant of various
companies in the PRC. He has extensive experience in legal, accounting,
auditing and finance aspects.

Mr. Wang Guangtian, aged 55, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director of the Company on 4 November 2009. He is the
chairman of the Nomination Committee, and a member of each of the
Audit Committee and the Remuneration Committee. He holds a master
degree in world economics from the Hebei University and has over 34 years
of experience in financial and administrative management. He is currently
the managing director of Gainful Investment Corporation and Guofu (Hong
Kong) Holdings Limited. He was an independent non- executive director
of ENN Energy Holdings Limited, a company listed on the Stock Exchange,
from December 2000 to May 2015. He was appointed as a managing
director of Hebei Overseas Listed Equity Investment Fund Co., Ltd in June
2015.

Mr. Yang Jie, aged 55, was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director of the Company on 18 May 2017. He is a member of the Audit
Committee. Mr. Yang holds a bachelor degree at University of International
Business Economics. Mr. Yang is currently serving as executive director
and chief executive officer of MEC Advisory Limited which is the sole
advisor of Can-China Global Resource Fund, and executive director of
EMC Financial Limited, the general partner of Can-China Global Resource
Fund. Mr. Yang has more than 20 years of experience in mining investment
and capital operation. He served as a board member of several Canadian
listed mining companies and senior adviser of several Chinese companies
for their overseas investment. He has participated in corporate financing,
mergers and acquisitions for numerous Canadian mining companies. Mr.
Yang served as senior vice president in Hunter Dickinson Inc. and Partner
and director in Continental Mineral Corp. Mr. Yang is currently a director of
Highbury Project Inc., a company listed in Canada.
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Report of the Directors
EEREE

The Board is pleased to submit their report together with the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2018.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The Group
is principally engaged in investments in natural gas and energy related
businesses.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The Group's profit for the year ended 31 December 2018 and the state of
affairs of the Group as at that date are set out in the consolidated financial
statements on pages 63 to 219.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Review of the Company’s Business

A review of the business of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2018 and a discussion on the Group's future business development,
and also the Group’s performance during the year ended 31 December
2018 using the key financial performance indicators are provided in the
“Chairman’s Statement” and “Management Discussion and Analysis” on
pages 10 to 19. No important event affecting the Group has occurred since
the end of the year under review.

Principal Risks and Uncertainties Facing the Company

The Group’s financial conditions, results of operations, and business
prospects may be affected by a number of risks and uncertainties directly
or indirectly pertaining to the Group’s businesses. The following are the key
risks and uncertainties identified by the Group. There may be other risks and
uncertainties in addition to those as shown below which are not known to
the Group or may not be material now but could turn out to be material in
the future.
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Natural Gas Price Control Risk

The Group is principally engaged in distribution of natural gas in the PRC.
The city-gate price of natural gas is determined with reference to the
wellhead price and transmission charges. In China, wellhead prices for
residential and fertilizer users are fixed, while wellhead prices for industrial
and commercial users may vary from the benchmark price set by the PRC
National Development and Reform Commission. Piped gas end-user tariffs
are determined by local pricing bureaus. There may be risks that the Group
is unable to obtain approval for passing through any increase in natural gas
price which would deteriorate the Group's profit.

Foreign exchange risk

The Group’s principal business is located in the PRC and its major
transactions are conducted in Renminbi. Most of its assets and liabilities are
denominated in Renminbi and Canadian dollars.

The Renminbi is not freely convertible. There is a risk that the Chinese
government may take actions affecting exchange rates which may have
a material adverse effect on the Group’s net assets, earnings and any
dividends it declares if such dividend is to be exchanged or converted into
foreign exchange. The Group has not entered into any hedging transactions
to manage the potential fluctuation in foreign currencies. The Group does
not consider that it has any significant exposure to the risk of fluctuation in
the exchange rate between HK$ and RMB.

Liquidity Risk

Liquidity risk is the potential risk that the Group will be unable to meet its
obligations when they fall due because of an inability to obtain adequate
funding or liquidate assets. In managing liquidity risk, the Group monitors
cash flows and maintains an adequate level of cash and cash equivalents to
ensure the ability to finance the Group’s operations and reduce the effects
of fluctuation in cash flows.

Operational Risk

Operational risk is the risk of loss resulting from inadequate or failed internal
processes, people and systems or from external events. Responsibility for
managing operational risks basically rests with every function at divisional
and departmental levels.

Key functions in the Group are guided by their standard operating
procedures, limits of authority and reporting framework. The management
will identify and assess key operational exposures regularly so that
appropriate risk response can be taken.
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Report of the Directors
EEREE

(continued) (#)

Environmental Policy and Performance

Both the government and the public continue to pay utmost attention
to environmental issues, despite the fact that certain expensive and
environment friendly measures were planned and implementation will soon
be taken place. Stricter requirements may be put into practice to address
these issues.

The environmental, social and governance report of the Company for
the year ended 31 December 2018 containing the information required
under Appendix 27 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) (the
“Listing Rules”) will be published on the Stock Exchange’s website and
the Company’s website within three months after the publication of the
Company’s 2018 annual report.

Compliance with the Relevant Laws and Regulations

The Company was incorporated in Bermuda and therefore the Company
is subject to The Bermuda Act. In addition, the Company is registered as
a non-Hong Kong company under Part 16 of the Companies Ordinance
(Chapter 622, Laws of Hong Kong) (the “Companies Ordinance”) and
therefore is subject to the relevant provisions under the Companies
Ordinance.

The Company is listed on the Stock Exchange and therefore the Company
is subject to the governance of the Listing Rules, including the disclosure
requirements and corporate governance provisions therein. Under the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571, Laws of Hong Kong) (the
“SFO"), the Company is required to maintain a register of interests in
shares and short positions and a register of directors’ and chief executives’
interests and short positions and is obliged to disclose price sensitive or
inside information.

During the year under review, as far as the Board and management are
concerned, there was no material breach of or non-compliance with the
applicable laws and regulations by the Group that has a significant impact
on its businesses and operations.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH STAKEHOLDERS

The Company recognises that employees are our valuable assets. Thus the
Group provides competitive remuneration package to attract and motivate
the employees. The Group regularly reviews the remuneration package of
employees and makes necessary adjustments to conform to the market
standard.

The Group also understands that it is important to maintain good
relationship with business partners and bank enterprises to achieve its long
term goals. Accordingly, the management have kept good communication,
promptly exchanged ideas and shared business updates with them when
appropriate. During the year under review, there was no material and
significant dispute between the Group and its business partners or bank
enterprises.
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FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board resolved to propose to the shareholders of the Company at
the 2019 AGM, a distribution of HK cent 0.40 (2017: HK cent 0.35) per
share out of the contributed surplus account of the Company to be paid
on Monday, 24 June 2019 to those shareholders whose names appear on
the register of members of the Company on Thursday, 6 June 2019. The
proposed distribution will amount to approximately HK$23,356,000 (2017:
HK$20,390,000).

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For determining the entitlement of the shareholders to attend and vote at
the 2019 AGM, the register of members of the Company will be closed
from Thursday, 23 May 2019 to Wednesday, 29 May 2019, both days
inclusive, during which period no transfer of shares will be registered. In
order to be eligible to attend and vote at the 2019 AGM, all transfers of
shares accompanied by the relevant share certificate(s) must be lodged with
the Company’s branch share registrar and transfer office in Hong Kong,
Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited at Shops 1712-1716,
17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong
for registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on Wednesday, 22 May 2019.

For determining the entitlement of the shareholders to the proposed
distribution, the register of members of the Company will be closed from
Thursday, 6 June 2019 to Monday, 10 June 2019 (both days inclusive)
during which period no transfer of shares will be registered. In order to
qualify for the proposed distribution, all transfers of shares accompanied by
the relevant share certificates must be lodged with the Company’s branch
share registrar and transfer office in Hong Kong, Computershare Hong
Kong Investor Services Limited for registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on
Wednesday, 5 June 2019.

SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the results and of assets and liabilities of the Group for the
last five financial years, as extracted from the audited consolidated financial
statements and reclassified as appropriate, is set out on page 220. That
summary does not form part of the consolidated financial statements.
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SEGMENT INFORMATION

An analysis of the Group’s revenue and results by operating segments for
the year ended 31 December 2018 is set out in note 6 to the consolidated
financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Group
during the year are set out in note 16 to the consolidated financial
statements.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

The Group did not make any charitable donations during the year (2017:
Nil).

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movement in the Company’s share capital during the year are set
out in note 32(a) to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARES ISSUED

13,440,000 Shares had been issued on 3 July 2018 pursuant to the exercise
of share options under the share options scheme adopted on 23 November
2011 by a Director and certain eligible participants at the exercise price of
HK$0.46 per Share. Total funds raised from the exercise of share options
was HK$6,182,400.

DEBENTURES ISSUED

The Company did not issued any debentures during the year end 31
December 2018.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save for the share option scheme and the restricted share award scheme of
the Group as set out in this Report of the Directors and in note 32(b) and
32(c) to the consolidated financial statements respectively, no equity-linked
agreements were entered into by the Group during the year or subsisting at
the end of the year.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company adopted a share option scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”)
at the special general meeting of the Company held on 23 November
2011. Pursuant to the Share Option Scheme, the Board may at its discretion
offer options to any eligible participant including, but not limited to any
person being an employee, executive directors or non-executive directors
of the Group or any invested entity (including independent non-executive
directors of the Group or any invested entity) and any suppliers, consultants
or advisers who will provide or have provided services to the Group or any
invested entity. Details of the Share Option Scheme are set out in note 32(b)
to the consolidated financial statements.

Details of movements in the share options granted under the Share Option
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Name or 1 January 31 December
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participants Exercise Exercisable R=-F—-N\F during during during RZZ-N\#%
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21/01/2026
Total 3t 100,000,000 — 13,440,000 — 86,560,000
Note: W&t -

These share options are exercisable in the following manner:

(i) 30% of the share options are exercisable on 22 January 2018;

(ii) 30% of the share options shall become exercisable on 22 January 2019; and

(i) 40% of the share options shall become exercisable on 22 January 2020.

On 3 July 2018, 13,440,000 share options were exercised at the exercise
price of HK$0.46 per Share under the Share Option Scheme. The closing
market price of the Share on 29 June 2018, being the date immediately
before the date of exercise, was HK$0.61.
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As at the date of this annual report, the total number of Shares available for
issue under the Share Option Scheme is 481,771,621 Shares, representing
approximately 8.25% of the Shares in issue as at the date of this annual
report.

RESTRICTED SHARE AWARD SCHEME

On 4 November 2011, the Board adopted a restricted share award scheme
(the “Restricted Share Award Scheme”) as an incentive to recognise the
contributions by employees and to give incentives in order to retain them
for their continuing operation and development and to attract suitable
personnel for further development of the Group, details of the Restricted
Share Award Scheme are set out in note 32(c) to the consolidated financial
statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Bye-laws of the
Company (the “Bye-Laws") or the laws of Bermuda, being the jurisdiction in
which the Company was incorporated, which would oblige the Company to
offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing shareholders.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

During the year, the Company, through the trustee of the Restricted Share
Award Scheme, purchased from the market 53,640,000 shares for the
purpose of the Restricted Share Award Scheme. Save as aforesaid, neither
the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of
the Company'’s listed securities during the year.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2018, the amount standing to the credit of the
Company’s share premium account in the amount of HK$32,333,000
may also be distributed in the form of fully paid bonus shares,
and the Company’s contributed surplus account in the amount of
HK$1,470,810,000 may be distributed under certain circumstances.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The percentage of purchases and sales attributable to the Group’s major
suppliers and customers are as follows:
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2018 2017
=t WY —E—t%
% %
Purchases Eei

— the largest supplier — RAHER 32.3 35.7
— five largest suppliers combined — RAAHEREE 87.9 87.4

Turnover E
— the largest customer — RAERP 2.0 3.5
— five largest customers combined — RAAEBFPER 8.4 10.9

None of the Directors or any of their associates (as defined in the Listing
Rules or any shareholders (who, to the knowledge of the Directors, own
more than 5% of the Company’s share capital) had any beneficial interests
in the Group’s five largest customers or five largest suppliers.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report are as
follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. XU Tie-liang (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Ms. GUAN Yijun

Mr. LIU Chunsun (appointed on 12 June 2018)

Mr. ZHU Yuan (retired on 12 June 2018)

Mr. CHEUNG Shing (retired on 12 June 2018)

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. LI Yunlong

Mr. WANG Guangtian

Mr. YANG lJie

In accordance with Bye-law 87(1) of the Bye-Laws, Mr. Li Yunlong and Mr.
Wang Guangtian shall retire from office as Directors by rotation at the 2019
AGM and being eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the 2019 AGM.

In accordance with Bye-law 86(2) of the Bye-Laws, Mr. Liu Chunsun, being
Director appointed after the last annual general meeting of the Company,
shall retire and, being eligible, offers himself for re-election at the 2019
AGM.
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INDEPENDENCE CONFIRMATION

The Company has received from each of the independent non-executive
Directors an annual confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule 3.13
of the Listing Rules. The Company considers all of the independent non-
executive Directors are independent.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed under the sections headed “SHARE OPTION SCHEME",
"RESTRICTED SHARE AWARD SCHEME"” and “DIRECTORS’ AND
CHIEF EXECUTIVES" INTERESTS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES” in this report and in notes 32(b) and 32(c) to the consolidated
financial statements, at no time during the year was the Company or any of
its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors to acquire
such rights in any other body corporate.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Mr. Xu Tie-liang entered into a service contract with the Company 10 April
2017 for a term of three years commencing from 10 April 2017.

None of the Directors who are proposed for re-election at the 2019
AGM has a service contract with the Company which is not determinable
within one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole
or any substantial part of the business of the Company were entered into or
existed during the year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

No Director had a significant beneficial interest, either directly or indirectly,
in any transaction, arrangement or contract of significance to the business
of the Group to which the Group or any of its subsidiaries was a party
subsisted at 31 December 2018 or at any time during the year ended 31
December 2018.
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DIRECTORS" AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES' INTERESTS
IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES

At 31 December 2018, the interests or short positions of the Directors
and chief executives of the Company in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company or any associated corporation (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO, which were notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
(including interests or short positions which they are taken or deemed to
have under such provision of the SFO), or which were required, pursuant
to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein,
or which were required to notify to the Company and the Stock Exchange,
pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of
Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”), are set out below:

Interests in shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company
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Notes:

1. 353,120,130 ordinary shares and 1,088,214,000 ordinary shares of the
Company (“Shares”) are held through Sino Advance Holdings Limited
("Sino Advance”) and Sino Vantage Management Limited (“Sino Vantage”)
respectively, both of which were incorporated in the British Virgin Islands with
limited liability and are wholly-owned by Sino Best International Group Limited
(Sino Best"”) (a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands with limited
liability) which in turn is wholly and beneficially owned by Mr. Xu Tie-liang (“Mr.
Xu"). Therefore, Mr. Xu is deemed to be interested in 1,441,334,130 Shares
pursuant to the SFO. Ms. Guan Yijun (“Ms. Guan”) is the spouse of Mr. Xu,
therefore, Ms. Guan is also deemed to be interested in 1,441,334,130 Shares
pursuant to the SFO.

2. An amount of US$1,500.000 of the US$350,000,000, 4.625% senior notes of
the Company due 2022 are held through Sino Advance and is wholly-owned
by Sino Best which in turn is wholly and beneficial by Mr. Xu.

3. 1,540,000 derivative shares are derived from the share options granted under
the Share Option Scheme exercisable into 1,540,000 Shares.

An amount of US$2,000,000 of the US$350,000,000, 4.625% senior notes
of the Company due 2022 held through Moral High Limited which is owned
by Mr. Xu and Ms. Guan 50% each.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors or chief executives of the
Company had any interests or short positions in the shares, underlying
shares or debentures of the Company which were recorded on the register
required to be kept under section 352 of the SFO or notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code as at 31
December 2018.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

At 31 December 2018, the register of substantial shareholders maintained
by the Company pursuant to section 336 of the SFO showed that other
than the interests disclosed above in respect of certain Directors and chief
executives, the following shareholders had notified the Company of relevant
interests in the issued share capital of the Company:
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Interests in the shares and underlying shares of the Company

Name of

Long position/
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RAAKRG REBAR G 2 Ex

Approximate
percentage of the
Company’s issued

Number of ordinary share capital

shareholder Capacity short position shares held HARB BT

BRR#E BB & % BR/ KR FEEBRHE REBMOBE D

Sino Advance Beneficial owner Long position 353,120,130 6.05%
EmEEA we

Sino Vantage Beneficial owner Long position 1,088,214,000 18.63%
EmEE A we

Sino Best Interest in controlled corporations Long position 1,441,334,130 24.68%

L REE] S REGhEEZ #a A

Note: Hiat -

Sino Advance and Sino Vantage are wholly-owned by Sino Best which in turn is
wholly and beneficially owned by Mr. Xu. Hence, Mr. Xu is deemed to be interested in
353,120,130 Shares and 1,088,214,000 Shares held through Sino Advance and Sino
Vantage respectively.

Save as disclosed above, no other parties were recorded in the register
of the Company required to be kept under section 336 of the SFO as
having interests or short positions in the shares or underlying shares of the
Company as at 31 December 2018.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS
BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as the code of conduct
regarding securities transactions by the Directors. Having made specific
enquiries of all Directors, the Company confirmed that all Directors have
complied with the required standards set out in the Model Code throughout
the year.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Company has arranged for appropriate insurance cover for Director’s
and officers’ liabilities in respect of legal actions against its Directors and
senior management arising out of corporate activities. The permitted
indemnity provision is in force for the benefit of the Directors as required
by section 470 of the Companies Ordinance when the Report of the Board
of the Directors prepared by the Directors is approved in accordance with
section 391(1)(a) of the Companies Ordinance.

Sino Advance&Sino VantageF F ZE B 2 A A -
MAREBAATEEE2ERERSESR - At » &F
5 H 3R AT % iBSino Advance }2Sino Vantage? A &
353,120,1300% % 1,088,214,0000% % 1 # # B 4z ©
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CONNECTED TRANSACTION

Exempt continuing connected transaction

The following continuing connected transaction constitutes an exempt
continuing connected transaction for the Company under Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules:

Appointment of Trustee for Restricted Share Award Scheme

The Trustee (Note) was appointed by the Company as trustee for the
administration of the Restricted Share Award Scheme adopted by the
Board on 4 November 2011. Service fee will be paid by the Company to the
Trustee according to the share award trust deed entered into between the
Company and the Trustee on 4 November 2011. The payment of the service
fees to the Trustee by the Company constitutes a continuing connected
transaction of the Company, but is exempt from reporting, annual review,
announcement and independent shareholders’ approval requirements under
Rule 14A.76(1) of the Listing Rules.

HK$200,000 was paid/payable to the Trustee for the financial year ended
31 December 2018.

Note:

Best Thinker Limited (the “Trustee”), a company wholly-owned by Mr. Xu Tie-liang,
an executive Director, the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer of the Company,
is regarded as a connected person of the Company.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTION

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group had entered into
certain related party transactions but these transactions were not regarded
as connected transactions or continuing connected transactions under
the Listing Rules or were exempt from reporting, announcement and
shareholders’ approval requirements under the Listing Rules. Details of
these related party transactions are disclosed in note 37 to the consolidated
financial statements.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has maintained a
sufficient public float as required under the Listing Rules during the year and
up to the date of this report.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

A report on the principle corporate governance practices adopted by the
Company is set out on pages 36 to 53 of the annual report.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company established the Audit Committee in 1998 with written terms
of reference in compliance with the Corporate Governance Code as set
out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules (the “CG Code"”), which is currently
made available on the Stock Exchange’s website and the Company’s
website.

The Audit Committee is mainly responsible for making recommendations
to the Board on the appointment, re-appointment and removal of the
external auditor; to approve the remuneration and terms of engagement
of the external auditor, to provide recommendations for any questions
regarding the resignation or dismissal of such auditor; to review the interim
and annual reports, and financial statements of the Group; to oversee the
Company'’s financial reporting system including the adequacy of resources,
qualifications and experience of staff in charge of the Company’s financial
reporting function and their training arrangement and budget, and to
review the risk management and internal control system.

The Audit Committee comprises three independent non-executive Directors,
namely Mr. Li Yunlong (as chairman), Mr. Wang Guangtian and Mr. Yang
Jie. The Audit Committee has reviewed the unaudited interim financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2018.

AUDITOR

A resolution will be submitted to the 2019 AGM to re-appoint
PricewaterhouseCoopers as auditor of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

China Oil And Gas Group Limited
Xu Tie-liang

Chairman

Hong Kong, 27 March 2019

Report of the Directors
EERETE

(continued) (#)

A 3
TEER

BRRBMEMZIBECEERTR RS -
HNFRFEIGAEFES3A o

BEREES

REAM—NMANFRIERZES  LER
ERRAMEt O ERERTUN(REE
ATAIDIVZHBESRE - A BESE
B AT RN BE X P A8 UA B R R A UE & BT o

ERZEBERTEABHEME ENZERE
OB ZBE R ENEZER e RE
BB R A B B B R BRI B R S B B AR 2 A
REREFSRREREERSZ  EHEETH
REERERMBRER  RERABZHH
HRGIE(REERTME AERAFRMBE
BBENE I Z2EBMEERAREEII R
NIEE) Eine E R EIE A R A

ERZECHRBN-EBUIFRNTEETES
FEEETIE) ITEHEERGHELAR
K- EZZESCEHNEEBE_T—/\#F

A=+ - HALFENKREERZTHMH

RZE-NFRRBFAGLHEREZ -FER
BRCBEERMKBEEAMEBARBAA
BB -

RREER
THRREERRQF
TE

FHRR

B —E—hhF=ZA=++tH

FHRREBEAER LT 2018FFIf

35



36

Corporate Governance Report
TERERRS

The Company is committed to maintain good corporate governance
standard and procedures to ensure the integrity, transparency and quality of
disclosure in order to enhance the shareholders’ value.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company has adopted the code provisions set out in the CG Code as its
own code of corporate governance.

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Company was in compliance
with the relevant code provisions set out in the CG Code except for the
deviations as explained below.

Code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code provides that the responsibilities
between chairman and chief executive officer should be divided. Mr. Xu Tie-
liang is the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer of the Company. The
Board believes that vesting the roles of both Chairman and Chief Executive
Officer in the same person has the benefit of ensuring consistent leadership
within the Group and enables more effective and efficient overall strategic
planning for the Group. The Board believes that the balance of power
and authority for the present arrangement will not be impaired and is
adequately ensured by current Board which comprises experienced and high
caliber individuals with sufficient number thereof being independent non-
executive Directors.

Code provision A.4.1 of the CG Code provides that non-executive directors
should be appointed for a specific term and subject to re-election. The
independent non-executive Directors are not appointed for a specific term,
but they are subject to retirement from office by rotation at least once every
three years in accordance with the Bye-Laws.

Code provision D.1.4 of the CG Code requires that the Company should
have formal letters of appointment for directors setting out the key
terms and conditions of their appointment. The Company did not have
formal letters of appointment for Directors (except for Mr. Xu Tie-liang).
However, the Directors shall be subject to retirement by rotation in
accordance with the Bye-Laws. In addition, the Directors are required to
refer to the guidelines set out in “A Guide on Directors’ Duties” issued by
the Companies Registry and “Guidelines for Directors” and “Guide for
Independent Non-executive Directors” (if applicable) published by the Hong
Kong Institute of Directors in performing their duties and responsibilities
as Directors. Besides, the Directors are required to comply with the
requirements under statute and common law, the Listing Rules, legal and
other regulatory requirements and the Company’s business and governance
policies.
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Save as the aforesaid and in the opinion of the Directors, the Company has
met the relevant code provisions as set out in the CG Code during the year
ended 31 December 2018.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the code of conduct regarding directors’
securities transactions as set out in the Model Code. Having made specific
enquiry of all Directors, the Company confirmed that all Directors have
complied with the required standard set out in the Model Code throughout
the year.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control of the Company,
and is responsible for setting up the overall strategy as well as reviewing the
operation and financial performance of the Group. The Board reserved for
its decision or consideration matters covering overall Group strategy, major
acquisitions and disposals, annual budgets, annual and interim results,
approval of major capital transactions and other significant operational
and financial matters. The management was delegated the authority and
responsibility by the Board for the daily management of the Group. In
addition, the Board has also delegated various responsibilities to the Board
committees. Further details of these committees are set out in this report.

The Board currently consists of six Directors including three executive
Directors and three independent non-executive Directors:

Executive Directors

Mr. XU Tie-liang (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Ms. GUAN Yijun

Mr. LIU Chunsun

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. LI Yunlong

Mr. WANG Guangtian

Mr. YANG lJie

Save for Ms. Guan Yijun is the spouse of Mr. Xu Tie-liang, the Board
members have no financial, business, family or other material/relevant
relationships with each other. Such balanced Board composition is formed
to ensure strong independence exists across the Board. The composition of
the Board reflects the balanced skills and experience for effective leadership.

The biographical information of the Directors are set out on pages 20 to 21
under the section headed “Biographical Details of Directors”.
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The Board decides on corporate strategies, approves overall business plans
and evaluates the Group’s financial performance and management. Specific
tasks that the Board delegates to the Group’s management include the
implementation of strategies approved by the Board, the monitoring of
operating budgets, the implementation of internal controls procedures, and
the ensuring of compliance with relevant statutory requirements and other
rules and regulations.

Directors’ Training

According to the code provision A.6.5 of the CG Code, all directors should
participate in continuous professional development to develop and refresh
their knowledge and skills to ensure that their contribution to the board
remains informed and relevant.

All Directors have participated in continuous professional development and
provided a record of training they received for the financial year ended 31

December 2018 to the Company.

The individual training record of each Director received for the year ended
31 December 2018 is set out below:

Name of Director

EXRBEERTLERE HEBRBER
FEFEREZHMBRANEEE -EFR
REEEERECREIFREHETESR
HEZRE ERLERE BTAMEZRER
Fr REERTT BB BAE R E MEMR A LR -

Exzi

RBEERERTZTAMRXEASM - FT
FESR2EBEREXRR ZRYFHHE
MBLRRE UWBFRAEEEEAGEZEEM
ROEMBENERATHEZRELAR -

EREFHCLSNFEFEXEI XA AF
RHEENBE_ZF-NF+_A=1t—H8L
BIRFE R X IBII L o

BHE_Z-NF+_A=Z=+—-RILEFEME
BEEEZEMNBEICEHIAT

Attending or participating in seminars/in-

house briefing or reading materials relevant

to the Group’s business/director’s duties

HERSREKEXYE ESRERRZER

EEng /A P 1 4R = B A ¢ R
Mr. XU Tie-liang R A \
Ms. GUAN Yijun MaExL vV
Mr. LIU Chunsun EFLE v
Mr. LI Yunlong FEELAE Vv
Mr. WANG Guangtian FTERLEE Vv
Mr. YANG Jie s v

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

The Company does not have a separate chairman and chief executive
officer, and Mr. Xu Tie-liang currently performs these two roles. The
Board believes that by taking the roles of both Chairman and Chief
Executive Officer in the same person, it has the benefit of maintaining a
consistent leadership and enables a more effective and efficient overall
strategic planning within the Group. The Board believes that the present
arrangement will not impair its balance of power and authority, and this is
ensured by current Board members, which comprise experienced and high
calibre individuals with sufficient number of independent non-executive
Directors.
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Non-executive Directors

The three independent non-executive Directors are high caliber individuals,
with academic and professional qualifications and experience in the fields
of accounting, finance and investment. With their accumulated experience
gained from various sectors, they can provide strong support towards
the Board's effective discharge of the duties and responsibilities. Each
independent non-executive Director has given an annual confirmation of
his independence to the Company, and the Company considered that each
of them is independent based on the independence guidelines set out in
Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The independent non-executive Directors are
not appointed for specific term, but are subject to retirement by rotation in
accordance with the Bye-Laws.

Board Diversity Policy

The Board has adopted a Board Diversity Policy on 26 August 2013
(the “Policy”) which sets out the approach to achieve its diversity. The
Company recognises that increasing diversity at Board level will support
the attainment of the Company’s strategic objectives and sustainable
development. The Company seeks to achieve Board diversity through
the consideration of a number of factors, including, but not limited, to
gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity, professional
experience, skills, knowledge and length of service. The Company will also
take into consideration its own business model and specific needs from time
to time in determining the optimum composition of the Board.

The Board delegates certain duties to the Nomination Committee under the
Policy. The Nomination Committee will discuss and review the necessity to
set measurable objectives for the implementation of the Policy from time to
time, to ensure their appropriateness and the progress made towards these
objectives are achievable and ascertainable.

The Nomination Committee will review the Policy, as appropriate, to ensure
its continued effectiveness from time to time.

Board Meetings

The Board has four scheduled meetings held quarterly each year, and
additional meetings will take place as and when required. These Board
meetings are planned in advance. During the regular meeting, the Board
examines the Company’s operation and financial performance, reviews and
approves its annual and interim results.
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During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Board held 6 meetings. All
Directors were given opportunities to include any matters in the agenda
for the regular Board meetings, and were given sufficient time to review
documents and information relating to matters to be discussed in the Board
meetings.

Name of Director

HE-_Z-N\F+_A=+—-HLEFE &
EZREBITORNERZ -MAEFHAERSICE
MZEEMAEEZREHNEZZRERN LRR
HAIPHREHNREERERRTIRLE
HEBZXMHMEHR -

Number of attendance

BEEpnA HESERE
Mr. XU Tie-liang (Chairman and Chief Executive — Erék B S (L /EH T HAEE) 6/6
Officer)
Ms. GUAN Yijun BRELZ LT 6/6
Mr. LIU Chunsun (appointed on 12 June 2018) BEEFRFE RS- NFRNAT+_BEZEE) 3/3
Mr. CHEUNG Shing (retired on 12 June 2018) ERAEE(RZZE—N\FEXNATZBEME) 3/3
Mr. ZHU Yuan (retired on 12 June 2018) KREE(RZ_ZE—N\EXNA+-BEMD) 3/3
Mr. LI Yunlong EELE 6/6
Mr. WANG Guangtian TEHEE 6/6
Mr. YANG Jie Hek st 6/6

Board minutes are open for inspection by the Directors. Every Board
member is entitled to have access to Board papers and related materials and
unrestricted access to the advice and services of the Company Secretary,
and has the liberty to seek external professional advice if so required.

General Meeting
During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Company held 1 general

meeting, being the annual general meeting of the Company held on 12
June 2018 (the “2018 AGM"),

EERCHBCBAIHESEN -BREER
REBEREHNEERXMHREBESR - 75
AEAXBRETMEARAWE 2ER MR -
YWAIRFERSRINAZESR -

BRAE
BE-_Z—N\F+-_A=+—HLEFE 2

ARZE-N\FRATZBERITIARERE -
- - NFRRBEFAG(_F-N\ER

Name of Director

RBAFKE]) -

Number of attendance

EEpng HESBRRY
Mr. XU Tie-liang (Chairman and Chief Executive — #F8k R e (L /EFTHAEE) 11
Officer)
Ms. GUAN Yijun BsRAE XL 171
Mr. LIU Chunsun (appointed on 12 June 2018) B|F&% X4 (R -_ZE—N\E~A+-_BEEZT) N/AZR i FB
Mr. CHEUNG Shing (retired on 12 June 2018) RREE(RZZE—NFAA+TZBRME) 0/1
Mr. ZHU Yuan (retired on 12 June 2018) KREEERZZE—NFANA+ZBEME) 0/1
Mr. LI Yunlong TEELE 11
Mr. WANG Guangtian FTEHLE 11
Mr. YANG Jie B E 01
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The Board is responsible for maintaining an on-going dialogue with the
shareholders and in particular, making use of the annual general meetings
or other general meetings to communicate with them and encourage their
participation. Mr. Xu Tie-liang, being the Chairman of the Board and the
chairman of the CG Committee, Mr. Li Yunlong, being the chairman of
each of the Audit Committee and Remuneration Committee, and Mr. Wang
Guangtian, being the chairman of the Nomination Committee, attended the
2018 AGM to answer questions and collect views of shareholders.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

In considering the nomination of new Directors, the Board takes into
account the qualification, ability, working experience, leadership and
professional ethics of the candidates, especially their experience in the
natural gas industry and/or other professional area.

The Company established the Nomination Committee on 15 March 2006
and currently consists of two independent non-executive Directors, namely
Mr. Wang Guangtian (as chairman) and Mr. Li Yunlong and one executive
Director, namely Mr. Liu Chunsun.

The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are currently made
available on the Stock Exchange’s website and the Company’s website.

Terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are aligned with the code
provisions set out in the CG Code.

The functions of the Nomination Committee are to review and monitor the
structure, size and diversity of the Board; to provide recommendations on
any proposed changes to the Board in order to complement the Group's
strategy; to identify qualified individuals in becoming members of the
Board; to assess the independence of independent non-executive directors;
to review the measurable objectives that the Board has set for implementing
the Policy, and the progress on achieving the objectives; and to provide
recommendations to the Board on the appointment or re-appointment of
Directors and succession planning for Directors, in particular the Chairman
and the Chief Executive Officer.
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To ensure changes to the Board composition can be managed without
undue disruption, there should be a formal, considered and transparent
procedure for selection, appointment and re-appointment of Directors,
as well as plans in place for orderly succession (if considered necessary),
including periodical review of such plans. The appointment of a new
Director (to be an additional Director or fill a casual vacancy as and when
it arises) or any re-appointment of Directors is a matter for decision by
the Board upon the recommendation of the proposed candidate by the
Nomination Committee.

The criteria to be applied in considering whether a candidate is qualified
shall be his or her ability to devote sufficient time and attention to the
affairs of the Company and contribute to the diversity of the Board as well
as the effective carrying out by the Board of the responsibilities which, in
particular, are set out as follows:

(a)  participating in Board meetings to bring an independent judgment on
issues of strategy, policy, performance, accountability, resources, key
appointments and standards of conducts;

(b)  taking the lead where potential conflicts of interests arise;

(c)  serving on the Audit Committee, and the Remuneration Committee
and the Nomination Committee (in the case of candidate for non-
executive Director) and other relevant Board committees, if invited;

(d) bringing a range of business and financial experience to the Board,
giving the Board and any committees on which he or she serves the
benefit of his or her skills, expertise, and varied backgrounds and
qualifications and diversity through attendance and participation in
the Board/committee meetings;

(e) scrutinising the Company’s performance in achieving agreed
corporate goals and objectives, and monitoring the reporting of
performance;

) ensuring the Committees on which he or she serves to perform their
powers and functions conferred on them by the Board; and

(g) conforming to any requirement, direction and regulation that may
from time to time be prescribed by the Board or contained in the
constitutional documents of the Company or imposed by legislation
or the Listing Rules, where appropriate.
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If the candidate is proposed to be appointed as an independent non-
executive Director, his or her independence shall be assessed in accordance
with, among other things, the factors as set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules, subject to any amendments as may be made by the Stock Exchange
from time to time. Where applicable, the totality of the candidate’s
education, qualifications and experience shall also be evaluated to consider
whether he or she has the appropriate professional qualifications or
accounting or related financial management expertise for filling the office of
an independent non-executive Director with such qualifications or expertise
as required under Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules.

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Nomination Committee
held 2 meetings. The Nomination Committee reviewed the structure, size
and diversity of the Board, assessed the independence of independent non-
executive Directors, considered and provided recommendations to the Board
on the re-election of Directors and the proposed appointment of Director.

Name of Director

TEERKE
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HWERLZERBEALRBIFATES ]
ARBHEBEE) LHRBIBHREEB R
Frel e NESE L ERT) R A R E R B
t e @A - BIMAFEZREALINEE -
EREEREERBA UZEREEAMB
BENEXERIGTNABYBERER (B
EFRAEIN0QEMRENEEERLER)
NEEBIFNTES -

BE_Z-NF+ZA=+—BLFE &
REZBEEERMREE REAZBEERTE
EZR&ER FERZTE  FHEBUFERTE
EZ2BYEND EREFERENRERZME
EEEIRERNEZTRIRLEEES -

Number of attendance

EEpgg HESBRHE

Mr. WANG Guangtian (Chairman) TEBRLEE(EE) 2/2

Mr. LI Yunlong TEERE 2/2

Mr. CHEUNG Shing (ceased to be a member on  SREGEA (R - N\FEXNA+ - ARILET 2/2
12 June 2018) B E)

Mr. LIU Chunsun (appointed as a member on EFE TR _E—N\FNAT+-_HE N/AZ i A

12 June 2018) ZEAEKE)

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Company established the Remuneration Committee on 13 January 2006
with written terms of reference and currently consists of two independent
non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Li Yunlong (as chairman) and Mr.
Wang Guangtian, and one executive Director, namely Ms. Guan Yijun.

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are currently made
available on the Stock Exchange’s website and the Company’s website.

Terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are aligned with the
code provisions set out in the CG Code.

The functions of the Remuneration Committee are to provide
recommendations to the Board on the Company’s remuneration policy, the
remuneration packages for all Directors’ and senior management, and the
establishment of a formal and transparent procedure for formulating the
remuneration policy.
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During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Remuneration Committee
held 2 meetings. The Committee reviewed the remuneration packages of
the Directors, senior management, and the proposed remuneration of the
newly appointed Director.

Name of Director

HE-_Z-NF+ZA=Z+—BLLFE  F
MEZEEERIT2REE -ZEERTEER
SRERBEZFHNSBUAREENELES
ZHBH o

Number of attendance

Espng HESBRHE

Mr. LI Yunlong (Chairman) TEREE(FE) 2/2

Mr. WANG Guangtian FTEHLEE 2/2

Mr. CHEUNG Shing (ceased to be a member on KRk KA (R T — N\FNA T+ -_BRILET 2/2
12 June 2018) &)

Ms. GUAN Yijun (appointed as a member on ALt (RN=_E—NFXXA+=-H N/AZ 3 F3

12 June 2018) EZEARKE)

The Company has adopted the Share Option Scheme on 23 November
2011. The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to enable the Board to
grant options to selected eligible participants as incentives or rewards, for
their contributions to the Group. The Board has also adopted the Restricted
Share Award Scheme on 4 November 2011 as an incentive to recognise the
employees’ contributions, in order to retain them for the Group’s continuing
operation and development, and to attract suitable personnel for its further
development.

Details of the Share Option Scheme and the Restricted Share Award Scheme
are set out in note 32 to the consolidated financial statements.

The emolument payable to Directors and senior management will depend
on their respective contractual terms under the employment agreements, if
any, and is determined by the Board with reference to the recommendation
of the Remuneration Committee, the performance of the Group and the
prevailing market conditions.

The remuneration of the Directors and senior management of the Company
for the year ended 31 December 2018, by bands is set out below:

RAR_FE——F+—-—A-F+=HKNE
RS BREAIEEREEZTRAETE
BERSEALRLBRE (FARSYHSE
BfEERMZABERB -EERTR_-F
——F+— AWM B RAR G M B S
EREBMURTREZEM Y AKERE
KERBERERMBDNKLEES I REHE
E—FBRRVANBEAS -

B A R At B R I AR ) AT B F B E R
REMBHRRMEI2 -

EELaREEEREIN ZHMESBURR K
EXENERERGHR(WA) THALKR XL
HEFERREFHNZES2HEBEREE £E
KARBMITHRETE °

BHE-_Z-—N\E+_A=+—HIEEE 2
AEELEREEEBRFNARNE S S
Iy -

Number of Individuals

AB
HK$500,001 to HK$1,000,000 500,001 % 7T & 1,000,000/% 7T 5
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 7T & 1,500,000% 7T 10

Details of the remuneration of the Directors and senior management for the
year ended 31 December 2018 are also set out in notes 11 and 12 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company established the Audit Committee in 1998. The Audit
Committee comprises three independent non-executive Directors, namely
Mr. Li Yunlong (as chairman), Mr. Wang Guangtian and Mr. Yang Jie.

The terms of reference of the Audit Committee are currently made available
on the Stock Exchange’s website and the Company’s website.

Terms of reference of the Audit Committee are aligned with the code
provisions set out in the CG Code.

The Audit Committee is mainly responsible for making recommendations
to the Board on the appointment, re-appointment and removal of the
external auditor; to approve the remuneration and terms of engagement
of the external auditor, to provide recommendations for any questions
regarding the resignation or dismissal of such auditor; to review the interim
and annual reports, and financial statements of the Group; to oversee the
Company'’s financial reporting system including the adequacy of resources,
qualifications and experience of staff in charge of the Company’s financial
reporting function and their training arrangement and budget, and to
review the risk management and internal control system.

The Audit Committee meets the external auditor regularly to discuss any
area of concern during the audit. The Audit Committee reviews the interim
and annual reports before submission to the Board. The Audit Committee
focuses not only on the impact of the changes in accounting policies and
practices, but also on the compliance with accounting standards, the Listing
Rules and the legal requirements in the review of the Company’s interim
and annual reports.

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Audit Committee held 2
meetings.

Name of Director
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Number of attendance

EEHE HEEBRHY
Mr. LI Yunlong (Chairman) TERLEE(EE) 2/2
Mr. WANG Guangtian TREHLEE 2/2
Mr. YANG lie T & 2/2

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Audit Committee reviewed
the 2017 annual results and 2018 interim results of the Group, and were
in the opinion that the preparation of such results complied with the
applicable accounting standards and the Listing Rules.

The Audit Committee noted the existing risk management and internal
control systems of the Group and also noted that review of the same will be
carried out annually.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE

The Company established the CG Committee with written terms of
reference on 20 March 2012. The CG Committee comprises three executive
Directors, namely Mr. Xu Tie-liang (as chairman), Ms. Guan Yijun and Mr.
Liu Chunsun, Ms. Law Yin Shan Jenny, the Chief Financial Officer of the
Company and Ms. Chan Yuen Ying Stella, the Company Secretary of the
Company.

Terms of reference of the CG Committee are aligned with the code
provisions set out in the CG Code.

The functions of the CG Committee are to develop and review the
Company’s policies and practices on corporate governance; to comply
with the CG Code and other legal or regulatory requirements and make
recommendations to the Board; to oversee the Company’s orientation
program for new Director; to review and monitor the training and
continuous professional development of Directors and senior management;
to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and compliance
manual (if any) applicable to employees and Directors; and to review the
Company'’s disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.

During the financial year ended 31 December 2018, the CG Committee
held 1 meeting. The CG Committee reviewed the training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior management; and also
reviewed the Company’s compliance with the CG Code during the year
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ended 31 December 2017. =+ HLEFEETOEERTINEBR

Name of member Number of attendance

REHR HESERE

Mr. XU Tie-liang (Chairman) YRR EE(ERE) 1”1

Ms. GUAN Yijun BRELZ LT 171

Mr. CHENG Shing (ceased to be a member on REREE(RZ-ZZE—N\FENA+H 11
12 June 2018) RIEEEKE)

Mr. LIU Chunsun (appointed as a member on BREFEERZE—N\FA+=AH N/AT3E
12 June 2018) EZRIRKE)

Ms. LAW Yin Shan Jenny # AWMzt 11

Ms. CHAN Yuen Ying Stella PR 100 % 22 + 111
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AUDITOR’'S REMUNERATION

During the year, the remuneration paid/payable to the Company’s auditor is
set out below:

Services rendered

TEERKE

(continued) (#)

R BN =

AFEEAR BN BN AR M
Fa

Fee paid/payable

B 12 1% BR 3% BN EAER
HK$'000

FET

Audit services EZIRE 2,300
Non-audit services IEBEZRHG —
2,300

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company engaged an external professional company secretarial services
provider, Uni-1 Corporate Services Limited (“Uni-1"), to provide compliance
and full range of company secretarial services to the Group in order to assist
the Group to cope with the changing regulatory environment and to suit
different commercial needs.

Ms. Chan Yuen Ying Stella (“Ms. Chan”), the representative of Uni-1, was
appointed as the named Company Secretary of the Company. Ms. Law Yin
Shan Jenny, the Chief Financial Officer of the Company, is the primary point
of contact at the Company for the Company Secretary.

According to the requirements of Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules, Ms. Chan
had taken no less than 15 hours of relevant professional training for the
year ended 31 December 2018.

DIVIDEND POLICY

In considering the payment of dividends, there shall be a balance between
retaining adequate reserves for the Group’s future growth and rewarding
the shareholders of the Company.

The Board shall also take into account, among other things, the following
when considering the declaration and payment of dividends:

—  the Group's overall results of operation, financial condition, working
capital requirements, capital expenditure requirements, liquidity
position and future expansions plans;

—  the amount of retained earnings and distributable reserves of the
Company;
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— general economic conditions, business cycle of the Group’s business
and other internal or external factors that may have an impact on the
business or financial performance and position of the Group; and

— any other factors that the Board deems relevant.

The declaration and payment of dividends by the Company is subject to
any restrictions under the laws of Bermuda, the Company’s Bye-Laws, the
Listing Rules and any other applicable laws and regulations.

The Company does not have any pre-determined dividend distribution ratio.
The Company’s dividend distribution record in the past may not be used as
a reference or basis to determine the level of dividends that may be declared
or paid by the Company in the future.

The Dividend Policy shall in no way constitute a legally binding commitment
by the Group in respect of its future dividend and/or in no way obligate the
Group to declare a dividend at any time or from time to time.

The Board will continually review the Dividend Policy and reserves the right
in its sole and absolute discretion to update, amend, modify and/or cancel
the Dividend Policy at any time.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

The general meetings of the Company provide an opportunity for
communication between the shareholders and the Board. An annual
general meeting of the Company shall be held in each year and at the place
as determined by the Board. Each general meeting, other than an annual
general meeting, shall be called a special general meeting. The Board may
call special general meetings whenever it thinks fit.

Shareholders to convene a special general meeting

Shareholders may convene a special general meeting of the Company
according to the provisions as set out in the Bye-Laws and the Companies
Act of Bermuda. The procedures that shareholders can use to convene a
special general meeting are set out in the document entitled “Procedures
for a Shareholder to Propose a Person for Election as a Director”, which is
currently available on the Company’s website.

Putting enquiries by shareholders to the Board
Shareholders of the Company may send written enquires to the Company

for the attention of the Company Secretary at the Company’s principal
place of business in Hong Kong.
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Procedures for putting forward proposals by shareholders at
shareholders’ meeting

The number of members necessary for a requisition for putting forward a
proposal at a general meeting shall be:

(@  any number of members representing not less than one-twentieth of
the total voting rights at the date of the requisition; or

(b)  not less than one hundred members.

A copy or copies of requisition signed by all requisitionists shall be
deposited, with a sum reasonably sufficient to meet the Company’s
expenses in giving notice of the proposed resolution or circulating any
necessary statement, at the Company’s principal place of business in Hong
Kong in the case of:

(i) arequisition requiring notice of a resolution, not less than six weeks
before the meeting; and

(i) any other requisition, not less than one week before the meeting.

The Company will verify the requisition and upon confirming that the
requisition is proper and in order, the Board will proceed with the necessary
procedures.

VOTING BY POLL

Pursuant to Rule 13.39(4) of the Listing Rules, any vote of shareholders at
the general meeting must be taken by poll except where the chairman,
in good faith, decides to allow a resolution which relates purely to a
procedural or administrative matter to be voted on by a show of hands. As
such, all the resolutions to be set out in the notice of 2019 AGM will be
voted by poll.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company is committed to a policy of open and regular communication
and reasonable disclosure of information to its shareholders.

Information of the Company is disseminated to the shareholders in the
following manner:

o Delivery of annual and interim reports to all shareholders;
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o Publication of announcements on the annual and interim results on
the Stock Exchange website, and issue of other announcements and
shareholders’ circulars in accordance with the continuing disclosure
obligations under the Listing Rules; and

J The general meeting of the Company is also an effective
communication channel between the Board and shareholders.

Mr. Xu Tie-liang, the Chairman of the Board and the chairman of the
CG Committee, together with Mr. Li Yunlong, the chairman of each of
the Audit Committee and the Remuneration Committee, and Mr. Wang
Guangtian, the chairman of the Nomination Committee, attended the 2018
AGM to answer questions of the meeting and collect views of shareholders.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Board acknowledges its responsibility to prepare the Company’s
consolidated financial statements for each financial year, which give a
true and fair view of the financial position of the Group, its financial
performance and cash flows for that year. In preparing the consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2018, the Board
has selected suitable accounting policies and applied them consistently,
made judgments and estimates that are prudent, fair and reasonable, and
prepared the accounts on a going concern basis.

The Directors are responsible for taking all reasonable and necessary steps
to safeguard the assets of the Group, to prevent and detect fraud, as well
as other irregularities.

The Directors, after appropriate enquiries were made, considered that the
Group has adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the
foreseeable future and that, for this reason, it is appropriate to adopt the
going concern basis in preparing the consolidated financial statements.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

During the year, the Group has complied with Principle C.2 of the CG Code
by establishing appropriate and effective risk management and internal
control system. Management is responsible for the design, implementation
and monitoring of such systems, while the Board oversees management
in performing its duties on an ongoing basis. Main features of the risk
management and internal control system are described in the sections
below:
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Risk Management System

The Group adopts a risk management system which manages the risk
associated with its business and operations. The system comprises the
following phases:

o Identification: Identify ownership of risks, business objectives and risks
that could affect the achievement of objectives.

o Evaluation: Analyze the likelihood and impact of risks and evaluate
the risk portfolio accordingly.

o Management: Consider the risk responses, ensure effective
communication to the Board and on-going monitoring of the residual
risks.

Based on the risk assessments conducted in 2018, no significant risk was
identified.

Internal Control System

The Company has an internal control system in place which is compatible
with the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission (“COSO"”) 2013 framework. The framework enables the
Group to achieve objectives regarding the effectiveness and efficiency of
operations, reliability of financial reporting and compliance with applicable
laws and regulations. The components of the framework are shown as
follows:

o Control Environment: A set of standards, processes and structures
that provide the basis for carrying out the internal control across the
Group.

o Risk Assessment: A dynamic and iterative process for identifying and

analyzing risks to achieve the Group’s objectives, forming a basis for
determining how risks should be managed.

o Control Activities: Activities established by policies and procedures to
help ensure that management directives are carried out, objectives
are achieved, and risks are mitigated.

o Information and Communication: To provide the Group’s internal and
external communication, together with the information needed to
carry out day-to-day controls.

o Monitoring: Ongoing and separate evaluations to ascertain whether
each component of the internal control is present and functioning.
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In order to enhance the Group’s system of handling inside information,
and to ensure the truthfulness, accuracy, completeness and timeliness of
its public disclosures, the Group also adopts and implements an inside
information policy and procedures. Certain reasonable measures have been
taken from time to time to ensure that proper safeguards exist to prevent a
breach of a disclosure requirement in relation to the Group, which include:

o The access of information is restricted to a limited number of
employees on a need-to-know basis. Employees who are in possession
of inside information are fully conversant with their obligations to
preserve confidentiality.

o Confidentiality agreements are in place when the Group enters into
significant negotiations.

o The executive Directors are designated persons who speak on behalf
of the Company when communicating with external parties such as
the media, analysts or investors.

Based on the internal control reviews conducted in 2018, no significant
control deficiency was identified.

Internal Auditors

The Group has an Internal Audit (“IA") function, which consists of
professional staff with relevant expertise (such as Certified Public
Accountant). The IA function is independent of the Group’s daily operation
and carries out appraisal of the risk management and internal control
system by conducting interviews, walkthroughs and tests of operating
effectiveness.

An |A plan has been approved by the Board. According to the established
plan, review of the risk management and internal control systems is
conducted annually, and afterwards the results are reported to the Board
via Audit Committee.
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Effectiveness of the Risk Management and Internal Control System

The Board is responsible for the risk management and internal control
system of the Group and ensuring review of the system’s effectiveness is
conducted annually. Several areas have been considered during the Board's
reviews, which include but not limited to (i) the changes in the nature and
extent of significant risks since the last annual review, and the Group’s
ability to respond to changes in its business and the external environment,
and (i) the scope and quality of management’s ongoing monitoring of risks
and of the internal control system.

The Board, through its reviews and the reviews made by IA function and
Audit Committee, concluded that the risk management and internal
control system were effective and adequate. Such system, however, is
designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve
business objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not absolute
assurance against material misstatement or loss. It is also considered that
the resources, staff qualifications and experience of relevant staff were
adequate and the training programs and budget provided were sufficient.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

Special resolutions had been approved by the shareholders of the Company
at the 2018 AGM to amend the Bye-laws in the manner as set out in the
resolution numbered 8 of the notice of the 2018 AGM and to adopt the
amended and restated Bye-Laws.
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To the Shareholders of China Oil And Gas Group Limited
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

Opinion
What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of China Oil And Gas Group Limited
(the "Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages 63 to
219, which comprise:

o the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December
2018;

o the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the year
then ended;

o the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then
ended;

o the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended;
and

. the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which include a
summary of significant accounting policies.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December
2018, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and have been properly prepared
in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.
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To the Shareholders of China Oil And Gas Group Limited (continued)
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the
Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of
Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were
of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our
audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these
matters.

Key audit matters identified in our audit are summarised as follows:

o Impairment assessments of loan and interest receivables from and
interest in an associate

o Impairment assessment of goodwill
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To the Shareholders of China Oil And Gas Group Limited (continued)
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

Key Audit Matter

How our audit addressed
the Key Audit Matter

BERAE
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Impairment assessments of
loan and interest receivables
from and interest in an
associate

Refer to note 5 (a) critical
accounting estimates and judgements
and notes 20 and 23 (d) to the
Group’s consolidated financial
statements.

The Group had loan and interest
receivables from an associate of
approximately HK$708,486,000
and HK$256,945,000 respectively
and interest in this associate of
approximately HK$257,250,000
as at 31 December 2018.

Management assessed the
provision of expected credit loss
of approximately HK$17,000,000
against the loan and interest
receivables from the associate.
Management estimated the level
of expected loss, with reference
to historical observed default
rates, loss given default rates
of comparable companies and
industry, and forward-looking
economic factors.

Our procedures in relation to
management’s impairment assessment
of loan and interest receivables
from this associate included the
evaluation of the appropriateness of
the expected credit loss provisioning
methodology.

We assessed the reasonableness of
key assumptions, including default
rate and loss given default rate with
assistance of our valuation experts.

We challenged the appropriateness
of forward-looking economic factors
applied by management for the
adjustment of the level of expected
loss.

Our procedures in relation to
management’s impairment assessment
of interest in the associate included
the evaluation of the appropriateness
of valuation methodology and
reasonableness of the key assumptions
used with assistance of our internal
experts.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
BYZBEEHRES

To the Shareholders of China Oil And Gas Group Limited (continued)
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

Key Audit Matter

How our audit addressed
the Key Audit Matter

Impairment assessments of
loan and interest receivables
from and interest in an
associate (continued)

Management assessed the
recoverability of interest in the
associate based on the recoverable
amount of the associate’s business
valuation applying the fair value
less costs of disposal method. The
key underlying assumptions were
set out in notes 5 (a) and 20 to
the Group’s consolidated financial
statements.

We focused on this area due
to the magnitude of the loan
and interest receivables from
and interest in this associate.
Moreover, significant judgements
and estimates were involved
in estimating the provision of
expected credit loss for the
loan and interest receivables,
and recoverable amount of the
interest in the associate.

We evaluated management’s estimated
commodity price growth rate by
challenging management’s rationale
to support their projections. We
researched the most up-to-date
commodity price and performed
independent market research on the
commodity price growth that was in
line with management’s forecasts.

We compared the future production
profile against the reserve
estimation report conducted by
management’s expert and evaluated
the competence, capacity and
objectivity of the expert.

We evaluated the reasonableness
of the discount rate, applied by
benchmarking management’s
assumptions with those applied by
comparable companies and industry
forecasts.

We physically inspected the site and
discussed with local management
to understand the current status of
operation.

We challenged management’s
sensitivity analysis in consideration
of the potential impact of
reasonably possible downside
changes in these key assumptions.

We found the management’s
judgements and assumptions used
in the impairment assessments of
loan and interest receivables from
and interest in the associate were
supported by the available evidence.
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To the Shareholders of China Oil And Gas Group Limited (continued)
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)
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How our audit addressed RPN ET 0 EE
Key Audit Matter the Key Audit Matter BREHEE EEEEE
Impairment assessment of 2R el (B A

goodwill

Refer to note 5 (b) critical
accounting estimates and
judgements and note 19 to the
Group’s consolidated financial
statements.

The Group carried goodwill of
approximately HK$938,805,000
as at 31 December 2018, which
was allocated to a group of cash
generating units (“CGUs") relating
to the sales and distribution of
natural gas and other related
products business (“Natural Gas
Business”) CGUs.

Management estimated
the recoverable amount of
the Natural Gas Business
CGUs based on value-in-use
calculations that applied the
key assumptions and inputs set
out in notes 5 (b) and 19 to the
Group’s consolidated financial
statements. Based on value-in-
use calculations, management
has concluded there was no
impairment of the goodwill as at
31 December 2018.

We focused on this area
due to the magnitude of the
goodwill balance and the
significant judgements made
by management in estimating
the recoverable amount of the
goodwill.

Our procedures in relation to testing
management’s goodwill impairment
assessment of the Natural Gas
Business CGUs included the
evaluation of the appropriateness
of valuation methodology and
reasonableness of the key assumptions
used with assistance of our
valuation experts.

We challenged management on the
estimated growth rate, expected
changes to selling prices and direct
costs assumptions and compared
cash flows generated during the
year ended 31 December 2018
with prior years’ performance.
We evaluated the reasonableness
of the discount rate applied by
benchmarking management’s
assumptions with those applied
by comparable companies and
industry forecasts. Furthermore, we
evaluated the terminal growth rate
with reference to the long term
inflation rate.

We found the management’s
judgements and assumptions used
in the impairment assessment of
goodwill were supported by the
available evidence.
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To the Shareholders of China Oil And Gas Group Limited (continued)
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

Other Information

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises all of the information included in the annual
report other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s
report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the
other information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion
thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a
material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report
that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.
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To the Shareholders of China Oil And Gas Group Limited (continued)
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

Responsibilities of Directors and the Audit
Committee for the Consolidated Financial
Statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal
control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative
but to do so.

The Audit Committee are responsible for overseeing the Group's financial
reporting process.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you,
as a body, in accordance with Section 90 of the Companies Act 1981
of Bermuda and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or
error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users
taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.
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To the Shareholders of China Oil And Gas Group Limited (continued)
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made
by the directors.

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.
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To the Shareholders of China Oil And Gas Group Limited (continued)
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and
to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,
related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law
or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so
would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of
such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s
report is Wilson Chan.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 27 March 2019
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

AEZHEWER

For the year ended 31 December 2018
BHE_Z-N\F+A=+—BILFE

2018 2017
—E-N\F —tF
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
Bt 5 FHET FH&ET
Revenue %] 6 9,410,131 7,651,280
Cost of sales FER=FD W (8,045,299) (6,435,083)
Gross profit EAF 1,364,832 1,216,197
Other income H Al A 7 30,069 30,262
Other gains, net H ez - FE 8 18,936 22,901
Selling and distribution costs HERDHEER (57,270) (50,507)
Administrative expenses 1THF X (364,847) (307,497)
Reversal of impairment losses on oil ME BEMBEBETHE
and gas properties under property, EEREEER
plant and equipment 16 = 4,402
Operating profit 4 8 5 | 9 991,720 915,758
Finance income B 7 WA 10 146,818 101,741
Finance costs B % & 10 (206,712) (203,677)
Share of losses of investments accounted DIEEREREARZ
for using the equity method REREIE 20 (3,300) (2,356)
Profit before taxation B %54 71 328 ) 928,526 811,466
Taxation 18 13 (250,301) (188,527)
Profit for the year F 1A 5 A 678,225 622,939
Other comprehensive (loss)/income: Hib2m (8B W
[tems that may be reclassified to profit or loss 7] & #7 5 48 2 18 75 #9785 H
Currency translation differences BB EEE (539,424) 482,811
Change in value of available-for-sale At EMEEEGES
financial assets - 40,296
Change in value of debt investments at RATEFARMEE Y
fair value through other comprehensive JEBRREBEED
income (51,267) =
Item that will not be reclassified to TEEH D EEEmAEE
profit or loss
Change in value of equity investments at BERFEERA
fair value through other comprehensive HEf 2wk 2z BA
income ?xéff’ifﬁx (4,830) 5
Other comprehensive (loss)/income for the  FRHEM2E (BE) s -
year, net of tax MERHIE (595,521) 523,107
Total comprehensive income for the year FARAEEWF BT 82,704 1,146,046
PHRREBERAR 2018FFiH
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

AEZHEWER

For the year ended 31 December 2018

BE-Z—\F+-A=+—ALEE

(continued) (#)

2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—L£F
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
B E FHET FHET
Profit attributable to: FE(R & )
Owners of the Company YNSIEZ 2N 281,904 250,467
Non-controlling interests e AE 396,321 372,472
678,225 622,939
Total comprehensive (loss)/income for the ERNEGEE (HE),/
year attributable to: W 4ags -
Owners of the Company NEHEE A (55,158) 642,756
Non-controlling interests FEPE AR 137,862 503,290
82,704 1,146,046
Earnings per share for profit attributable to A &% B AF N E/L TRE T
owners of the Company for the year 15
- Basic (HK cents) — EARCGEALD 5.664 4.865
~ Diluted (HK cents) - H5E GBAL) 5.641 4.858
The notes on pages 72 to 219 are an integral part of these consolidated F2E219B 2 WF AR B #R &k 2 A K
financial statements. o -
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

mEMBARR T
As at 31 December 2018
RZE—N\F+=-A=+—H

2018 2017
—E-N\F —ET—+F
Note HK$°000 HK$'000
Bt 5 FHET FH&ET
Assets BE
Non-current assets FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment W - BEREE 16 7,924,722 7,725,219
Exploration and evaluation assets BIHEEFIHEE 17 182,981 215,189
Land use rights + b {5 R 18 415,234 456,458
Intangible assets BmLEE 19 974,526 1,035,324
Investments accounted for using the FREREARZKE
equity method 20 312,754 321,167
Financial assets at fair value through other 1R A FEFAHMEE
comprehensive income Waz B EE 21 439,120 S
Available-for-sale financial assets AHEETBEE 21 - 596,360
Other non-current assets HtEmEERE 23 1,063,841 956,763
Deferred tax assets EERIBEE 30 7,646 4,796
11,320,824 11,311,276
Current assets REEE
Inventories TE 22 282,777 244,438
Contract assets, deposits, trade and other AKEE %4 BH
receivables R H A fE W R IR 23 1,751,116 1,596,734
Financial assets at fair value through profit ZAFELEBEZ AR Z
or loss MBEE 24 - 48,842
Current tax recoverable & HAnT Uy B 75 18 6,024 6,333
Time deposits with maturity over three FERBRBER=EA
months T BRTE X 25 158,679 48,531
Cash and cash equivalents BERBEEEEHER 25 2,508,223 2,290,447
4,706,819 4,235,325
Total assets BWEE 16,027,643 15,546,601
Liabilities =R
Current liabilities REBAE
Trade and other payables B 5 kEAMERFRIA 26 1,415,917 1,431,733
Contract liabilities/receipt in advance BHBRE FBREE 27 1,470,128 1,584,003
Short-term borrowings RHEE 28 1,455,839 689,258
Current tax payable & H e A 269,369 215,042
4,611,253 3,920,036
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

mEMBEARRE
As at 31 December 2018
RZE—NFE+=-A=+—H
(continued) (#&)

2018 2017
—E-N\F —T—+F
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
k=2 FHET FHET
Non-current liabilities FRBEME
Senior notes BRARE 29 5,029,991 4,970,240
Long-term borrowings REEE 28 63,642 60,000
Deferred tax liabilities EERIB B & 30 270,019 260,359
Assets retirement obligation B R RE A E 31 140,678 130,311
5,504,330 5,420,910
Total liabilities FER =R 10,115,583 9,340,946
Equity =
Equity attributable to owners of the AREEAELESR
Company
Share capital & AR 32 58,391 58,257
Reserves R 3,137,516 3,286,289
3,195,907 3,344,546
Non-controlling interests 1R 2,716,153 2,861,109
Total equity RSB 5,912,060 6,205,655
Total equity and liabilities EzkaEEE 16,027,643 15,546,601
The notes on pages 72 to 219 are an integral part of these consolidated F2E219B8 2 M ARG E B3R EK 2 485K
financial statements. o o
The financial statements on pages 63 to 219 were approved by the Board of F3E2I9E U BMERERZZE—NEF=A
Directors on 27 March 2019 and were signed on its behalf. ZTEREEERMAELESE -
Xu Tie-liang Guan Yijun TFH®R BEE
Director Director EZE EZE
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
REERgEXR

For the year ended 31 December 2018
BE-_T—-N\F+-_A=Z+—HLEFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

RAEEARL
Shares held
for share (Note) ~ Exchange  Share-based Non-
Share awarg Other  fluctuation  compensation Retained controllng
Share capital premium scheme TEseres reserve resere profits Total interests — Total equity

BRIZD (Hz)  ERR® NRhALR
BE o RREE nEMRRD  ZGER BE  oHERE  REEA PR HehER  RRER
HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK§'000 HKS 000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS 000 HK§ 000 HK$ 000
TEL TEL TR TER TEL TEL TER TER THL TER

At 1 January 2017 W-§-t§-5-A 58,257 U518 (305,706) 1,536,561 (604,730) 340 N800 2830431 242053 525094

Profit for the year EREH = - - - R
Other comprehensive income: E2ELE:
Bichange diffeences ontranchating ~ REENERNES EE

250467 250467 312412 622,939

foreign operations - - - - 351993 - - 351993 130,818 4881
Changes in value of avallble-for-sale — TREEHREEEEED

financial assets - - - 40,2% - - - 40,2% - 40,29
Total comprehensive income for the year  £R2ENALEE - - - 40,2% 351993 - 250,467 642,756 503290 1,146,046

Vesting of shares under share award BB (2B EZBRD

scheme - - 991 - - (991) - - - -
Shares purchased for share award scheme B G %8 2B ER D - - (104297) - - - - (104250) - (104297)
Value of employee senvices ESREEE - - - - - 474 = 4,744 s 474
Capital Injection by non-controlling~~~ SEEREREE

interests - - - - - - - - 14,400 14,400

Dividend paid to non-controllng interests % 7R & £ 8
Final dvidend for the year ended 31~ BE-F-AEFZAZ+-ALt
December 2016 (Note 14) ERRERE (M) - - - Iy - - - g - (29,128)

_ - - = s = - - (77,104 (77,104

At 31 December 2017 AZE-tETZA=1-H 58,257 U518 (0897) 1541109 (252,737) 7194 2368497 3344546 2861109 6,205,655

TOHRREBMAERAT 208FFH Q7
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

RERBEDR

For the year ended 31 December 2018
(E_T-NFT_A=+—HILFE

(continued) (#&)

Attributable to owners of the Company

NAREARL
Shares held
for share (Note) ~ Exchange Share-based Non-
Share award Other ~ fluctuation compensation  Retained controlling
Share capital ~ premium scheme reserves reserve reserve profits Total interests Total equity
ARHER (W)  EXED NEbasw
Bx  ROEE HIFSRG  RHRE BE HHERE  RER B% FBREE  BEEE
HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000 HKS'000
TERL ThR ThT THT TETL TAR Thn TEL TERL ThT
At 1 January 2018 as originally H=8-N§-5-RF2j
presented 58,257 U518 (408972) 1547729 (52,731) 119 2368497 3344546 2861109 6,205,655
Change in accounting policy (note 208)) ~ EtBEEE (1) - - - 4790 - - (B3 (M) - ()
Restated total equity as at 1 January  W=%-NE-F-A
018 Rt 58,257 1578 (408,972) 1,552,519 (252,731) 1094 2292195 3273034 2861109 6134143
Profit for the year EiER - - - - - - 281,904 281,904 396,321 678,225
Other comprehensive loss: Eh2ERE:
Bxchange differences on translating ~ AEENFEMELEE
foreign operations - - - - (280,965) - - (280965)  (298.459)  (539,424)
Changes in value of debt investments ~ RATEFAZB2ENEL
atfair value through other EHEEREZY
comprehensive incore - - - (51,267) - - - (51,267) - (51,267)
Changes in value of equity investments - FATEFAZB2EREL
atfair value through other Ri%ERERS
comprehensive income - - - (4.830) - - - (4.830) - (4.830)
Total comprehensive (loss)income ER2A(ER) WznE
for the year - - - (56,007) (280,965 - 281,904 (55,158) 137,862 82,704
Transler of farvalue gain on equity R EBRRATEHA
investments at fair value through E2EhE RERE
other comprehensive income to DYENEERB AT
retained profits upon disposal - - - (2873) - - 2813 - - -
Vesting of shares under share award —~— RERHRBEEZERG
scheme - - 17,316 - - (17,316) - - - -
Shares purchased for share award scheme Hﬁm REHERERD - - (29,030) - - - - (29,030) - (29,030)
Value of employee services EREE - = - - - 21,269 - 21,269 - 21,269
Proceeds from shares issued upon exercise &
of share options 134 1,755 - - - (1,707) - 6,182 - 6,182
Capital Injection by non-controlling
inferests - - - - - - - - 1528 1528
Dividend paid to non-controling interests WH FhhER - - - - - - - - (1843d6) (284,346)
Final dividend for the year ended 31 ‘-tﬁ ZA=+-A
Decerber 2017 (Note 14) ﬁ&i%ﬂié(ﬁﬁﬁM) e > = (20,390) - - - (20,3%) - (20,3%)
At 31 December 2018 RZE-\E+2A=1-8 58,391 32,333 (420,680) 1473159 (533,702) 9440 2576972 3195907 2716153 5,912,060
Note: MFEE -

As at 31 December 2018, other reserves mainly comprise capital and other reserve
amounting to HK$52,102,000 (2017: HK$106,279,000) and contribution surplus
amounting to HK$1,421,057,000 (2017: HK$1,441,450,000).

The notes on pages 72 to 219 are an integral part of these consolidated

financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
Fo IE%/JILE'IEE

For the year ended 31 December 2018
BHE_Z-N\F+A=+—BILFE

2018 2017
—E-N\fF =t e
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
B 5 F#ExT FHET
Cash flows from operating activities KEEHRERE
Profit for the year R 678,225 622,939
Adjustments for: AT HEELFE
Taxation 18 250,301 188,527
Finance costs M5B 206,712 203,677
Finance income IR N (146,818) (101,741)
Share of losses of investments DEEAEREAR
accounted for using the equity ZIRERNEE
method 3,300 2,356
Equity-settled share-based payments LA = E AR D
RERER K 21,269 4,744
Amortisation of intangible assets mEEHH 19 3,192 2,521
Depreciation and depletion of property, W - WER
plant and equipment BETERIER 16 470,165 428,491
Amortisation of land use rights I {5 AR 5H 18 8,769 8,503
Reversal of impairment on oil and gas W BELREET
properties under property, plant and MR E ERE
equipment B 18 |l 16 - (4,402)
Losses on disposals of property, plant HEME  BEK
and equipment BB EE 872 1,652
Fair value gains on financial assets at EAFELEZARD
fair value through profit or loss WBEEAFERE 8 - (1,394)
Gain on disposal of a land use right HE—IE T AR
U & 8 (4,618) -
Gains on disposals of available-for-sale HE S5
financial assets BEME 8 - (17,748)
Gains on disposals of debt investments HERAFEETA
at fair value through other Htz2mlkaz
comprehensive income BRI E RS 8 (2,097) -
Gains on disposal of an associate s — [ E QA8
g 8 - (3,759)
Gain on bargain purchase EEWE KR 8 (12,221) -
Written off of exploration and R R EEE A
evaluation assets 17 5,651 2,357
Provision for assets retirement BERERERE
obligation 31 13,333 7,781
1,496,035 1,344,504
Changes in working capital: BEESEE)
Inventories FE (52,598) (40,252)
Contract assets, deposits, trade and other EHEBEE e BH
receivables Rz E At FE WK IR (173,729) 65,760
Trade and other payables E%&HﬁﬂWHM 186,040 (184,259)
Contract liabilities/receipt in advance AHAaE BRRIE (21,475) 304,271
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
HERERER

For the year ended 31 December 2018
BHEe_2—N\F+-_A=+—HLHFE
(continued) (#&)

2018 2017
—E-N\fF —E—+tF
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
k=3 FHET FET
Cash generated from operations KEELERD 1,434,273 1,490,024
Taxation paid [RENE R (161,856) (104,190)
Net cash generated from operating activities &2 EEELHIRE F5E 1,272,417 1,385,834
Cash flows from investing activities KREEHRESRE
Interest received 2 H B 103,698 69,492
Purchases of property, plant and BEWE - BWER&E-
equipment, land use rights and prepaid T AR LA R FEA
construction costs B @N (1,009,417) (944,982)
Proceeds from disposals of property, plant  HE®E - H&E &
and equipment RETR IR 6,718 13,035
Proceed from disposal of a land use right ﬁ‘iflﬁii@ﬁﬁﬁﬁg
FT18 518 15,533 S
Net cash inflow as a result of disposal of A& —EBE R A
an associate ReERANFE 34 - 6,960
Purchases of other intangible assets HBEEMEREE 19 (3,080) (7,696)
Purchases of financial assets at fair value BERATETTAHAM
through other comprehensive income THBEMEEE (164,966) =
Purchases of available-for-sale financial BEOHREENBEE
assets = (112,329)
Proceeds from disposals of financial HEZAFTEFAEM
assets at fair value through other 2EKBECHBEEE
comprehensive income PRI IR 317,048 -
Proceeds from disposals of available-for- o & ] Hj’%,ﬁiﬁ‘%ﬁé
sale financial assets BT 15 K3 = 212,275
Acquisition of business, net of cash W ?D ik 33 (52,193) -
Investments in associates a0 /NG| - (19,124)
Repayments from third parties = Eﬁm = 31,452
Loan to an associate ERT—HBE QA (108,408) (119,837)
Increase in time deposits with maturity FRHBB=@EAN
over three months 7E HATF B8 N (112,979) (23,361)
Site restoration expenditure THbRE > B (4,698) (7,507)
Net cash used in investing activities KEESFFARFRE (1,012,744) (901,622)

CHINA OIL AND GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2018



Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
Fo Iﬁﬁﬂlbié‘%

For the year ended 31 December 2018

BE_Z-\FT-_A=1T—HLHFE

(continued) (#&)

2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+tF
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
B 5 FE T FET
Cash flows from financing activities mEESReRE
Interest paid EFE (303,935) (262,431)
New borrowings raised ke E 1,404,438 413,862
Redemption of senior notes fE B2 e R 1R 29 - (2,748,104)
Repayments of borrowings BEEE (547,048) (59,046)
Capital injection by non-controlling RS ITE
interests 1,528 14,400
Dividend paid to non-controlling interests IR AT R% B F IEE AR R 2R (410,174) (65,663)
Proceeds from issuance of senior notes net  Z¥1T{8 % =48 15 3KIA
of transaction costs (MBS A) 29 - 2,685,809
Proceeds from shares issued upon exercise A EEREETTE 12
of share options BITRH B ETERIA 6,182 =
Dividend paid 2R E (20,390) (29,128)
Purchases of own shares for share award B R EIEE
scheme R EH IR G (29,030) (104,257)
Net cash generated from/(used in) financing Et&E EEFTE, (FFTH)
activities BHE& 55 101,571 (154,558)
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents B kB4 SEBEREINFE 361,244 329,654
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January R—A—HZzH®
MRS EBEIEE 2,290,447 1,833,483
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes ERgETE (143,468) 127,310
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December R+-—A=+—HZ}K%
EERESZEEHB 25 2,508,223 2,290,447
The notes on pages 72 to 219 are an integral part of these consolidated FNRE219B 2 ARG E M B IRE 2 4K
financial statements. BB o
FHMREBAERD T 2018F F i
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General information

China Oil And Gas Group Limited (the “Company”) is incorporated in
Bermuda as an exempted company with limited liability and its shares
are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”). The address of its registered office is at Clarendon
House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton HM 11, Bermuda. The address of
its principal place of business is at Suite 2805, 28th Floor, Sino Plaza,
255-257 Gloucester Road, Causeway Bay, Hong Kong. The Company
is an investment holding company. Its subsidiaries are principally
engaging in investment in energy related business in various regions
in the People’s Republic of China (“PRC") and West Central Alberta,
Canada, including but not limited to 1) piped city gas business,
pipeline design and construction; 2) transportation, distribution and
sales of compressed natural gas (“CNG") and liquefied natural gas
(“LNG"); and 3) development, production and sale of oil and gas and
other upstream energy resources. The Company and its subsidiaries
are collectively referred to the “Group”.

These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars, unless
otherwise stated.

Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements of the Company have been
prepared in accordance with all applicable Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRS”) and requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies ordinance Cap. 622. The consolidated financial
statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention,
as modified by the revaluation of certain financial assets at fair value
through other comprehensive income, which are carried at fair value.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with HKFRS
requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also
requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of
applying the Group’s accounting policies. The areas involving a higher
degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and
estimates are significant to the consolidated financial statements are
disclosed in Note 5.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2 Basis of preparation (Continued)

(a)

Changes in accounting policy and disclosures

The Group has adopted the following new standards,
interpretation and amendments to standards which are relevant
to the Group's operations and are mandatory for the financial
year beginning on or after 1 January 2018:

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

HK(IFRIC)-Int 22 Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance
Consideration

HKAS 28 (Amendment)  Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures

HKAS 40 (Amendments)  Investment Properties

HKFRS 1 (Amendment)  First Time Adoption of HKFRS

HKFRS 2 (Amendments)  Classification and Measurement of Share-based
Payment Transactions

Applying HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments with
HKFRS 4 Insurance Contracts

HKFRS 4 (Amendments)

HKFRS 15 (Amendments)  Clarifications to HKFRS 15 Revenue from
Contracts with Customers

Other than the impact of the adoption of HKFRS 9 “Financial
Instruments” and HKFRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts with
Customers” as disclosed below, the adoption of above
interpretation and amendments to standards did not have
material impacts on the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements.

e MR

(continued) (#)

2 WmREE(E)

(a)

THRREEARAA

ENBERKRENES
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBRRHME

(continued) (#)

2

Basis of preparation (Continued)

(a)

Changes in accounting policy and disclosures (Continued)

HKFRS 15 “Revenue from Contract with Customers”

HKFRS 15 supersedes HKAS 11 “Construction Contracts”,
HKAS 18 “Revenue” and related interpretations and it
applies to all revenue arising from contracts with customers,
unless those contracts are in the scope of other standards.
The new standard establishes a five-step model to account
for revenue arising from contracts with customers. Under
HKFRS 15, revenue is recognised at an amount that reflects
the consideration to which an entity expects to be entitled in
exchange for transferring goods or services to a customer.

The standard requires entities to exercise judgement, taking
into consideration all of the relevant facts and circumstances
when applying each step of the model to contracts with their
customers. The standard also specifies the accounting for the
incremental costs of obtaining a contract and the costs directly
related to fulfilling a contract.

The Group adopted HKFRS 15 using the modified retrospective
method of adoption. Any difference at the date of initial
application is recognised in the opening retained profits and
comparative information has not been restated. Furthermore,
the Group elected to apply the practical expedient for
completed contracts and did not restate the contracts
completed before 1 January 2018, thus certain comparative
figures may not be comparable as comparative information
was prepared under HKAS 18 “Revenue” and HKAS 11
“Construction Contracts” and the related interpretations.

The Group recognises revenue from the following major
sources:

o Sales and distribution of natural gas and other related
products

o Gas pipeline construction and connection

o Exploitation and production of crude oil and natural gas

CHINA OIL AND GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2018
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2 Basis of preparation (Continued)

(a)

Changes in accounting policy and disclosures (Continued)

HKFRS 15 “Revenue from Contract with Customers”
(Continued)

The effects of the adoption of HKFRS 15 are further explained
as follows:

(i)  Accounting for sales and distribution of natural gas
and other related products, and exploitation and
production of crude oil and natural gas

The Group's contracts with customers for the sales and
distribution of natural gas and other related products,
and exploitation and production of crude oil and natural
gas generally include one performance obligation. The
Group has concluded that revenue from the above
activities should be recognised at the point in time
when control of the asset is transferred to the customer,
generally when customers consume the gas or upon
delivery of the equipment, crude oil, CNG and LNG gas.
See Note 3(t) for further details. Therefore, the adoption
of HKFRS 15 did not have a material impact on the timing
of revenue recognition.

(ii) Accounting for gas pipeline construction and
connection

In prior years, the Group accounted for gas pipeline
construction and connection when the outcome of the
construction contract for connection can be estimated
reliably and the stage of completion at the end of
reporting period can be measured reliably. Revenue
from and expenses on construction contracts for gas
pipeline connection are recognised using the percentage
of completion method, measured by using the output
method. When the outcome of a construction contract
for gas pipeline connection cannot be estimated reliably,
revenue recognised only to the extent of contract cost
incurred that is probable to be recoverable.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBRRHME

(continued) (#)

2

Basis of preparation (Continued)

(a)

Changes in accounting policy and disclosures (Continued)

HKFRS 15 “Revenue from Contract with Customers”
(Continued)

Accounting for gas pipeline construction and
connection (Continued)

Under HKFRS 15, the Group’s performance creates or
enhances an asset that the customer controls. The Group
recognises revenue as the performance obligation is
satisfied over time in accordance with the output method
for measuring progress. Upon the adoption of HKFRS 15,
the cost incurred to fulfil the gas pipeline construction
and connection contracts is recognised as incurred.

The excess of cumulative revenue recognised in profit
or loss over the cumulative billings to customers is
recognised as contract assets. The contract assets will be
reclassified as receivables when the progress billings are
issued or services are delivered as this is the point in time
that the consideration is unconditional because only the
passage of time is required before the payment is due.

The excess of cumulative billings to customers over
the cumulative revenue recognised in profit or loss is
recognised as contract liabilities.

For the year ended 31 December, 2018, the Group has
concluded that the adoption of HKFRS 15 did not have a
material impact on the timing of revenue recognition.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2 Basis of preparation (Continued)

(a)

Changes in accounting policy and disclosures (Continued)

HKFRS 15 “Revenue from Contract with Customers”
(Continued)

(iii) Presentation of assets and liabilities related to
contracts with customers

The Group has also changed the terminology and
classification of certain amounts in the consolidated
statement of financial position upon adoption of the
terminology and classification of HKFRS 15:

Contract assets recognised in relation to the gas pipeline
construction and connection which were previously
presented as part of trade and other receivables
amounting to HK$21,208,000 were classified as contract
assets as of 1 January 2018;

Receipt in advance in relation to the sales and distribution
of natural gas and other related products, as well as the
gas pipeline construction and connection, is renamed as
contract liabilities.

HKFRS 9 “Financial Instruments”

HKFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” replaces the provision of
HKAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement
that relate to the recognition, classification and measurement
of financial assets and financial liabilities, derecognition of
financial instruments, impairment of financial assets and hedge
accounting.

The adoption of HKFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” from 1
January 2018 resulted in the changes in the accounting policies
and adjustments to the amounts recognised in the consolidated
financial statements. The new accounting policies are set out in
Note 3(I) below. In accordance with the transitional provisions
in HKFRS 9, comparative figures have not been restated.
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mEMBRRHME

(continued) (#)

2 Basis of preparation (Continued)
(@) Changes in accounting policy and disclosures (Continued)
HKFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” (Continued)
The following table summarised the impact, net of tax, of

transition of HKFRS 9 on the opening balance of retained
profits as of 1 January 2018 as follows:

wmRERE(E)
() EHRERREORD ()

BEBYBHEERFEIN ML
A /(&)

TERBIERETRBYBHREE
AFEIRE —_T-NF-A—-RHZ
REBNOPVBERZRERTE

Other reserves Retained profits

Hithf#1E REB &
HK$'000 HK$'000
F&xT FHET
At 1 January 2018 W—E—N\FE—A—H 1,547,729 2,368,497
Reclassification of debt investments from &R E IR A FELIBZR
financial assets at fair value through AR (TERAFELEREARD
profit or loss (“FVPL") to financial LU BEEENHERIZ
assets at fair value through other NFEEFAEMEZERE
comprehensive income (“FVOCI") (MR AFETAE M2 E W
(Note (i)) #=]) 2B E E (M) 4,790 (4,790)
Provision of expected credit losses in JEl—EBE R ERNR
loan and interest receivables from an FMBEZHEHSHEE
associate (Note (ii)) (B 5EGi)) - (17,000)
Loss on modification of senior notes in  BEFEKEIIELZHREL 2
prior year (Note (iii)) &8 (B 52 (i) - (54,512)
1,552,519 2,292,195

(i) Classification and measurement

On 1 January 2018, the management has assessed which
business models apply the financial assets held by the
Group and has classified its financial instruments into
appropriate HKFRS 9 categories.

Under HKFRS 9, debt financial instruments are
subsequently measured at FVPL, amortised cost, or
FVOCI. The classification is based on two criteria: the
Group's business model for managing the assets;
and whether the instruments’ contractual cash flows
represent “solely payments of principal and interest” on
the principal amount outstanding (the “SPPI criterion”).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Basis of preparation (Continued)

(a)

Changes in accounting policy and disclosures (Continued)

HKFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” (Continued)

(i)

Classification and measurement (Continued)

The new classification and measurement of the Group's
financial assets are as follows:

Debt investments previously classified as financial
assets at FVPL was held for trading purpose. On
1 January 2018, management has reassessed
the business model for the debt investments,
and the Group elected to present in other
comprehensive income for the fair value changes
of all debt investments previously classified as
available-for-sale financial assets and financial
assets at FVPL under HKAS 39, as management
considered that all debt investments are held
within a portfolio with the objective by both
collecting contractual cash flows that meet the SPPI
criterion and selling financial assets. At the date of
initial application of HKFRS 9, HK$48,842,000 and
HK$459,627,000 were reclassified from financial
assets at FVPL and available-for-sale financial
assets to debt investments at FVOCI respectively;
HK$4,790,000, represented the accumulated fair
value gains of debt investments previously classified
as financial assets at FVPL under HKAS 39, was
reclassified from retained profits to other reserves.

The Group has irrevocably elected to classify all
its equity investments previously classified as
available-for-sale at financial assets at FVOCI,
since these investments are held as long-term
strategic investments that are not expected to
be sold in the short to medium term. The Equity
investments at FVOCI, with no recycling of gains
or losses to profit or loss on derecognition, As a
result, equity investments previously classified as
available-for-sales financial assets under HKAS 39
amounted to HK$136,733,000 were reclassified to
equity investments at FVOCI at 1 January 2018.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBRRHME

(continued) (#)

2 Basis of preparation (Continued)

(@) Changes in accounting policy and disclosures (Continued)

HKFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” (Continued)

(i) Classification and measurement (Continued)

mREE(E)

() EBFBRRERBENSS(HA)

BEBYBHEERFEIN ML

A /(&)

() PEREGE)

On the date of initial application, 1 January 2018, the
financial instruments of the Group were as follows, with

any reclassifications noted:

Measurement category

RERERBBH(ZZE-—NF—A
—HB) EEzERIACGEREM
EHMZEHSBFOMOT ¢

Carrying amount

TEER REE
Original New
(HKAS 39) (HKFRS 9) Original New Difference
RE EiH)
(BBEHEDN (BRUERSE
%39%) ERIE95) ¥ E =8
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TER THERT
Non-current financial assets
Debt investments Available-for-sale  FVOCI 459,627 459,627 -
BEHHRE BEE BRATFEFA
HiezEKE
Equity investments Available-for-sale  FVOCI 136,733 136,733 -
RAKE At & BRAFERFA
Hit2EaE
Other non-current assets (excluding ~ Amortised cost Amortised cost 688,289 675,289 (13,000)
prepayment) (Note a)
GES)
HitFReEE (TRERNHE) ZHRA B A
Current financial assets
RBNBEE
Deposits, trade and other receivables Amortised cost Amortised cost 1,149,873 1,145,873 (4,000)
(excluding prepayment and other (Note a)
tax recoverables) (Pza)
e B REMEWIE M A B A
(TREBRRER
Hftnm] B FIE)
Debt investments FVPL FvOoCI 43,842 48,842 -
BERRE RATEEL BATERA
BRAER Httz2EbaE
Time deposits with maturity over Amortised cost Amortised cost
three months 48,531 48,531 -

FREBBSEAZEHER  BEAAE R
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR

Basis of preparation (Continued)

(a)

Changes in accounting policy and disclosures (Continued)

HKFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” (Continued)

(i)

Classification and measurement (Continued)

Measurement category

(continued) (#)

mREE(EF)

(a) EFBERKRENZD (&)

BB BHREERFIN ML
A /(&)

() DERIHEGE)

Carrying amount

HEES REE
Original New
(HKAS 39) (HKFRS 9) Original New Difference
R% #al
(EREHERN (FRUBRE
%39%) HERIZE9) ¥ il 8
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
TET TET TER
Cash and cash equivalents Amortised cost Amortised cost 2,290,447 2,290,447 -
ReRkReSHEER BHA BHA
Non-current financial liabilities
FRBHBEE
Senior notes Amortised cost Amortised cost 4,970,240 5,024,752 54,512
(Note b)
GED)
BERE BHRA BHmA
Long-term borrowings Amortised cost Amortised cost 60,000 60,000 -
RHEE B BHRA
Current financial liabilities
REBHEAE
Trade and other payables (excluding Amortised cost ~ Amortised cost
other tax payables and salaries
payables) 1,404,899 1,404,899 -
B 5 R E B FE BHRA BHRA
(TEEEMENTRRENTS)
Short-term borrowings Amortised cost Amortised cost 689,258 689,258 -

BHEE

A

BHmA

(@) The difference is the result of applying the new expected
credit loss model. Please refer to Note(ii) for details.

(b) The difference is arising from the adjustment for the loss
on modification of senior notes. Please refer to Note (iii)

for details.

(a)

(b)

ERNERFEBEES
BERAMB(FB RN
(i)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBRRHME

(continued) (#)

2

Basis of preparation (Continued)

(a)

Changes in accounting policy and disclosures (Continued)

HKFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” (Continued)

(i)

Impairment

The Group has the following types of assets that are
subject to HKFRS 9's new expected credit loss model:

° Contract assets and trade receivables
. Loan and interest receivables from an associate
° Deposits and other receivables

° Debt investments carried at FVOCI

. Cash and cash equivalents

o Time deposits with maturity over three months

The Group was required to revise its impairment
methodology under HKFRS 9 for each of these classes
of assets. The impact of the change in impairment
methodology on the Group’s retained profits and equity
is disclosed in the consolidated statement of changes in
equity.

Contract assets and trade receivables

The Group has applied the simplified approach and has
calculated ECLs based on lifetime expected credit losses.
The Group has established a provision matrix that is based
on the Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted
for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and
the economic environment. The identified impairment
loss was immaterial.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2 Basis of preparation (Continued)

(a)

Changes in accounting policy and disclosures (Continued)

HKFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” (Continued)

(i)

Impairment (Continued)

Loan and interest receivables from an associate

The loan and interest receivables from an associate
are considered to be low risk of default, and therefore
the impairment provision is determined at 12 month
expected credit losses. Applying the expected credit risk
model resulted in the recognition of a loss allowance of
approximately HK$17,000,000 on 1 January 2018 (2017:
nil).

The loss allowance for the loan and interest receivables
from an associate have not increased during the current
reporting period.

Deposits and other receivables

Deposits and other receivables at amortised cost
are considered to be low risk, and therefore the loss
allowance is determined as 12 months expected credit
losses. The resulted increase of loss allowance for deposits
and other receivables on 1 January 2018 was immaterial.
The Group assessed for their impairment based on
12-month expected credit losses: 12-month ECLs are the
portion of lifetime ECLs that result from default events
that are possible within the 12 months after the reporting
date (or a shorter period if the expected life of the asset
is less than 12 months). However, when there has been
a significant increase in credit risk since origination, the
allowance will be based on the lifetime ECL.

While debt investments carried at FVOCI, time deposits
with maturity over three months and cash and cash
equivalents are also subject to impairment requirements
of HKFRS 9, the identified impairment loss was immaterial
as the counterparties are of high credit quality with no
history of default.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBRRHME

(continued) (#)

2

Basis of preparation (Continued)

(a)

Changes in accounting policy and disclosures (Continued)

HKFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” (Continued)

(iii) Modification of financial liabilities

In prior years, the Group did not recognise a gain or loss
immediately in profit or loss at the date of modification
of a financial liability in accordance with HKAS 39
“Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement”.
Instead, the difference between the original and modified
cash flows was amortised over the remaining term of the
modified liability by re-calculating the effective interest
rate.

Upon adoption of HKFRS 9, when a financial liability
measured at amortised cost is modified without resulting
in derecognition, a gain or loss should be recognised
in profit or loss. The gain or loss is calculated as the
difference between the original contractual cash flows
and the modified cash flows discounted at the original
effective interest rate.

HKFRS 9 is required to be applied retrospectively, and
therefore modification gains and losses arising from
financial liabilities that are still recognised at the date
of initial application would need to be calculated and
approximately HK$54,512,000 is adjusted in retained
profits on 1 January 2018 in relation to modification of
senior notes.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR

(continued) (#)

Basis of preparation (Continued) 2 REEE(E)
(b) New standards, amendments to standards and (b) MAEMOFETER - LIETER

interpretation not yet adopted

The following are new standards, amendments to standards
and interpretation that have been issued but are not effective
for the financial year beginning 1 January 2018 and have not

k@EE

ATHET A REFTEA R RE
EEMBERAR -_ZE-NF—H
—RAFR M BRERELERAEHE

been early adopted.

Annual Improvements Project
(Amendments)
FEUBEER (BFIA)

HKAS 1 (Amendments)
R G EAE IR (BTA)
HKAS 19 (Amendments)

ER G ERE195 (BT A)

HKAS 28 (Amendments)

FEa T EAE285 (BRI )

HKFRS 3 (Amendments)

ERMBREEDEIN
CHES,

HKFRS 9 (Amendments)

BB B ®REERFR
CHES,

HKFRS 16

BAEMBREERE 165

HKFRS 17

ERMBREEAETHR

Conceptual Framework for
Financial Reporting 2018

“E-N\FHBRERIER

HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28
(Amendments)

BRI BRELERNFI105 K
BEGEERFE285
(1BETA)

HK (IFRIC)-Int 23

BE (AR RERE
ZE8)— 2BFE23%

I EAR PR -

Effective for accounting periods
beginning on or after
RENATRHgHEERAR
Ve R AR

Annual Improvements 2015-2017 Cycle 1 January 2019

TE-AFE_TFERACFESE —T-NF—-HA—H

Amendments to Definition of Material 1 January 2020

EAMERZER —E-TF—-A—H
Plan Amendment, Curtailment or Settlement 1 January 2019
BECHEE S E5 30 —“E-h¥—-A—H
Long-term Interests in Associates and Joint Ventures 1 January 2019
REERRIRGECEL RIER —“E-h¥—-A—H
Definition of a Business 1 January 2020
EBHESR —E-TF—-A—H

Prepayment Features with Negative Compensation
BERaWEZANTERSE

1 January 2019
—FE-hAF—HA—H

Leases 1 January 2019
HE —“E-h¥—-A—H
Insurance Contracts 1 January 2021
Riza & —E-%—-A—H

Revised Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting 1 January 2020

BB mERSERER]

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture

BREEREBEANRANEECEMCEELES A FET

—E-FF—H—H

To be determined

Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments

P15 1 B 32 0 1B E 14

1 January 2019
—E-hEF-A—H
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mEMBRRHME

(continued) (#)

2

Basis of preparation (Continued)

(b)

New standards, amendments to standards and
interpretation not yet adopted (Continued)

The Group will apply the above new standards, amendments
to standards and interpretation when they become effective.
The Group has commenced the assessment of the expected
impact of HKFRS 16 as set out below. The directors of the
Company assess that the adoption of the other new standard,
amendments to standards and interpretation is not expected
to have any significant impact on the results and the financial
position of the Group.

HKFRS 16, “Leases”
Nature of change

HKFRS 16 was issued in January 2016. It will result in almost
all leases being recognised on the consolidated statement of
financial position, as the distinction between operating and
finance leases is removed. Under the new standard, an asset
(the right to use the leased item) and a financial liability to pay
rentals are recognised. The only exceptions are short-term and
low-value leases.

Impact

The standard will affect primarily the accounting for the
Group’s operating leases.

As at the reporting date, the Group has non-cancellable
operating lease commitments of HK$87,313,000, see note
36(a). For lease commitments relate to short-term leases which
will be recognised on a straight-line basis as expense in the
consolidated financial statement.

For the remaining lease commitments, the Group expects that
the balances of right-of-use assets and lease labilities to be
recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position
are below 1% of the Group's assets and liabilities respectively
on 1 January 2019.

The Group does not foresee any material impact on the net
profit of the Group as a result of adoption of HKFRS 16.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2 Basis of preparation (Continued)

(b) New standards, amendments to standards and
interpretation not yet adopted (Continued)

HKFRS 16, “Leases” (Continued)

Date of adoption by the Group

The Group will apply the standard from its mandatory adoption
date of 1 January 2019. The Group intends to apply the
simplified transition approach and will not restate comparative
amounts for the year prior to first adoption. Right-of-use assets
for all leases will be measured on transition as if the new rules
had always been applied.

3 Summary of significant accounting policies

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these
consolidated financial statements are set out below. These policies
have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless
otherwise stated.

(@) Subsidiaries
(i)  Consolidation

A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity)
over which the Group has control. The Group controls
an entity when the Group is exposed to, or has rights to,
variable returns from its involvement with the entity and
has the ability to affect those returns through its power
over the entity. Subsidiaries are consolidated from the
date on which control is transferred to the Group. They
are deconsolidated from the date that control ceases.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBRRHME

(continued) (#)

3

Summary of significant accounting policies

(Continued)

(a)

Subsidiaries (Continued)

(i)

Consolidation (Continued)

4}

Business combinations

The Group applies the acquisition method
to account for business combinations. The
consideration transferred for the acquisition of a
subsidiary is the fair values of the assets transferred,
the liabilities incurred to the former owners of the
acquiree and the equity interests issued by the
Group. The consideration transferred includes the
fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a
contingent consideration arrangement. Identifiable
assets acquired and liabilities and contingent
liabilities assumed in a business combination
are measured initially at their fair values at the
acquisition date.

The Group recognises any non-controlling interest
in the acquiree on an acquisition-by-acquisition
basis. Non-controlling interests in the acquiree that
are present ownership interests and entitle their
holders to a proportionate share of the entity’s net
assets in the event of liquidation are measured at
either fair value or the present ownership interests’
proportionate share in the recognised amounts
of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All other
components of non-controlling interests are
measured at their acquisition date fair value, unless
another measurement basis is required by HKFRS.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

If the business combination is achieved in stages,
the acquisition date carrying value of the acquirer’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree
is re-measured to fair value at the acquisition
date; any gains or losses arising from such
re-measurement are recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3 Summary of significant accounting policies

(Continued)

(@)

Subsidiaries (Continued)

(i)

Consolidation (Continued)

M

¢}

Business combinations (Continued)

The excess of the consideration transferred, the
amount of any non-controlling interest in the
acquiree and the acquisition-date fair value of any
previous equity interest in the acquiree over the
fair value of the identifiable net assets acquired is
recorded as goodwill. If the total of consideration
transferred, non-controlling interest recognised
and previously held interest measured is less than
the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary
acquired in the case of a bargain purchase, the
difference is recognised directly in the profit or loss.

Intra-group transactions, balances and unrealised
gains on transactions between group companies
are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also
eliminated. When necessary, amounts reported by
subsidiaries have been adjusted to conform with
the Group’s accounting policies.

Changes in ownership interests in subsidiaries
without change of control

Transactions with non-controlling interests that
do not result in a loss of control are accounted for
as equity transactions — that is, as transactions
with the owners of the subsidiary in their capacity
as owners. The difference between fair value of
any consideration paid and the relevant share
acquired of the carrying amount of net assets of
the subsidiary is recorded in equity. Gains or losses
on disposals to non-controlling interests are also
recorded in equity.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBRRHME

(continued) (#)

3

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(a)

Subsidiaries (Continued)

(i)

(ii)

Consolidation (Continued)
(3) Disposal of subsidiaries

When the Group ceases to have control, any
retained interest in the entity is re-measured to its
fair value at the date when control is lost, with the
change in carrying amount recognised in profit or
loss. The fair value is the initial carrying amount for
the purposes of subsequently accounting for the
retained interest as an associate, a joint venture
or a financial asset. In addition, any amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive
income in respect of that entity are accounted for
as if the Group had directly disposed of the related
assets or liabilities. This may mean that amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive
income are reclassified to profit or loss.

Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less
impairment. Cost also includes direct attributable costs
of investment. The results of subsidiaries are accounted
for by the Company on the basis of dividend received and
receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is
required upon receiving dividends from these investments
if the dividend exceeds the total comprehensive income
of the subsidiary in the period the dividend is declared or
if the carrying amount of the investment in the separate
financial statements exceeds the carrying amount in the
consolidated financial statements of the investee’s net
assets including goodwill.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(b)

Associates

Associates are all entities over which the Group has
significant influence but not control, generally accompanying
a shareholding of between 20% and 50% of the voting
rights. Investments in associates are accounted for using the
equity method of accounting. Under the equity method,
the investment is initially recognised at cost. The Group's
investment in associates includes goodwill identified on
acquisition. Upon the acquisition of the ownership interest in
an associate, any difference between the cost of the associate
and the Group’s share of the net fair value of the associate’s
identifiable assets and liabilities is accounted for as goodwill.

If the ownership interest in an associate is reduced but
significant influence is retained, only a proportionate share of
the amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive
income is reclassified to profit or loss where appropriate.

The Group's share of post-acquisition profit or loss is
recognised in the profit or loss, and its share of post-acquisition
movements in other comprehensive income is recognised in
other comprehensive income with a corresponding adjustment
to the carrying amount of the investment. When the Group’s
share of losses in an associate equals or exceeds its interest in
the associate, including any other unsecured receivables, the
Group does not recognise further losses, unless it has incurred
legal or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of
the associate.

The Group determines at each reporting date whether there is
any objective evidence that the investment in the associate is
impaired. If this is the case, the Group calculates the amount of
impairment as the difference between the recoverable amount
of the associate and its carrying value and recognises the
amount adjacent to share of profit of investments accounted
for using equity method in the profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBRRHME

(continued) (#)

3

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(b)

(9]

Associates (Continued)

Profits and losses resulting from upstream and downstream
transactions between the Group and its associate are
recognised in the Group’s financial statements only to the
extent of unrelated investor’s interests in the associates.
Unrealised losses are eliminated unless the transaction provides
evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting
policies of associates have been changed where necessary to
ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

Gain or losses on dilution of equity interest in associates are
recognised in the profit or loss.

Joint arrangement

The Group has applied HKFRS 11 to all joint arrangements.
Under HKFRS 11, investments in joint arrangements are
classified as either joint operations or joint ventures depending
on the contractual rights and obligations of each investor. The
Group has assessed the nature of its joint arrangement and
determined it to be joint venture. Joint venture is accounted for
using the equity method.

Under the equity method of accounting, interests in joint
ventures are initially recognised at cost and adjusted thereafter
to recognise the Group's share of the post-acquisition profits
or losses and movements in other comprehensive income. The
Group's investment in joint venture include goodwill identified
on acquisition. Upon the acquisition of the ownership interest
in a joint venture, any difference between the cost of the joint
venture and the Group's share of the net fair value of the joint
venture’s identifiable assets and liabilities is accounted for as
goodwill. When the Group’s share of losses in joint venture
equals or exceeds its interest in the joint venture (which includes
any long-term interests that, in substance, form part of the
Group’s net investment in the joint ventures), the Group does
not recognise further losses, unless it has incurred obligations
or made payments on behalf of the joint ventures.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(@

(d)

(e)

Joint arrangement (Continued)

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and its
joint venture are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interest
in the joint venture. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless
the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the
asset transferred. Accounting policies of the joint venture have
been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the
policies adopted by the Group.

The Group determines at each reporting date whether there is
any objective evidence that the interest in the joint venture is
impaired. If this is the case, the Group calculates the amount of
impairment as the difference between the recoverable amount
of the joint venture and its carrying value and recognises the
amount adjacent to share of profit of investment accounted for
using equity method in the profit or loss.

Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent
with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating
decision-maker. The chief operating decision-maker, who is
responsible for allocating resources and assessing performance
of the operating segments, has been identified as the executive
directors that makes strategic decisions.

Foreign currency translation
(i)  Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each of
the Group’s entities using the currency of the primary
economic environment in which the entity operates
(“the functional currency”). The consolidated financial
statements are presented in HK$, which is the Company’s
functional and the Group's presentation currency.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBRRHME

(continued) (#)

3

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(e)

Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(ii)

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the
functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at
the dates of the transactions or valuation where items are
re-measured. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting
from the settlement of such transactions and from the
translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary assets
and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are
recognised in the profit or loss.

All other foreign exchange gains and losses are presented
in the profit or loss within ‘administrative expenses’.

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair value in
a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the date when the fair value was determined.
Transaction differences on assets and liabilities carried
at fair value are reported as part of the fair value
gain or loss. For example, translation differences on
non-monetary assets and liabilities such as equity held
at FVPL are recognised in profit or loss as part of the
fair value gain or loss and translation differences on
non-monetary assets such as equity classified as FVOCI
are recognised in other comprehensive income.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(e)

Foreign currency translation (Continued)
(iii)  Group companies

The results and financial position of all the group entities
(none of which has the currency of a hyperinflationary
economy) that have a functional currency different
from the presentation currency are translated into the
presentation currency as follows:

- assets and liabilities for each statement of financial
position presented are translated at the closing rate
at the date of that statement of financial position;

- income and expenses for each profit or loss are
translated at average exchange rates (unless
this average is not a reasonable approximation
of the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing
on the transaction dates, in which case income
and expenses are translated at the dates of the
transactions); and

- all resulting exchange differences are recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated
separately in equity in the exchange fluctuation
reserve.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the
acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets and
liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at the year
end closing rate. Currency translation differences arising
are recognised in other comprehensive income.
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e

B 7% R MY A

(continued) (#)

3 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(e)

()

Foreign currency translation (Continued)
(iv) Disposal of foreign operation

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is, a disposal
of the Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation,
or a disposal involving loss of control over a subsidiary
that includes a foreign operation, a disposal involving
loss of joint control over a joint venture that includes
a foreign operation, or a disposal involving loss of
significant influence over an associate that includes
a foreign operation), all of the currency translation
differences accumulated in equity in respect of that
operation attributable to the owners of the Company are
reclassified to profit or loss.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment comprise mainly buildings,
plant and machinery, oil and gas properties, pipelines and
construction in progress. Accounting policies for oil and gas
properties are set out in Note 3(g). All other property, plant
and equipment is stated at historical cost less depreciation and
impairment, if any. Historical cost includes expenditure that is
directly attributable to the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount
or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it
is probable that future economic benefits associated with the
item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be
measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is
derecognised. All other repairs and maintenance are expensed
in the profit or loss during the year in which they are incurred.
Except for oil and gas properties and construction in progress,
depreciation on property, plant and equipment is calculated
using the straight-line method to allocate their cost to their
residual values over their estimated useful lives, as follows:
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

()

(9)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Buildings 12.5 to 40 years or remaining
lease period of the land where
applicable

Plant and machinery 3 to 20 years

Pipelines 20 years

Others 3 to 20 years

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and
adjusted if appropriate, at each date of the statement of
financial position. An asset’s carrying amount is written down
immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying
amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount (Note

33)-

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the
proceeds with the carrying amount and are recognised within
“administrative expenses” in profit or loss.

Construction in progress represents buildings under
development for future owner-occupied purpose and pipelines
under construction, which is stated at cost less any accumulated
impairment losses, and is not depreciated. Costs comprise direct
and indirect incremental costs of acquisition or construction.
Completed items are transferred from construction in progress
to proper categories of property, plant and equipment when
they are ready for their intended use.

Oil and gas properties

Expenditure on the construction, installation or completion
of infrastructure facilities such as platforms, pipelines and the
drilling of commercially proven development wells, is capitalised
within construction in progress under property, plant and
equipment. When development is completed on a specific
field, it is transferred to oil and gas properties under property,
plant and equipment. No depreciation and depletion is charged
during the development phase.

Oil and gas properties are aggregated exploration and
evaluation assets and development expenditures associated
with the production of proved reserves.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBRRHME

(continued) (#)

3

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(g) Oil and gas properties (Continued)

Oil and gas properties are depreciated and depleted using
the unit-of-production method. Unit-of-production rates are
based on total proved plus probable reserves, which are oil,
gas and other mineral reserves estimated to be recovered using
current operating methods and taking into account estimated
future development costs necessary to bring those reserves into
production. Future development costs are estimated taking
into account the level of development required to produce the

reserve.

Proven oil and gas properties are reviewed for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that
the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment
loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying
amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable
amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs of
disposal and its value in use. For the purposes of assessing
impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which

there are separately identifiable cash flows.

(h) Exploration and evaluation assets

Oil and gas exploration and evaluation expenditures are
accounted for using the successful efforts method of
accounting. Costs are accumulated on a field-by-field basis.
Geological, geophysical costs and pre-licence costs are expensed
as incurred. Costs directly associated with an exploration well,
and exploration and property leasehold acquisition costs, are
capitalised within exploration and evaluation assets until the
determination of reserves is evaluated. If it is determined that
commercial discovery has not been achieved, these costs are

charged to expense.

Once commercial reserves are found, exploration and
evaluation assets are tested for impairment and transferred to
construction in progress under property, plant and equipment.
No depreciation and depletion is charged during the exploration

and evaluation phase.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(h)

0]

Exploration and evaluation assets (Continued)

Exploration and evaluation assets are tested for impairment
when reclassified to construction in progress, or whenever
facts and circumstances indicate impairment. An impairment
loss is recognised for the amount by which the exploration
and evaluation assets’ carrying amount exceeds their
recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of
the exploration and evaluation assets’ fair value less costs of
disposal and their value in use.

Intangible assets

(i)

Goodwill

Goodwill arises on the acquisition of businesses
represents the excess of the consideration transferred, the
amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree
and the acquisition-date fair value of any previous
equity interest in the acquiree over the fair value of the
identified net assets acquired.

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired
in a business combination is allocated to each of the
cash generating units (“CGUs"), or groups of CGUs,
that is expected to benefit from the synergies of the
combination. Each unit or group of units to which the
goodwill is allocated represents the lowest level within
the entity at which the goodwill is monitored for internal
management purposes. Goodwill is monitored at the
operating segment level.

Goodwill impairment reviews are undertaken annually
and more frequently if events or changes in circumstances
indicate a potential impairment. The carrying value of
the CGU containing the goodwill is compared to the
recoverable amount, which is the higher of value in use
and the fair value less cost of disposal. Any impairment
is recognised immediately as an expense and is not
subsequently reversed.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e

B 7% R MY A

(continued) (#)

3 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

0]

1)

Intangible assets (Continued)
(ii)  Other intangible assets

Other intangible assets comprise mainly exclusive rights,
club membership and computer operating system.

Exclusive rights are shown at historical cost. Exclusive
rights have definite useful lives and are carried at cost
less accumulated amortisation. Amortisation is calculated
using the straight-line method to allocate the cost of
exclusive rights over their estimated useful lives ranging
from 30 to 48 years for natural gas supply services.

Investment in club membership is shown at historical
cost. Investment in club membership has indefinite useful
life and is tested annually for impairment and carried at
cost less any accumulated impairment losses and is not
amortised.

Computer operating system is shown at historical cost.
Computer operating system has definite useful lives
and is carried at cost less accumulated amortisation.
Amortisation is calculated using the straight-line method
to allocate the cost of computer operating system over its
estimated useful lives of 2 to 10 years.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Assets that have an indefinite useful life — for example,
goodwill or intangible assets not ready to use — are not subject
to amortisation and are tested annually for impairment. Assets
that are subject to amortisation are reviewed for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is
recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount
exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the
higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use.
For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at
the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash
flows (cash-generating units). Non-financial assets other than
goodwill that suffered an impairment are reviewed for possible
reversal of the impairment at each reporting date.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(k)

0)

Land use rights

Land use rights are lump sum upfront payments to acquire
long-term interest in lessee-occupied properties. Land use
rights relating to buildings of the Group under operating lease
arrangements are stated at cost and are amortised over the
period of the lease on the straight-line basis to the profit or

loss.

Investments and other financial assets

(i)

Classification

From 1 January 2018, the Group classifies its financial
assets in the following measurement categories:

o those to be measured subsequently at fair value
(either through OCI or through profit or loss), and

° those to be measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the Group's business model
for managing the financial assets and the contractual
terms of the cash flows.

For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses
will either be recorded in profit or loss or OCI. For
investments in equity investments that are not held for
trading, this will depend on whether the Group has made
an irrevocable election at the time of initial recognition to
account for the equity investment at FVOCI.

The Group reclassifies debt investments when and only
when its business model for managing those assets
changes.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBRRHME

(continued) (#)

3

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

0)

Investments and other financial assets (Continued)

(ii)

(iif)

Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on trade-date, the date on which the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Financial assets are
derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from
the financial assets have expired or have been transferred
and the Group has transferred substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership.

Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial
asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset
not at FVPL, transaction costs that are directly attributable
to the acquisition of the financial asset. Transaction costs
of financial assets carried at FVPL are expensed in profit
or loss.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are considered
in their entirety when determining whether their cash
flows are solely payment of principal and interest.

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends
on the Group’s business model for managing the asset
and the cash flow characteristics of the asset. There
are two measurement categories into which the Group
classifies its debt instruments:
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3 Summary of significant accounting policies

(Continued)

) Investments and other financial assets (Continued)

(iii) Measurement (Continued)

Debt

instruments (Continued)

Amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection
of contractual cash flows where those cash flows
represent solely payments of principal and interest
are measured at amortised cost. Interest income
from these financial assets is included in finance
income using the effective interest rate method.
Any gain or loss arising on derecognition is
recognised directly in profit or loss and presented in
“other gains, net” together with foreign exchange
gains and losses. Impairment losses are presented
as separate line item in profit or loss.

FVOCI: Assets that are held for collection of
contractual cash flows and for selling the financial
assets, where the assets’ cash flows represent solely
payments of principal and interest, are measured
at FVOCI. Movements in the carrying amount are
taken through OCI, except for the recognition
of impairment gains or losses, interest income
and foreign exchange gains and losses which are
recognised in profit or loss. When the financial
asset is derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss
previously recognised in OCl is reclassified from
equity to profit or loss and recognised in “other
gains, net”. Interest income from these financial
assets is included in finance income using the
effective interest rate method. Foreign exchange
gains and losses are presented in “other gains,
net” and impairment expenses are presented as
separate line item in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBRRHME

(continued) (#)

3

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

0)

Investments and other financial assets (Continued)

(iii) Measurement (Continued)

(iv)

(v)

Equity investments

The Group subsequently measures all equity investments
at fair value. Where the Group’s management has
elected to present fair value gains and losses on equity
investments in OCI, there is no subsequent reclassification
of fair value gains and losses to profit or loss following
the derecognition of the investment. Dividends from such
investments continue to be recognised in profit or loss as
other income when the Group's right to receive payments
is established.

Impairment

From 1 January 2018, the Group assesses on a forward
looking basis the expected credit losses associated
with its debt instruments carried at amortised cost and
FVOCI. The impairment methodology applied depends
on whether there has been a significant increase in credit
risk.

For trade receivables and contract assets, the Group
applies the simplified approach permitted by HKFRS 9,
which requires expected lifetime losses to be recognised
from initial recognition of the receivables, see note 23 for
further details.

Accounting policies applied until 31 December 2017

The Group has applied HKFRS 9 retrospectively, but has
elected not to restate comparative information. As a
result, the comparative information provided continues
to be accounted for in accordance with the Group’s
previous accounting policy.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

) Investments and other financial assets (Continued)

(v)

(1)

Accounting policies applied until 31 December 2017
(Continued)

Until 31 December 2017 the Group classifies its financial
assets in the following categories:

. financial assets at FVPL,
. loans and receivables, and
. available-for-sale financial assets.

The classification determined on the purpose for which
the investments were acquired. Management determined
the classification of its investments at initial recognition.
See Note 4.1 for details about each type of financial
asset.

Subsequent measurement

The measurement at initial recognition did not change
upon adoption of HKFRS 9, see description above.

Subsequent to the initial, recognition loans and
receivables were subsequently carried at amortised cost
using the effective interest method.

Available-for-sale financial assets and financial assets
at FVPL were subsequently carried at fair value. Gains
or losses arising from changes in the fair value are
recognised as follows:

o for “financial assets at FVPL” — in profit or loss
within “other gains, net”
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBRRHME

(continued) (#)

3

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

0)

Investments and other financial assets (Continued)

(v)

(1)

(2)

Accounting policies applied until 31 December 2017
(Continued)

Subsequent measurement (Continued)

J for available-for-sale financial assets that are
monetary securities denominated in a foreign
currency — translation differences related to
changes in the amortised cost of the security were
recognised in profit or loss and other changes in
the carrying amount were recognised in other
comprehensive income

o for other monetary and non-monetary securities
classified as available-for-sale — in other
comprehensive income.’

Details on how the fair value of financial instruments is
determined are disclosed in Note 4.4.

When securities classified as available-for-sale were sold,
the accumulated fair value adjustments recognised in
other comprehensive income were reclassified to profit or
loss as “other gains, net”.

Impairment

The Group assessed at the end of each reporting period
whether there was objective evidence that a financial
asset or group of financial assets was impaired. A
financial asset or a group of financial assets was impaired
and impairment losses were incurred only if there was
objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or
more events that occurred after the initial recognition of
the asset (a “loss event”) and that loss event (or events)
had an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the
financial asset or group of financial assets that could
be reliably estimated. In the case of equity investments
classified as available-for-sale, a significant or prolonged
decline in the fair value of the security below its cost was
considered an indicator that the assets are impaired.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

0)

Investments and other financial assets (Continued)

(v)

(2)

Accounting policies applied until 31 December 2017
(Continued)

Impairment (Continued)
Assets carried at amortised cost

For loans and receivables, the amount of the loss was
measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying
amount and the present value of estimated future cash
flows (excluding future credit losses that had not been
incurred) discounted at the financial asset’s original
effective interest rate. The carrying amount of the asset
was reduced and the amount of the loss was recognised
in profit or loss. If a loan had a variable interest rate,
the discount rate for measuring any impairment loss
was the current effective interest rate determined under
the contract. As a practical expedient, the Group could
measure impairment on the basis of an instrument’s fair
value using an observable market price.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment
loss decreased and the decrease could be related
objectively to an event occurring after the impairment
was recognised (such as an improvement in the debtor’s
credit rating), the reversal of the previously recognised
impairment loss was recognised in profit or loss.

Impairment testing of trade receivables is described in
Note 4.2(b).
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mEMBRRHME

(continued) (#)

3 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

) Investments and other financial assets (Continued)

(v) Accounting policies applied until 31 December 2017
(Continued)

(2) Impairment (Continued)
Assets classified as available-for-sale

If there was objective evidence of impairment for
available-for-sale financial assets, the cumulative loss —
measured as the difference between the acquisition cost
and the current fair value, less any impairment loss on
that financial asset previously recognised in profit or loss
— was removed from equity and recognised in profit or
loss.

Impairment losses on equity instruments that were
recognised in profit or loss were not reversed through
profit or loss in a subsequent period.

If the fair value of a debt instrument classified as
available-for-sale increased in a subsequent period and
the increase could be objectively related to an event
occurring after the impairment loss was recognised in
profit or loss, the impairment loss was reversed through
profit or loss.

(m) Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined using the first-in, first-out method.
The cost of finished goods and work in progress comprises
raw materials, direct labour, other direct costs and related
production overheads (based on normal operating capacity). It
excludes borrowing costs. Net realisable value is the estimated
selling price in the ordinary course of business, less all costs to
completion and all direct costs necessary make the sale.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(n)

(o)

(p)

Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for sales and
distribution of oil and natural gas and other related products or
gas pipeline construction and connection services performed in
the ordinary course of business. If collection of trade and other
receivables is expected in one year or less (or in the normal
operating cycle of the business if longer), they are classified as
current assets. If not, they are presented as non-current assets.

Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at the
amount of consideration that is unconditional unless they
contain significant financing components, when they are
recognised at fair value. The Group holds the trade and other
receivables with the objective to collect the contractual cash
flows and therefore measures them subsequently at amortised
cost using the effective interest method.

Cash and cash equivalents

In the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash
equivalents include cash in hand, deposits held at call with
banks, and other short-term highly liquid investments with
original maturities of three months or less that are readily
convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject to
insignificant risk of changes in value.

Trade payables

Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or services that
have been acquired in the ordinary course of business from
suppliers. Trade payables are classified as current liabilities
if payment is due within one year or less (or in the normal
operating cycle of the business if longer). If not, they are
presented as non-current liabilities.

Trade payables are recognised initially at fair value and
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBRRHME

(continued) (#)

3

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(q) Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently carried
at amortised cost; any difference between the proceeds (net
of transaction costs) and the redemption value is recognised in
the profit or loss over the period of the borrowings using the

effective interest method.

Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are recognised
as transaction costs of the loan to the extent that it is probable
that some or all of the facility will be drawn down. In this
case, the fee is deferred until the draw-down occurs. To the
extent there is no evidence that it is probable that some or all
of the facility will be drawn down, the fee is capitalised as a
pre-payment for liquidity services and amortised over the period

of the facility to which it relates.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group
has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for

at least 12 months after the end of the reporting period.

(r) Borrowing costs

General and specific borrowing costs directly attributable to
the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets,
which are assets that necessarily take a substantial period of
time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are added
to the cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are

substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of
specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying
assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for

capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the

period in which they are incurred.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(s)

()

Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs
directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are
shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable, and represents amounts receivable
for the sales and distribution of natural gas and other related
products, provision of gas pipeline construction and connection
services, and the exploitation and production of crude oil and
natural gas, stated net of value added taxes.

The Group does not expect to have any contracts where the
period between the transfer of the promised goods to the
customers and the payment by the customers exceeds one
year. As a consequence, the Group does not adjust any of the
transaction prices for the time value of money.

When either party to a contract has performed, the Group
presents the contract in the consolidated statement of financial
position as a contract asset or a contract liability, depending
on the relationship between the Group’s performance and the
customer’s payment.

A contract asset is the Group’s right to consideration in
exchange for goods that the Group has transferred to a
customer. Incremental costs incurred to obtain a contact,
if recoverable, are capitalised and presented as assets and
subsequently amortised when the related revenue is recognised.

If a customer pays consideration or the Group has a right to
an amount of consideration that is unconditional, before the
Group transfers the promised goods to the customer, the
Group presents the contract as a contract liability when the
payment is received or a receivable is recorded (whichever is
earlier). A contract liability is the Group’s obligation to transfer
the promised goods to a customer for which the Group has
received consideration (or an amount of consideration is due)
from the customer.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e

B 7% R MY A

(continued) (#)

3 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

()

Revenue recognition (Continued)

A receivable is recorded when the Group has an unconditional
right to consideration. A right to consideration is unconditional
if only the passage of time is required before payment of that
consideration is due.

Revenue is recognised when, or as, the control of the goods or
services is transferred to the customer. Depending on the terms
of the contract and the laws applicable, control of the goods
and services may be transferred over time or at a point in time.
Control of the goods and services is transferred over time if the
Group's performance:

o provides all of the benefits received and consumed
simultaneously by the customer;

. creates and enhances an asset that the customer controls
as the Group performs; or

o does not create an asset with an alternative use to
the Group and the Group has an enforceable right to
payment for performance completed to date.

If control of the goods and services transfers over time, revenue
is recognised over the period of the contract by reference to
the progress towards complete satisfaction of that performance
obligation. Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time
when the customer obtains control of the goods and services.

The progress towards complete satisfaction of the performance
obligation is measured based on one of the following methods
that best depict the Group’s performance in satisfying the
performance obligation:

o Direct measurements of the value transferred by the
Group to the customer; or

J The Group's efforts or inputs to the satisfaction of the
performance obligation relative to the total expected
efforts or inputs.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

()

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue is recognised when specific criteria have been met for
the Group's activity described below:

(i)  Sales and distribution of natural gas

Sales and distribution of natural gas are recognised at a
point in time when control is transferred to customers,
which generally coincides with the time when gas is
transmitted and used by the customers, and is based
on the gas consumption derived from meter readings.
Payment of the transaction price is due immediately
at the point the customer consume the gas. Payments
received in advance on pre-paid I/C cards that are related
to sales of natural gas not yet delivered are recognised
as contract liabilities and deferred in the consolidated
statements of financial position.

(i)  Gas pipeline construction and connection

The Group provides gas pipeline construction and
connection services to its end-customers under fixed-price
contracts. Revenue from the provision of gas pipeline
construction and connection services is recognised over
time as the Group’s performance creates or enhances an
asset that the customer controls.

The Group satisfies a performance obligation over time,
by measuring the progress using output method on the
basis of direct measurements of the value the customer
of the promised goods or services transferred to date
certified by internal engineers, relative to the value of
total goods or services promised under the contract with
customer. The Group recognises revenue over time only
if it can reasonably measure its progress toward complete
satisfaction of the performance obligation. However, if
the Group cannot reasonably measure the outcome but
expects to recover the costs incurred in satisfying the
performance obligation, then it recognises revenue to the
extent of the costs incurred.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBRRHME

(continued) (#)

3

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

()

Revenue recognition (Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

Gas pipeline construction and connection
(Continued)

Estimates of costs or extent of progress toward
completion are revised if circumstances change. Any
change in estimation of progress are reflected in profit or
loss in the period which the circumstances that give rise
to the revision become known by management.

The customers are required to pay in advance for full or
certain contract amount based on a payment schedule. If
the services rendered by the Group exceed the payment,
a contract asset is recognised. If the payment exceed the
services rendered, a contract liability is recognised.

Revenue from exploitation and production of crude
oil and natural gas

The revenue from the sales of crude oil, natural gas and
natural gas liquids is measured based on consideration
specified in contracts with customers. Revenue is
recognised at a point in time when customers obtain
legal title to the oil and gas which is when it is physically
transferred to pipeline or other transportation method
agreed upon.

Sales of equipment

Revenue from sales of equipment are recognised when
control of the equipment has transferred, being when the
equipment are delivered to the customers, and there is
no unfulfilled obligation that could affect the customers’
acceptance of the products. Delivery occurs when the
equipment have been shipped to the specified location,
the risks of obsolescence and loss have been transferred
to the customers, and either the customers has accepted
the equipment in accordance with the sales contract,
the acceptance provisions have lapsed, or the Group has
objective evidence that all criteria for acceptance have
been satisfied.

114 CHINAOIL AND GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2018

3

TEE

(®

A

STRRBE (&)

W AR ()

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

ARREEEERIZE (E)

WIERNEE  KARS TK
EELPIZEFES THRE
o EERFZEMNEZHR
ERENTERELETZ
HHEzBmh R -

BERPARBMNREBRIEN
2RI OANEE - ME
B IR e RSB kIR Bl
HRANEE - MW s
HATERERS AR ALH
BifE -

IR R £ B JR B R X 2 53 T
FHA

HERH®B  RAREABERX
ARRNBAZEFEATR
EZREFE - WRAREP
ESRBERRRRBEMA
RAERGXEEEXHT
2 H A8 70K ) B I ) B R
21

HERBIRARBRIREE
R (BREXNTEFR
BERETEAUFERFR
BRRERHERH)ER - EREE
MEERFEME - WENE
BERREEBEFP BEEFP
EREBHEANEIHEXD
RBOBERREIEERESE
BEZACHAMBENRD
2R - BB AR -



3

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

()

(u)

Revenue recognition (Continued)
(iv) Sales of equipment (Continued)

Revenue from these sales is recognised based on the
price specified in the contract. No element of financing
is deemed present as the sales are made with a credit
term of 60 to 90 days, which is consistent with market
practice.

No refund liability and right to the returned equipment
are recognised as insignificant amount of returns are
expected based on previous experience.

A receivable is recognised when the equipment are
delivered as this is the point in time that the consideration
is unconditional because only the passage of time is
required before the payment is due.

Interest income

Interest income on financial assets at amortised cost calculated
using the effective interest method is recognised in the
consolidated profit or loss as part of finance income.

Interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest
rate to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset except
for financial assets that subsequently become credit-impaired.
For credit-impaired financial assets the effective interest rate is
applied to the net carrying amount of the financial asset (after
deduction of the loss allowance).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBRRHME

(continued) (#)

3

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(v)

Employee benefits

(i)

Retirement benefit costs

In accordance with the rules and regulations in the PRC,
the PRC based employees of the Group participate in
various defined contribution retirement benefit plans
organised by the relevant municipal and provincial
governments in the PRC under which the Group and
the PRC based employees are required to make monthly
contributions to these plans calculated as a percentage of
the employees’ salaries.

The municipal and provincial governments undertake to
assume the retirement benefit obligations of all existing
and future retired PRC based employees payable under
the plans described above. Other than the monthly
contributions, the Group has no further obligation for
the payment of retirement and other post retirement
benefits of its employees. The assets of these plans are
held separately from those of the Group in independently
administrated funds managed by the provincial
governments.

The Group also operates a defined contribution
Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme in Hong Kong (the
“MPF Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance for those qualifying employees
employed under the jurisdiction of the Hong Kong
Employment Ordinance, and who are eligible to
participate in the MPF Scheme. Under the rules of the
MPF Scheme, contributions to the scheme by the Group
and the employees are calculated as a percentage
of employee’s relevant income, subject to a cap of
monthly relevant income of HK$30,000. The retirement
benefit scheme costs charged to profit or loss represent
contributions payable by the Group in accordance with
the rules of the MPF Scheme. The Group’s employer
contributions vest fully with the employees when
contributed into the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF
Scheme are held separately from those of the Group in
an independently administered fund.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(v) Employee benefits (Continued)

(if)

(iii)

Employee entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave and long service
payment are recognised when they accrue to the
employees. A provision is made for the estimated liability
for annual leave and long service payment as a result of
services rendered by employees up to the statement of
financial position date.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity or
paternity leave are not recognised until the time of leave.

Share-based payments

The Group operates a number of equity-settled
share-based compensation plans, under which the entity
receives services from employees as consideration for
equity instruments of the Group. The fair value of the
employee services received in exchange for the grant
of share options or restricted shares is recognised as an
expense. The total amount to be expensed is determined
by reference to the fair value of the options or restricted
shares granted:

o including any market performance conditions (for
example, an entity’s share price);

o excluding the impact of any service and non-market
performance vesting conditions (for example,
profitability, sales growth targets and remaining
an employee of the entity over a specified time
period); and

o including the impact of any non-vesting conditions
(for example, the requirement for employees to
save or holding shares for a specified period of
time).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBRRHME

(continued) (#)

3 Summary of significant accounting policies 3 FESTHEEBEE)
(Continued)
(v) Employee benefits (Continued) v) EE®NE)
(iii) Share-based payments (Continued) (i) UG BEREZ(T7(E)

Non-market vesting conditions are included in
assumptions about the number of options or restricted
shares that are expected to vest. The total expense is
recognised over the vesting period, which is the period
over which all of the specified vesting conditions are to
be satisfied. At the end of each reporting period, the
entity revises its estimates of the number of options or
restricted shares that are expected to vest based on the
non-market vesting conditions. It recognises the impact
of the revision to original estimates, if any, in the profit or
loss, with a corresponding adjustment to equity.

Share option scheme

When the options are exercised, the Company issues
new shares. The proceeds received net of any directly
attributable transaction costs are credited to share capital
(nominal value) and share premium when the options are
exercised.

The grant by the Company of options over its equity
instruments to the employees of subsidiary undertakings
in the Group is treated as a capital contribution. The
fair value of employee services received, measured by
reference to the grant date fair value, is recognised
over the vesting period as an increase to investment in
subsidiary undertakings, with a corresponding credit to
equity.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(v)

(w)

Employee benefits (Continued)
(iii)  Share-based payments (Continued)
Share award scheme

When restricted shares are granted, the fair value of
restricted shares are recognised as expense with a
corresponding adjustment to equity over the vesting
period.

Where the Group purchases the Company’s shares from
the market, the consideration paid, including any directly
attributable incremental costs, is presented as “shares
held for share award scheme” and deducted from total
equity.

The social security contributions payable in connection
with the grant of the share options and restricted shares
is considered an integral part of the grant itself, and the
charge will be treated as a cash-settled transaction.

Provisions

Provisions for environmental restoration, restructuring costs
and legal claims are recognised when: the Group has a present
legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events; it is
probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle
the obligation; and the amount has been reliably estimated.
Restructuring provisions comprise lease termination penalties
and employee termination payments. Provisions are not
recognised for future operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood
that an outflow will be required in settlement is determined
by considering the class of obligations as a whole. A provision
is recognised even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect
to any one item included in the same class of obligations may
be small. Provisions are measured at the present value of the
expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation
using a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the
obligation. The increase in the provision due to passage of time
is recognised as interest expense.
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mEMBRRHME

(continued) (#)

3 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(x) Current and deferred income tax

The tax expense for the period comprises current and deferred
tax. Tax is recognised in the profit or loss, except to the extent
that it relates to items recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity. In this case the tax is also
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity,
respectively.

(i)  Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis
of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the
statement of financial position date in the countries
where the Group, its associates and joint ventures
operate and generate taxable income. Management
periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns with
respect to situations in which applicable tax regulation is
subject to interpretation. It establishes provisions where
appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to be paid
to the tax authorities.

(ii) Deferred income tax
Inside basis differences

Deferred income tax is recognised, using the liability
method, on temporary differences arising between
the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying
amounts in the consolidated financial statements.
However, deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if
they arise from the initial recognition of goodwill, the
deferred income tax is not accounted for if it arises from
initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction
other than a business combination that at the time of the
transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable profit
or loss. Deferred income tax is determined using tax
rates (and laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the date of the statement of financial position
and are expected to apply when the related deferred
income tax asset is realised or the deferred income tax
liability is settled.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(x)

Current and deferred income tax (Continued)

(if)

(iii)

Deferred income tax (Continued)
Inside basis differences (Continued)

Deferred income tax assets are recognised only to the
extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be
available against which the temporary differences can be
utilised.

Outside basis differences

Deferred income tax liability is provided on temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries, a joint
venture and associates, except for deferred income tax
liability where the timing of the reversal of the temporary
difference is controlled by the Group and it is probable
that the temporary difference will not reverse in the
foreseeable future.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised on deductible
temporary differences arising from investments in
subsidiaries, associates and a joint venture only to the
extent that it is probable the temporary difference will
reverse in the future and there is sufficient taxable profit
available against which the temporary difference can be
utilised.

Offsetting

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when
there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax
assets against current tax liabilities and when the deferred
income taxes assets and liabilities relate to income taxes
levied by the same taxation authority on either the
taxable entity or different taxable entities where there is
an intention to settle the balances on a net basis.
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e

B 7% R MY A

(continued) (#)

3 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(y)

(2)

Leases

Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards of
ownership are retained by the lessor are classified as operating
leases. Payment made under operating leases, net of any
incentives received from the lessor are charged to profit or loss
on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease.

Leases of property, plant and equipment where the Group has
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are classified
as finance leases. Finance leases are capitalised at the lease’s
commencement at the lower of the fair value of the leased
property and the present value of the minimum lease payments.

Rental income is recognised on a straight-line basis over the
tenant lease.

Government grants

Grants from the government are recognised at their fair
value where there is a reasonable assurance that the grant
will be received and the Group will comply with all attached
conditions.

Government grants relating to costs are deferred and
recognised in the profit or loss over the period necessary
to match them with the costs that they are intended to
compensate.

Government grants relating to property, plant and equipment
are included in non-current liabilities as deferred government
grants and are credited to the profit or loss on a straight-line
basis over the expected lives of the related assets.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
mEMBHRRME

Financial risk management

Financial instruments by categories

As at 31 December 2018

Debt investments

Equity investments

Deposits, trade and other
receivables (excluding
prepayment and other tax

Time deposits, bank balances and FHFH « R1TE%

Trade and other payables
(excluding other tax payables
and salaries payables)

Note
HisE
R-ZE-N\E
+-A=1t-8
BEBHRE 21
RAKRE 21
Re - BHREMERR
BH(TEEBRARER
Hih e FE)
LkEE 25
B REMERNTE
(TMEEEMEATRK
ERES)
BE 28
BRER 29
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBRRHME

(continued) (#)

4  Financial risk management (Continued) 4 BIEEREIE(E
4.1 Financial instruments by categories (Continued) 41 RERESszEWMIE(E)
Financial
Available-for- assets at fair Financial
sale financial value through Loans and liabilities at
assets profit or loss receivables amortised cost
BATE REH
A E BEEARZ ERk AT E
HEE HKEE el E ZHBER
Note HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Bz TET TET TEL FTAEL
As at 31 December 2017 R-Z—+%F
+-A=+-H
Debt investments BHERE 21, 24 459,627 48,842 = =
Equity investments N 21 136,733 - - -
Deposits, trade and other Be BHREMEK
receivables (excluding 2B (TBEBRAZE
prepayment and other tax REM A e HE)
recoverables) - - 1,838,162 -
Time deposits, bank balances FHFH - RI1THH
and cash &k 25 - - 2,338,978 -
Trade and other payables B REMEMNRE
(excluding other tax payables (&R
and salaries payables) LEREE) - = = 1,404,899
Borrowings BE 28 - - - 749,258
Senior notes BLER 29 - - - 4,970,240
596,360 48,842 4,177,140 7,124,397
4.2  Financial risk factors 42 HBERAKBEZ

The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks:
market risk (including currency risk, price risk and interest rate
risk), credit risk and liquidity risk arising in the normal course
of its business and financial instruments. The management
manages and monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate
measures are implemented on a timely and effective manner.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4  Financial risk management (Continued)

4.2 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(a) Market risk

0]

Currency risk

The Group is exposed to currency risk arising
from various currency exposures, primarily with
respect to United States dollars (“US$"”), Canadian
dollars (“CAD") and Renminbi. Currency risk arises
from future commercial transactions, recognised
assets and liabilities and net investments in
foreign operations. In addition, the conversion of
Renminbi into foreign currencies is subject to the
rules and regulations of foreign exchange control
promulgated by the PRC government. This currency
exposure is managed primarily through sourcing
supplies denominated in the same currency.

Management has set up a policy to require group
companies to manage their foreign exchange risk
against functional currency. It mainly includes
managing the exposures arise from sales and
purchases made by the relevant group companies
in currencies other than their own functional
currencies. The Group also manages its foreign
exchange risk by performing regular reviews of
the Group’s net foreign exchange exposures. The
Group has not used any forward foreign exchange
contracts to hedge its exposure.

Prices for oil and natural gas in Canada are
determined in global markets and generally
denominated in US$. Oil and natural gas prices
obtained by the Group are influenced by both
United States and Canadian demand and the
corresponding North American supply, and recently,
by imports of liquefied natural gas. The exchange
rate effect cannot be quantified but generally an
increase in the value of CAD as compared to US$
will reduce the prices received by the Group for its
petroleum and natural gas sales. At 31 December
2018 and 2017, there has no financial instrument
denominated in US$ in the books of subsidiaries
with functional currency denominated in CAD.
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mEMBRRHME

(continued) (#)

4

Financial risk management (Continued)

4.2

Financial risk factors (Continued)

(a)

Market risk (Continued)

0]

(i)

Currency risk (Continued)

As US$ is pegged with HK$ under the Linked
Exchange Rate System, the Group has minimal
exposure to currency risk arising from US$.
Accordingly, no sensitivity analysis is performed. As
at 31 December 2018, if Renminbi had weakened/
strengthened by 5% against HK$, with all other
variables held constant, pre-tax profit for the
year would have been HK$91,970,000 (2017:
HK$113,263,000) lower/higher, mainly as a result
of foreign exchange losses/gains on translation of
Renminbi denominated cash and cash equivalents.

Price risk

The Group is exposed to price changes arising from
debt and equity investments classified as financial
assets at fair value through other comprehensive
income and financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss amounted to HK$439,120,000 (2017:
HK$596,360,000) and Nil (2017: HK$48,842,000)
respectively. Most of these investments are listed
either on the stock exchanges of Hong Kong or
other countries.

Equity investments are held as long-term strategic
investments and have been chosen based on their
longer term growth potential and are monitored
regularly for performance against expectations.
The portfolio is diversified in terms of industry
distribution, in accordance with the limits set by
the Group.

Debt investments are placed with counterparties
with sound credit quality. The Group closely
monitors the credit quality and financial positions
of counterparties and consider appropriate action
if the market value of those securities decline by a
pre-determinated threshold.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4  Financial risk management (Continued)

4.2

Financial risk factors (Continued)

(a)

Market risk (Continued)

(i)

(iii)

Price risk (Continued)

Commodity price risk is the risk that fair value
or future cash flows will fluctuate as a result of
changes in commodity prices. Commodity prices
for oil and natural gas in Canada are impacted by
the relationship between CAD and US$ as well as
world economic events that dictate the levels of
supply and demand.

Interest rate risk

As the Group has no significant interest-bearing
assets, except for short-term bank deposits, loan to
an associate and loans to third parties, the Group'’s
income and operating cash flows are substantially
independent of changes in market interest rates.
Management does not anticipate significant impact
on interest-bearing assets resulted from changes
in interest rates because the interest rates of bank
deposits are not expected to change significantly.

The Group’s interest rate risk arises from
borrowings and senior notes. Borrowings obtained
at variable rates expose the Group to cash flow
interest rate risk. Borrowings at fixed rates expose
the Group to fair value interest rate risk.

Details of the Group’s borrowings and senior notes
are set out in Notes 28 and 29 respectively.

The Group has not used any interest rate swaps
to hedge its exposure to interest rate risk as the
interest rate risk exposure is not significant. In
order to manage the cash flow interest rate risk,
the Group will repay the corresponding borrowings
when it has surplus funds.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBRRHME

(continued) (#)

4  Financial risk management (Continued)
4.2 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(a) Market risk (Continued)
(iii) Interest rate risk (Continued)

At 31 December 2018, it is estimated that a
general increase or decrease of 100 basis points
in interest rates on floating rate borrowings,
with all other variables held constant, would
decrease/increase the Group's post tax profit for
the year by approximately HK$3,491,000 (2017:
HK$2,913,000). The above sensitivity analysis
has been determined assuming that the change
in interest rates had occurred at the date of the
statement of financial position and had been
applied to the exposure to interest rate risk for
financial instruments in existence at that date. The
100 basis points increase or decrease represents
management’s assessment of a reasonably possible
change in interest rates over the year until the next
annual statement of financial position date. The
analysis was performed on the same basis for 2017.

(b) Credit risk

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to
contract assets, deposits, trade and other receivables,
debt investments at FVOCI, debt investments under
available-for-sale financial assets and financial assets at
FVPL, time deposits with maturity over three months, and
cash at banks with a maximum exposure equal to the
carrying amounts of these financial instruments which
are stated as follows:

128 CHINAOIL AND GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2018

B i b T ()

4.2

(a)

(iii)

(b)

MgEEEEE)
5 2 B ()
FlREk(H)

RZZE—NFE+ZA=+—8 4
AEEEBEZARER FFA ST
1001E B - AT E b & SUR
N BIEBTFABRBRBEFBS
B A $8 H0 493,491,000 7T (=
T —+4F : 2,913,000/ L) o bt
FRRE DT TR R F RS E R
MREBHBEEN —HEARR ;2
HEENGR T ANFERAR
ﬂﬁ?ﬁ%wmgﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂﬁ
ﬂﬁf%imaiT—%iﬁﬁMﬁ
/R%EIB;QHIHHFEJEOTQEQ
—tFENH IR — %ﬁgiﬁﬁf’

=EmE
SEZEERREIZHEEANGNE

= - Ew~§%&E@@W%E
BRAFEFAHMMEZE RS 2E
BRE BERAHKEWKEE
RAFELBa ANRZUBE
ENEBERE FHMAR=EAMN
ERERFEFARRITRS - FIE
fieEaERESRZEERT
AZRHEE - BT



4

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR

(continued) (#)

Financial risk management (Continued) 4 BIREREREE)
4.2 Financial risk factors (Continued) 42 HEERRBEXEE)
(b) Credit risk (Continued) (b)) EFEREE (&)
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+tF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Contract assets, deposits, trade BHEE EHe EHR
and other receivables (excluding HuElZHE (T~ FE
prepayment and other tax TEATFRIE R E A
recoverables) ERdEERED) 1,956,050 1,859,370
Debt investments at FVOCI EAFEFAEMEZERE
ZEBRE 330,174 =
Debt investments under BEATMILEVHEE
available-for-sale financial assets ZEBKRE - 459,627
Debt investments under financial SREARATELEZAR
assets at FVPL CUHBEEZERRE = 48,842
Time deposits with maturity over FHBA=EANLEN
three months THAER 158,679 48,531
Cash at banks RITHEE 2,504,490 2,288,381
Maximum exposure to credit risk E=EERR 4,949,393 4,704,751
Management has a credit policy in place and the EEBOSTERKZEERE - I
exposures to these credit risks are monitored on an HZEEERRITEEE -
ongoing basis.
(i) Credit risk of cash at banks and time deposits i) BE=ZEFIHNETHEHERE
with maturity over three months HERZEERR
As at 31 December 2018 and 2017, all of the RZE—N\FRER_E—+F+=
Group's bank deposits are deposited in major A=+—H &£EMERTHERY
financial institutions located in the PRC and Hong THREEBRABREEAEE
Kong, which the management believes are of high EENSEZEEE 2 TELEE S
credit quality without significant credit risk. There TELREE ZET MBI
has been no recent history of default in relation to WHEEHNFES - FEHEERBEBEDN
these financial institutions. The expected credit loss NE o
is close to zero.
The Group's bank deposits as at 31 December 2018 R NFER_Z—+F+_A8
and 2017 were as follows: =+—B SEZBITFERAT :
PHRREBERAR 2018FFiH
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mEMBRRHME

(continued) (#)

4

Financial risk management (Continued)

4.2

(b)

BB RERER(E

Financial risk factors (Continued) 42 H¥ERMEEE)
Credit risk (Continued) (b) EEREE)
(i) Credit risk of cash at banks and time deposits (i) BEE=EAIHEMBITRERE
with maturity over three months (Continued) MERZEERK (&)

2018 2017

—E-N\F —E—+tF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FAT

State-owned or listed banks BA=k ETiRT 1,814,897 1,801,522

Other banks HARTT 848,272 535,390

2,663,169 2,336,912
(i) Credit risk of loan and interest receivables (i) RXE—HBHBHLLATETREVRR

from an associate

The directors of the Company consider the
probability of default upon initial recognition
of asset and whether there has been significant
increase in credit risk on an ongoing basis during
the year ended 31 December 2018. To assess
whether there is a significant increase in credit risk,
the Group compares risk of a default occurring
on the assets as at the reporting date with the
risk of default as at the date of initial recognition.
Especially the following indicators are incorporated:

- Actual or expected significant adverse change
in business, financial economic conditions
that are expected to cause a significant
change to the associate’s ability to meet its
obligations;

- Actual or expected significant changes in the
operating results of the associate;

- Significant changes in the expected
performance and behaviour of the associate,
including changes in the payment status of
the associate.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4  Financial risk management (Continued)

4.2

Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b)

Credit risk (Continued)

(i)

Credit risk of loan and interest receivables
from an associate (Continued)

Regardless of the analysis above, a significant
increase in credit risk is presumed if the associate
is more than 30 days past due in making a
contractual payment/repayable demanded.

A default on a financial asset is when the
counterparty fails to make contractual payments/
repayable demanded within 90 days of when they
fail due.

The management considers the credit risk on
loan and interest receivables from an associate
after considering the financial conditions of the
associate and the balances are considered to have
low credit risk, and the expected credit losses
was limited to 12 months expected credit losses.
Management has applied the expected credit risk
model and estimated the default rate of 2.8% and
loss given default rate of 60.2% after considering
the current economic environment and the
forward-looking economic factors. Loss allowance
of HK$17,000,000 is recognised on 1 January
2018. The loss allowance for the loan and interest
receivables from an associate have not increased
during the current reporting period.
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mEMBRRHME

(continued) (#)

4

Financial risk management (Continued)

4.2

Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b)

Credit risk (Continued)

(iii)

(iv)

Credit risk of deposits and other receivables

Deposits and other receivables were mainly rental
deposits, refundable deposits placed to suppliers,
note receivables and miscellaneous receivables
from customers. The credit quality of deposits
and other receivables has been assessed with
reference to historical information about the
counterparties default rates and financial position
of the counterparties. Given the track record of
repayment in full, the directors of the Company
are of the opinion that the risk of default by these
counterparties is not significant and does not
expect any losses from non-performance by the
counterparties. Therefore, expected credit loss rate
of the deposits and other receivables is assessed to
be close to zero and no provision was made as at
31 December 2018 and 2017 and 1 January 2018.

Credit risk of contract assets and trade
receivables

For sales and distribution of natural gas and other
related products, and the provision of pipeline
construction and connection services in the PRC,
the Group generally requests advances from these
customers. For exploitation and production of
crude oil and natural gas in Canada, receivables
from oil and natural gas marketers are normally
collected on the 25th day of the month following
production. In circumstances of credit sales, to
manage the credit risk in respect of contract assets
and trade receivables, the Group has policies in
place to ensure that sales are made to customers
with appropriate credit history and the Group
performs credit evaluations of its customers, and
generally does not require collateral from the
customers on the outstanding balances.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4  Financial risk management (Continued)

4.2

Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b)

Credit risk (Continued)

(iv) Credit risk of contract assets and trade

receivables (Continued)

The Group applies the simplified approach to
provide for expected credit losses prescribed by
HKFRS 9, which permits the use of the lifetime
expected credit loss provision for all contract assets
and trade receivables.

To measure the expected credit losses, contract
assets and trade receivables have been grouped
based on shared credit risk characteristics and the
days past due. The contract assets relate to unbilled
work in progress and have substantially the same
risk characteristics as the trade receivables for the
same types of contracts. The Group has therefore
concluded that the expected loss rates for trade
receivables are a reasonable approximation of the
loss rates for the contract assets.

The expected loss rates are based on the payment
profiles of sales over a period of 36 month before
1 January 2018 and the corresponding historical
credit losses experienced within this period.
The historical loss rates are adjusted to reflect
current and forward-looking information on
macroeconomic factors affecting the ability of the
customers to settle the receivables. For customers
relating to the sales and distribution of natural gas
and other related products as well as the provision
of pipeline construction and connection services
in the PRC, the Group has identified the GDP
growth rate of the PRC to be the most relevant
factor. For oil and natural gas marketers relating
to the exploitation and production of crude oil and
natural gas in Canada, the Group has identified
that commodity price fluctuation to be the most
relevant factor. The Group adjusts the historical loss
rates based on expected changes in these factors
accordingly.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBRRHME

(continued) (#)

4  Financial risk management (Continued) 4 B¥EREEE
4.2 Financial risk factors (Continued) 42 H¥EMEZHE)
(b) Credit risk (Continued) (b) EEREE)
(iv) Credit risk of contract assets and trade (ivy EHNEERESERREZRFEE

receivables (Continued)

Contract assets and trade receivables are written
off when there is no reasonable expectation of
recovery. Indicators that there is no reasonable
expectation of recovery include, amongst others,
the failure of a debtor to engage in a repayment
plan with the Group, and a failure to make
contractual payments for a period of greater than 1
year past due.

Impairment losses on contract assets and trade
receivables are presented as net impairment losses
within operating profit. Subsequent recoveries of
amounts previously written off are credited against
the same line item.

Given the track record of regular repayment of
receivables from the customers, the directors of the
Company are of the opinion that the risk of default
by these customers is not significant. Therefore,
expected credit loss rate of contract assets and
trade receivables is assessed to be close to zero.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4  Financial risk management (Continued)

4.2

Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b)

Credit risk (Continued)

(v)

Credit risk of debt investments

Debt investments held by the Group are normally
only in liquid securities quoted on a recognised
stock exchange, except where entered into for
long-term strategic purposes. Management
consider “low credit risk” for listed bonds to be
an investment grade credit rating with at least
one major rating agency (Moody's: Baa3 or above;
Standard & Poor’s: BBB- or above; Fitch: BBB- or
above). Other instruments are considered to be
low credit risk when they have a low risk of default
and the issuer has a strong capacity to meet its
contractual cash flow obligations in the near term.
The Group has assessed that the expected credit
losses for these financial assets are not material
under the 12 months expected credit loss method.
Thus no loss allowance provision was recognised as
at the date of the statement of financial position.

The Group does not provide any other guarantees which
would expose the Group to credit risk.
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mEMBRRHME

(continued) (#)

4

Financial risk management (Continued)

4.2

Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b)

Credit risk (Continued)

Previous accounting policy for impairment of trade
and other receivables

In the prior year, the impairment of trade receivables was
assessed based on the incurred loss model. Individual
receivables which were known to be uncollectible were
written off by reducing the carrying amount directly. The
other receivables were assessed collectively to determine
whether there was objective evidence that an impairment
had been incurred but not yet been identified. For
these receivables the estimated impairment losses were
recognised in a separate provision for impairment. The
group considered that there was evidence of impairment
if any of the following indicators were present:

o significant financial difficulties of the debtor;

. default or delinquency in interest or principal
payments;

. probability that the debtor will enter bankruptcy or
other financial reorganisation; and

o observable data indicating a measurable decrease
in the estimated future cash flows, such as changes
in arrears or economic conditions that correlate
with defaults.

Receivables for which an impairment provision was
recognised were written off against the provision when
there was no expectation of recovering additional cash.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4  Financial risk management (Continued)

4.2 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(c)

Liquidity risk

Individual operating entities within the Group are
responsible for their own cash management, including
the short-term investment of cash surpluses and the
raising of loans to cover expected cash demands,
subject to approval by the Company’s Board when
the borrowings exceed certain predetermined levels
of authority. The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor
current and expected liquidity requirements to ensure
that it maintains sufficient reserves of cash and readily
realisable marketable securities and adequate committed
lines of funding from major financial institutions to meet
its liquidity requirements in the short and longer term.

The following tables detail the remaining contractual
maturities at date of the statement of financial position
of the Group’s financial liabilities, which are based
on contractual undiscounted cash flows (including
interest payments computed using contractual rates or,
if floating, based on rates current at the statement of
financial position date) and the earliest date the Group
can be required to pay:
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mEMBRRHME

(continued) (#)

4  Financial risk management (Continued) 4 BIBEMBEIR(E)
4.2  Financial risk factors (Continued) 42 B¥EAKBREEE)
(c) Liquidity risk (Continued) () REBELEFEEE)
Total Total Less than
carrying contractual 1 year or on Between Between
amount undiscounted demand 1o 2 years 2t0 5 years
15/
REAE  AHRRREH EEP ST 1225 1558
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Group &8 ThT T iR T Tt
As at 31 December 2018 RZE-N5+-f=1-H
Trade and other payables (excluding 25 REMERFE
other tax payables and salaries (PREELERRH
payables) RERES) 1,382,522 1,382,522 1,382,522 - -
Borrowings ’E 1,519,481 1,561,380 1,469,484 57,925 33971
Senior notes (Note) BRER (WD) 5,029,991 5,551,577 239,344 2,481,596 2,830,637
7,931,99% 8,495,479 3,091,350 2,539,521 2,864,608
As at 31 December 2017 RZE-+F+-R=1-H
Trade and other payables (excluding B 5 R £t Ef 5108
other tax payables and salaries (FREEMERH
payables) RERES) 1,404,899 1,404,899 1,404,899 5 5
Borrowings - 749,258 782,595 715,005 12,240 55,350
Senior notes (Note) EaZE (W) 4,970,240 5,771,121 - 2952817 2818304
7,124,397 7,958,615 2,119,904 2,965,057 2,873,654
Note: Mt &E -
The Group complied with senior notes covenant and did not SEEBETELEBRLYHRIT EB LR
trigger the callable terms. B A ERIER -
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4  Financial risk management (Continued)

4.3

Capital risk management

The Group's primary objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern,
so that it can continue to provide returns for shareholders and
benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal
capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its
capital structure to ensure optimal capital structure and
shareholder returns, taking into consideration the future
capital requirements of the Group and capital efficiency,
prevailing and projected profitability, projected operating cash
flows, projected capital expenditure and projected strategic
investment opportunities. In order to maintain or adjust the
capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of dividends
paid to shareholders, repurchase the Company’s shares, return
capital to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce
debt.

The Group monitors capital on the basis of available cash and
cash equivalents and current ratio as shown in and derived
from the consolidated statement of financial position. The table
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below analyses the Group's capital structure: SEEREHEZ DN
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+F
Cash and cash equivalents (HK$'000) HE4&REZEERD (FHT) 2,508,223 2,290,447
Current ratio (current assets divided by RBEH R (RENE E K A
current liabilities) REIAE) 1.02 1.08

The Group’s strategy is to maintain the current ratio above
1.00 and sufficient cash and cash equivalents to support the
operations and development of its business in the long term.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBRRHME

(continued) (#)

4  Financial risk management (Continued)
4.4  Fair value estimation
(i) Financial instruments carried at fair value

The following table presents the carrying value of the
financial instruments measured at fair value at the
statement of financial position date across the three
levels of the fair value hierarchy defined in HKFRS 7,
Financial Instruments: Disclosures, with the fair value
of each financial instruments categorised in its entirety
based on the lowest level of input that is significant to
that fair value measurement.

The levels are defined as follows:

° Level 1 (highest level): fair values measured using
quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical financial instruments.

° Level 2: fair values measured using quoted prices
in active market for similar financial instruments, or
using valuation techniques in which all significant
inputs are directly or indirectly based on observable
data.

. Level 3 (lowest level): fair values measured using

valuation techniques in which any significant input
is not based on observable market data.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Financial risk management (Continued)
4.4 Fair value estimation (Continued)

(i) Financial instruments carried at fair value (Continued)

e MR

(continued) (#)

NHEREE(E)
a4 DFEMEH(H)

(i) HAFEI KT AGE)

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
EF—EBR EFEBR E=ER #Et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FAT FAT FAT
As at 31 December 2018 W —Z— )\ F
+—-A=+—¢©
Financial assets at FVOCI: AT EF A H D
[Eh ¢
MBEE
— Listed equity - LR EE
investments 108,946 - - 108,946
— Listed debt - I EBKEE
investments 329,724 - - 329,724
— Unlisted debt - ELETMEBEE
investments - 450 - 450
438,670 450 - 439,120
As at 31 December 2017 RN-ZE—+F
+—-A=+—8©
Available-for-sale financial A] ff H & 1B E -
assets:
— Listed equity - EWRAEE
investments 136,733 - - 136,733
— Listed debt - FMEBKEE
investments 459,177 - - 459,177
— Unlisted debt - FLEMEBERE
investments - 450 = 450
Financial assets at FVPL: 12 A FEKLIEZ AR
ZHMBEE
— Listed debt - I HEBEE
investments 20,822 - - 20,822
— Unlisted debt - FLEMEBERE
investments - 28,020 = 28,020

616,732

During the year, there were no transfers between
instruments in level 1 and level 2.

28,470 =

645,202
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mEMBRRHME

(continued) (#)

4

Financial risk management (Continued)

4.4 Fair value estimation (Continued)

(i) Financial instruments carried at fair value (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Financial instruments in level 1

The fair value of financial instruments traded in
active markets is based on quoted market prices
at the date of the statement of financial position.
A market is regarded as active if quoted prices are
readily and regularly available from an exchange,
dealer, broker, industry group, pricing service,
or regulatory agency, and those prices represent
actual and regularly occurring market transactions
on an arm’s length basis. The quoted market
price used for financial assets held by the Group
is the current bid price. These instruments are
included in level 1. Instruments included in level
1 comprise primarily Hong Kong and Dow Jones
equity and debt investments classified as financial
assets at FVOCI (2017: trading securities or
available-for-sales).

Financial instruments in level 2

The fair value of financial instruments that are
not traded in an active market (for example,
over-the-counter derivatives) is determined by using
valuation techniques. These valuation techniques
maximise the use of observable market data where
it is available and rely as little as possible on entity
specific estimates. If all significant inputs required
to fair value an instrument are observable, the
instrument is included in level 2.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Financial risk management (Continued)
4.4 Fair value estimation (Continued)

(ii)  Fair values of financial instruments carried at other
than fair value

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial
instruments, including non-current assets carried at cost
or amortised cost are not materially different from their
fair values as at 31 December 2018 and 2017.

The Group uses a variety of methods and makes
assumptions that are based on market conditions existing
at each statement of financial position date. Quoted
market prices or dealer quotes for similar instruments are
used for long-term borrowings. Other techniques, such as
estimated discounted cash flows, are used to determine
fair value for the remaining financial instruments.

The carrying values less allowance for impairment
of current receivables and of current payables are a
reasonable approximation of their fair values. Estimated
discounted cash flows at the current market interest
rate are used to determine fair value for these financial
instruments (i.e. level 3-lowest level).

Critical accounting estimates and judgements

The Group’s management makes assumptions, estimates and
judgements in the process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies that affect the assets, liabilities, income and expenses in the
consolidated financial statements prepared in accordance with HKFRS.
The assumptions, estimates and judgements are based on historical
experience and other factors that are believed to be reasonable under
the circumstances. While the management reviews their judgements,
estimates and assumptions continuously, the actual results will seldom
equal to the estimates.

Estimates and judgements are regularly evaluated and are based
on historical experience and other factors, including expectations
of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances.
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mEMBRRHME

(continued) (#)

5 Critical accounting estimates and judgements
(Continued)

The matters described below are considered to be the most critical
in understanding the estimates and judgements that are involved in
preparing the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

(a) Estimate of impairment of loan and interest receivables
from and interest in an associate

The loss allowances for loan and interest receivables from an
associate are based on assumptions about default rate and
loss given default rate. The Group uses judgement in making
these assumptions and selecting the inputs to the impairment
calculation, based on the Group’s past history, existing market
conditions as well as forward looking estimates at the end
of each reporting period. Details of the key assumptions and
inputs used are disclosed in Note 4.2(b).

The Group conducts impairment reviews of the interest in
an associate if there is objective evidence of impairment as
a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial
recognition of the investment (a ‘loss event’) and that loss event
has an impact on the estimated future cash flows from the
investment that can be reliably estimated. Business valuation of
the associate was performed by management to determinate
the recoverability of the interest in associate after taking
into account of marketability and minority interest discount
in interest held which involves management estimates and
judgements such as commodity price growth, future production
profile, and discount rate.

Favourable changes to above assumptions may decrease the
impairment amount whereas unfavourable changes may
increase the provisions.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

5 Critical accounting estimates and judgements
(Continued)

(b)

Estimation of impairment of non-financial assets

The Group tests at least annually whether goodwill has suffered
any impairment. Property, plant and equipment and other
non-financial assets are also reviewed for possible impairments
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that
the carrying amount may not be recoverable. Determination
as to whether and how much an asset is impaired involves
management estimates and judgements such as future prices
of natural gas and crude oil. However, the impairment reviews
and calculations are based on assumptions that are consistent
with the Group’s business plans. Favourable changes to some
assumptions may allow the Group to avoid the need to impair
any assets in these years, whereas unfavourable changes may
cause the assets to become impaired.

The Group relied on experts to assess the geological prospects
for the discovery of oil in the oilfield and estimated the value
of oil to be produced in the future at a suitable discount rate
in order to calculate the present value. For drilling costs and
other exploration and evaluation assets, the Group determined
whether the related well costs are expensed if it is determined
that such economic viability is not attained after performing
further feasibility studies. Judgement is required by the Board
to determine key assumptions adopted in the cash flow
projections and changes to key assumptions can significantly
affect these cash flow projections and therefore the results of
the impairment reviews.

5
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBRRHME

(continued) (#)

5 Critical accounting estimates and judgements
(Continued)

(9]

(d)

Estimation of useful lives and residual values of property,
plant and equipment under the segment of “sales and
distribution of natural gas and other related products”

The Group’s management determines the estimated useful
lives and residual values for the Group's property, plant and
equipment in the segment of “Sales and distribution of natural
gas and other related products”. This estimate is based on
the historical experience of the actual useful lives and residual
values of property, plant and equipment and land use right of
similar nature and functions. It could change significantly as
a result of technological advancement and innovations in the
natural gas industry. Management will adjust the depreciation
charge where residual values vary with previously estimated,
or it will write-off or write-down technically obsolete or
non-strategic assets that have been abandoned or sold. Actual
residual values may differ from estimated residual values.
Periodic review could result in a change in depreciable lives and
residual values and therefore depreciation in the future periods.

Estimate of petroleum reserve under the segment of
"exploitation and production of crude oil and natural
gas”

Estimates of petroleum reserves are key elements in the
Group's investment decision-making process. They are also
an important element in testing for impairment. Changes
in total proved plus probable petroleum reserves will affect
unit-of-production depreciation and depletion recorded in the
Group's consolidated financial statements for property, plant
and equipment related to oil and gas production activities.
A reduction in proved plus probable reserves will increase
depreciation and depletion charges. Petroleum reserve
estimates are subject to revision, either upward or downward,
based on new information, such as from development drilling
and production activities or from changes in economic factors,
including product prices, contract terms or development plans.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Revenue and segment information

The Group’s principal activities are the sales and distribution of
natural gas, crude oil and other related products and provision of
construction and connection services of gas pipelines in the PRC,
and the exploitation and production of crude oil and natural gas in
Canada. Revenue for the year comprises the following:

e MR

(continued) (#)
EEBERDEHBER

SEXZREHERDHERAR  RH
REMBRERMNTEEHMRE S
BEREERE  AREMERFARK
EERBMERRAR FREXREEMN
DR

2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Sales and distribution of natural gas and  $§E NEXKXAR L EMBEE S
other related products 8,475,905 6,773,775
Gas pipeline construction and connection MARE 82 & MR REKRA
services income 517,422 524,680
Revenue from exploitation and production B N 4 E Rm M XARABU A
of crude oil and natural gas 416,804 352,825
9,410,131 7,651,280

The Group identifies operating segments and prepares segment
information based on the regular internal financial information
reported to the executive directors for the purposes of resource
allocation and assessment of performance focuses more specifically
on sales of natural gas, gas pipeline construction and connection; and
exploitation and production of crude oil and natural gas.

SERBEHANTEZTERHERD
e B RIRAT Al 2 AR BT 15 & B Bl AR
EOMERHEITER XEZAER
HERAR MRABEERZERBERUR
R EERBERASR
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mEMBRRHME

(continued) (#)

6

Revenue and segment information
(Continued)

The Group has presented the following three reportable segments for
the year ended 31 December 2018:

- sales and distribution of natural gas and other related products

- gas pipeline construction and connection
- exploitation and production of crude oil and natural gas

No operating segments have been aggregated to form the above
reportable segments.

The executive directors assess the performance of the business
segments based on profit before taxation without allocation of
other gains, net, finance income, finance costs, share of losses of
investments accounted for using the equity method, reversal of
impairment losses on oil and gas properties under property, plant and
equipment, written off of exploration and evaluation assets and other
unallocated corporate expenses, which is consistent with these in the
consolidated financial statements. Meanwhile, the Group does not
allocate assets and liabilities to its segments and report the sales from
external customers by geographical market, as the executive directors
do not use these information to allocate resources to or evaluate the
performance of operating segment. Therefore, the Group does not
report a measure of segment assets and liabilities for each reportable
segment and a measure of sales by geographical market.

Information regarding the Group’s reportable segments as provided
to the executive directors for the purpose of resources allocation
and assessment of segment performance for the years ended 31
December 2018 and 2017 is set out below.
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Revenue and segment information

(Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2018:

Segment revenue and results
Segment revenue
Recognised at a point in time
Recognised over time

Sales to external customers

Segment results

Finance income

Other gains, net

Finance costs

Written off of exploration and
evaluation assets

Share of losses of investments
accounted for using the equity
method

Unallocated corporate expenses

Profit before taxation
Taxation

Profit for the year

PBUARER

D EEA
RE-HRI#ER
R—BERNHER

MERFHER
DHFE
LI T ON
Efo iz F8

HBER
R R A E D

D EREREAR
ZRENER
ADBREEFAX

W Bt A )
2

FPEH
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mEMBRRHME

(continued) (#)

6 Revenue and segment information 6 ZEEBRIBER(E)
(Continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2017: HE-_ZT—+H&+-_A=1+—BIL=EE:
Sales and Exploitation
distribution and
of natural Gas pipeline production
gas and construction of crude oil
other related and and natural
products connection gas Group
HER L0
BRXAER MREBRE HERM
HitBEm REK RRAR £H
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TER TER FTEL
Segment revenue and results PHMAREE
Sales to external customers IBEEHER 6,773,775 524,680 352,825 7,651,280
Segment results DELE 664,093 242,982 76,842 983,917
Finance income B A 101,741
Other gains, net Hiphzs o 38 22,901
Finance costs MER (203,677)
Reversal of impairment losses on oil ~ #1% - BERREBE T AREE
and gas properties under property, R EEEEE
plant and equipment - 4,402 4,402
Written off of exploration and BRRAHEEE
evaluation assets - (2,357) (2,357)
Share of losses of investments NEERAEREARZ
accounted for using the equity RENER
method (2,356)
Unallocated corporate expenses APECERY (93,105)
Profit before taxation B i B A 811,466
Taxation 18 (188,527)
Profit for the year FRHEH 622,939

No external customers of the Group contributed over 10.0% of the
Group's revenue for the years ended 31 December 2018 and 2017.

Bz Z2—N\HErx-_ZFT—+F+=-A
=+—HALFE EEREINBRELR
EEZWMAFERER10.0% °

15(Q CHINAOILAND GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2018




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR

(continued) (#)

Revenue and segment information 6 EXBERDEBER(E)

(Continued)

Bz ZEZ—N\Frk-_FT—+tF+=HA
Z+—HLEFE £SEEMETSE D
ZEEZOWHEIMT

Analysis of the Group's assets by geographical market for the years
ended 31 December 2018 and 2017 is set out below:

2018 2017
—E-N\f B
Additions to Additions to
non-current non-current
Total assets assets Total assets assets
BEE AHEFRDEE LEE  ABERHEE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TER TER TEx
Hong Kong Bk 145,069 - 137,351 -
Mainland China A it 12,692,966 835,760 12,018,750 1,020,397
Canada nex 2,430,088 321,559 2,419,335 232,466
Total Sl 15,268,123 1,157,319 14,575,436 1,252,863
Unallocated ADE
Investments accounted for FREREANRZRE
using the equity method 312,754 321,167
Deferred tax assets EERBEEE 7,646 4,796
Financial assets through other st AH {12 E UK
comprehensive income ZHBEE 439,120 =
Available-for-sale financial EEEHEEE
assets - 596,360
Financial assets at fair value BAVTELBERARIHBEE
through profit and loss - 48,842
Total assets BEE 16,027,643 15,546,601
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mEMBRRHME

(continued) (#)

7 Other income 7 Hftlg A
2018 2017
—®-N% e
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHExT FHEIT
Government subsidies XK 48 B 18,885 14,737
Service income AR 75 U A 5,853 5,733
Dividend income A% B U A 1,256 3,056
Rental income e WA 1,738 1,822
Others Hith 2,337 4914
30,069 30,262
8 Other gains, net 8 Hihllizm @ FH
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—LF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHEIT
Fair value gains on financial assets at fair AT ELER ARNVHEE
value through profit or loss A EKE = 1,394
Gains on disposals of debt investments at  H&EZR A FE A H M2 @K
fair value through other comprehensive ZEBEE R
income 2,097 -
Gains on disposals of available-for-sale HEAHRBEEER RS
assets - 17,748
Gain on disposal of an associate (Note 34) & —EH 4 D A1 2 (3E34) - 3,759
Gain on bargain purchase (Note 33) B W (RE33) 12,221 =
Gain on disposal of a land use right b A W e 4,618 -
18,936 22,901
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e MR

(continued) (#)

Operating profit

Operating profit has been arrived after charging/(crediting) the

following items:

2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+tF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FE T FAT
Employee benefit expenses (Note 11) EERFFAZ (ME11) 384,358 333,359
Minimum lease payments under operating &+ RIEFHRELLHAE
leases for leasehold land and buildings = 13,600 13,494
Cost of inventories recognised as expense #3245 X 17 &K A
— Purchase of inventories -BERE 6,982,544 5,415,724
- Change of inventories during the year - FRAEFEEE 38,340 53,863
Auditor’s remuneration ZBETE & 2,300 2,300
Depreciation and depletion of property, Y BEMEEBETERER
plant and equipment (Note 16) (MtzE16) 470,165 428,491
Amortisation of land use rights (Note 18)  + {7 A fE#E 45 (MfI5E18) 8,769 8,503
Amortisation of intangible assets (Note 19) &, & E=#45 (M:E19) 3,192 2,521
Losses on disposals of property, plant and HE%% ME MR EHEE
equipment 872 1,652
Net exchange gains B 5 Uy F R (527) (28)
Write off of exploration and evaluation BVR R AP B E R (P EE17)
assets (Note 17) 5,651 2,357
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(continued) (#)

10 Finance income and costs 10 BBKAREHR
2018 2017
—E-N\F —ZFT—+F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
Finance income from: BB ARE :
Interest income on bank deposits WITHF AT S WA 50,133 30,218
Interest income on debt investments at BAFEFAEMEE KBS ZE
aveld B EHFE WA 37,076 29,704
Loan to an associate (Note 23(d)) BT —HBE QR (M 3E23(d) 58,657 40,898
Loans to third parties BERFE=F 952 921
146,818 101,741
Finance costs from: BEAKRE :
Interest expense on: FMEEMA:
Bank borrowings RITEE (56,466) (23,578)
Other borrowings Hipfg & (1,351) (2,494)
Senior notes BEER (246,942) (274,968)
Accretion of assets retirement obligation & & %R i A VE R AN (M 5E31)
(Note 31) (2,970) (2,611)
Less: Amounts capitalised (Note 16(iii)) B BAAR{EeE (M aE16(i0) 101,017 99,974
(206,712) (203,677)
Net finance costs S ERFE (59,894) (101,936)
11 Employee benefit expenses, including 1M EERMNEX BEZEH
directors’ emoluments €
2018 2017
—E-)N\#F —FT—+F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Salaries, wages and bonuses e IERES 322,496 293,359
Pension costs — defined BIRE A - R EHRGTE
contribution plans 40,593 35,256
Share option i e e 3,953 3,753
Share awards f& 1 22 E) 17,316 991
384,358 333,359
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Notes to the Consolidated

Employee benefit expenses, including 11
directors’ emoluments (Continued)

(@)

Five highest paid individuals

The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest in
the Group for the year include 1 (2017: 1) director whose
emolument is reflected in the analysis presented in Note 12(a).
The emoluments paid or payable to the remaining 4 (2017: 4)
individuals during the year are as follows:

Financial Statements

e MR

(continued) (#)

EBERMNAX  BEESH
& ()

(a) HEEBEFMAL

SEFNAERSMEZALE
BIREE(ZT—tF 18) &
e 2 ERM 12279 °
FRAENHENTEHRIB(ZE
—tF AB)ATOBEWT

2018 2017
—E-N\E —E—LF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT

Salaries, allowances and e EUHREDAIZR
benefits in kind 24,769 17,881

Retirement benefits scheme BARAE R FH SRR

contributions 18 18
24,787 17,899

The number of employees whose remuneration fell within the
following band was as follows:

BUATHEEEZEE ABWT :

Number of employees

EEAHE
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+F
HK$4,000,001 to HK$5,000,000 4,000,001/ 7t £5,000,0007% 7T = 4
HK$5,000,001 to HK$6,000,000 5,000,001 7T 6,000,000/ 7T 4 —

No emoluments were paid or payable to the directors and
above highest paid individuals as an inducement to join the
Group or as compensation for loss of office during the financial
years ended 31 December 2018 and 2017.

HE_T-N\FRZF—tF+=
A=+ BLEUVBEE SEITE
TNSENTAME FTEER L
MEmEHEHNoES  FAREBERS
MBEESIEARSHB 2 HE -
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11 Employee benefit expenses, including 11 BEERAFAX  BREESM
directors’ emoluments (Continued) & (&
(b) Senior management's emoluments (b) SHREEEKEFHMH
Details of remuneration paid to members of senior management BUTHeHENENaRER
fell within the following bands: [E Rk B 5 NS -

Number of employees

EEAZ

2018 2017

—2-N\F —E—+F

HK$0 to HK$1,000,000 0/ 7L £1,000,0005% 7T = 7
HK$1,000,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,000,001/ 7T 22,000,000/ 7T 8 2
HK$2,000,001 to HK$3,000,000 2,000,001 7T 23,000,000 7T 1 S
HK$3,000,001 to HK$4,000,000 3,000,001/ 7T £4,000,0007% 7T 2 2
HK$4,000,001 to HK$5,000,000 4,000,001/ 7C £5,000,000/%8 7T - 6
HK$5,000,001 to HK$6,000,000 5,000,001 7t £6,000,0007% 7T 5 -
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12 Benefits and interests of directors (disclosures
required by section 383 of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622), Companies
(Disclosure of Information about Benefits
of Directors) Regulation (Cap. 622G) and HK
Listing Rules)

(a) Directors’ emoluments

Emoluments paid or receivable in respect of person’s services as
a director or services in connection with the management of the

e MR

(continued) (#)
12 ESMmRER(FTEQT
1Bl (3£622F ) £3831% ~ A
AEEESNRER)RA
(56622GE) R E B LM 8|
EREE)

(a) EEME

ENHEARREMBARES
SRHEEREEHERMORSE 2

affairs, whether of the Company or its subsidiary undertakings: AtTroMesiEEKEBS T :
Employer’s
contribution
Salaries, toa
allowances retirement
and benefits benefit
Fees in kind scheme Total
=E=1]
2= 1. RAER
e RENHE ST MR ok
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TERT TER TER
Executive directors: HTES:
Xu Tie-liang THR (THER)
(Chief Executive Officer) 120 7,211 18 7,349
Cheung Shing (resigned on March 3Rk (R =2 —/\F
27, 2018) ZAZt+EREA) 54 - - 54
Guan Yijun BHE 120 1,170 18 1,308
Zhu Yuan K 54 - - 54
Liu Chunsun AEF 67 780 - 847
Independent non-executive BUFHTEE:
directors:
Li Yun-long FEF 120 - - 120
Wang Guang-tian TEA 120 - - 120
Yang Jie afk 120 - - 120
Total st 775

9,161 36 9,972
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mEMBRRHME

(continued) (#)

12 Benefits and interests of directors (disclosures 12 EENNZRER(BELT

required by section 383 of the Hong Kong 1Bl (£622F) £383fk -
Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622), Companies A(FEEEEFNEER)EFEA
(Disclosure of Information about Benefits (36622GE) REB L HR A
of Directors) Regulation (Cap. 622G) and HK ERWE) (&)
Listing Rules) (Continued)
(a) Directors’ emoluments (Continued) () EE=ME(#E)
Details of remuneration of directors for the year ended 31 Bz-_Z2—+&#+_-_A=+—H
December 2017 were as follows: HFEZEEMEFHBLOT -
Employer's
contribution
Salaries, toa
allowances retirement
and benefits benefit
Fees in kind scheme Total
ExH
e B RINER
we REMH R AR AR ek
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FEL FEL AT FTEL
Executive directors: HITES:
Xu Tie-liang TR (TTHEEH)
(Chief Executive Officer) 120 10,348 18 10,486
Cheung Shing (resigned on March ~ 3RE (R T — N\ £
27,2018) =A-t+tHEM) 120 - - 120
Guan Yijun WEE 120 1,170 18 1,308
Zhu Yuan Kix 120 - - 120

Independent non-executive BUFHTES:

directors:

Shi Xun-zhi (resigned on May 18, S FIM(R-ZE—+4F

2017) RATNBEE) 45 - - 45
Li Yun-long e 120 - - 120
Wang Guang-tian TEM 120 = = 120
Yang Jie (appointed on May 18, B4 (R-T—+ 4%

2017) AA+NBEZE) 75 - - /5
Total @t 840 11,518 36 12,394
No directors of the Company waived any emoluments and no BMEANREETNELMAHNE - £F
emoluments were paid by the Group to any of the directors mEREAATREEZMNMES - E
of the Company as an accepting office as director or as a BEXEERUZEENETE
compensation for loss of office as director. BB omE -

158 CHINAOIL AND GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2018

y .



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

12 Benefits and interests of directors (disclosures
required by section 383 of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622), Companies
(Disclosure of Information about Benefits
of Directors) Regulation (Cap. 622G) and HK
Listing Rules) (Continued)

(b)

(@

(d)

(e)

()

Directors’ retirement benefits

No retirement benefits were paid to or receivable by any
directors in respect of their other services in connection with
the management of the affairs of the Company or its subsidiary
undertaking (2017: Nil).

Directors’ termination benefits

No payment was made to directors as compensation for the
early termination of the appointment during the year (2017:
Nil).

Consideration provided to third parties for making
available directors’ services

No payment was made to the former employer of directors
for making available the services of them as a director of the
Company (2017: Nil).

Information about loans, quasi-loans and other dealings
in favour of directors, controlled bodies corporate by and
connected entities with such directors

There are no loans, quasi-loans and other dealings in favour of
directors, controlled bodies corporate by and connected entities
with such directors during the year (2017: Nil).

Directors’ material interests in transactions, arrangements
or contracts

No significant transactions, arrangements and contracts in
relation to the Group's business to which the Company was a
party and in which a director of the Company had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of
the year or at any time during the year (2017: Nil).

L N

e M RRME

(continued) (#)

12 ESFERER(FELT
155 (55622F ) 5£3831% ~ 2
A(FREESENZER)FA
(36622GE) REB L H R A
BEXRIFE) (&

(b)

(o]

(d)

(e)

(f)
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mEMBRRHME

(continued) (#)

13 Taxation

No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made as the Group
did not have any assessable profits subject to Hong Kong profits tax
for the year (2017: Nil).

Pursuant to the relevant PRC corporate income tax rules and
regulations, withholding tax is imposed on dividends declared in
respect of profits earned by the Company’s PRC subsidiaries from
1 January 2008 onwards at 10% (2017: 10%). Certain entities of
the Group with Hong Kong business and directly owns at least
25% of the capital of the PRC subsidiaries are entitled to the lower
withholding tax rate at 5% (2017: 5%).

In accordance with the relevant PRC corporate income tax laws,
regulations and implementation guidance note, subsidiaries in
Mainland China are subject to the PRC corporate income tax rate at
25% (2017: 25%). Certain subsidiaries are entitled to tax concessions
and tax relief whereby the profits of those subsidiaries are taxed at a
preferential income tax rate of 15% (2017: 15%).

Canada income tax has been provided at the rate of 27% on
the estimated assessable profit for the year (2017: 27%), which
represented the tax rate in Alberta, Canada and the Canada’s federal
tax rate of 12% (2017: 12%) and 15% (2017: 15%) respectively.

Taxation on other overseas profits has been calculated on the
estimated assessable profit for the year at the applicable rates of
taxation prevailing in the jurisdictions in which the Group operates.

13

i 18

H 0 68 B A AN AR 3 AR R AR (T 2R U
ERANBHRERBEN  HABESE
BRNEREREER(ZT—LF : &) -

RIEEE R B EMEHERIES &
“E-NE—A—BE mAFFEHN
BARFTHELZ B BRHRREZI0% (=
T—+F 10%) ZHEEWEBINR - &
THEEAEGCEEEREHREKBR
AELB%BRAZEBEEBZES% (=
T—+F 5%) ZEEBEIH -

BBERERRCEMSHE KHARE
KE 4B Bl - AR B A B 89 B B A Bl IR 25%
(ZF—F 1 25%) 2 HEHMPHD
¥FBB - BTHWEBARNZEMREE
BEREL B ZEWMBAAIZEF
NEEFRBRERIS% (T —+F
15% ) {1 Bt ©

FAME KBTI IE27%E 5T E R
mHFIR(ZE—1F 1 27%) - BV ER
RBERMEREBRESFH12% (=
T—+F  12%) R15%(ZF—tF :
15%) °

Hh 8 5133 R T oA 95 4 R E AR
380 9 3R 47 Bt % 1208 7 £ B R B
sHEBIE -

2018 2017
—E-N\F T —LtF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET

Current tax: EHATIE
PRC corporate income tax FRE DTSR 224,985 163,592
Under provision in prior years MEFEREIR 3,743 3,957
228,728 167,549
Deferred tax (Note 30) EEFIE (MF5E30) 21,573 20,978
Taxation WIE 250,301 188,527

There is no tax impact relating to components of other comprehensive
income for the year ended 31 December 2018 (2017: Nil).
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13 Taxation (Continued) 13 BiIE(4E)
The taxation on the Group’s profit before taxation differs from the SEBRFRAI N2 HBLEFEFRBERSE
theoretical amount that would arise using the weighted average tax B ZINEEORREAZERESEES
rate applicable to profits of the Group as follows: BT
2018 2017
—E2-N\F —E—tF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FE T FHET
Profit before taxation B %5 A1 328 ) 928,526 811,466
Tax calculated at the applicable rates REBME AR ZERATEAE
in the tax jurisdictions concerned K118 282,266 228,038
Tax effect of income not subject BERBWANREZE
to taxation (27,180) (36,092)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible TR BB E
for tax purpose 16,064 13,172
Tax effect of tax concessions Tt OB S Y B 75 7 2 (34,296) (27,327)
Unrecognised tax losses RERBIEEE 7,500 6,779
Utilisation of unrecognised tax losses AR IEEE (5,725) -
Withholding tax on dividend income f& S ATE T 7,929 -
Under provision in prior years BEFERETR 3,743 3,957
Taxation 1E 250,301 188,527

The weighted average tax rate is 30.4% (2017: 28.1%). The increase
is caused by change in the profitability of the Group’s subsidiaries
in the respective jurisdictions, especially due to the increase in the
loss before taxation for entities with zero tax rate in certain tax
jurisdictions.

MEFIH K B304%(ZF —+ &
281%) c ZE M BEEBR S A EERE
BRI ZEFENES  LHEES
FHERZEREREATZOETEND
BREEATESIBIG INATER o
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14 Dividend 14 IRE
2018 2017
—®-N% —E—t%
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
Proposed final dividend of HK cents 0.4 R R B AR B B AR B AR 0.4 111
(2017: HK cents 0.35) per ordinary share  (ZZ—+4 : 0.35%1l) 23,356 20,390

A final dividend relating to the year ended 31 December 2017
amounted to HK$20,390,000 was fully paid on 6 July 2018.

The Board proposed a final dividend of HK cents 0.4 (2017: HK cents
0.35) per ordinary share for the year ended 31 December 2018 on 27
March 2019 amounting to a total of approximately HK$23,356,000.
This proposed final dividend is not reflected as a dividend payable
as of 31 December 2018, but will be recorded as a distribution of
contributed surplus for the year ending 31 December 2019.

15 Earnings per share
(a) Basic

The calculation of basic earnings per share is based on the
Group's profit attributable to owners of the Company of
approximately HK$281,904,000 (2017: HK$250,467,000)
and weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue less
shares held under share award scheme during the year of
approximately 4,976,719,000 shares (2017: 5,148,640,000
shares).
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HE-_ZT—+tF+-A=+—ALHF
€ 2 K H#AP% £.20,390,000 8 TE R =&
—NFLAXNBEHEENM -

BEEREZFN _ZT—hLh&E=ZA=-++t
ARNEBEE-_ZE—NF+A=+—
AEFEZARBERESRERBRKRLE
W(=ZZF—+F :035/811W) BEHB
23,356,000/ JT ° & o K R H R B I
ARBAERZZE—NF+ZA=+—
AZEARE  BEREBE-Z—NLF
T AT —HLEFEARERUNES
BRI ©

FRAF
(@ EX

RETEEREAZFRTHIER QA
#EB A JE (L 5 Es F49281,904,000
B (ZE—+4F :250,467,000%
L) RFEARBEBETEBRIMNEFY
HUREFNIRIE R BB T2 TS
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(continued) (#)

15 Earnings per share (Continued) 15 BREBF (&
(b) Diluted (b) #8
Diluted earnings per share is calculated by adjusting the BREBESAENDEBREZRME A#
weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding to BEHEOZEBREEBRZBRT
assume conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary shares. HEKARDRITETRK Z NE
The Company has two categories of dilutive potential ordinary FHE e AR EMBEEREEE N2
shares: share options and shares held under the share award L@l BRERFRNAERMDE
scheme during the year. For the share options, a calculation BErElmBAaNR D - SLEREM
is performed to determine the number of shares that could = BB ERBEMEWRNREKT
have been acquired at fair value (determined as the average FHEBRECRABEEEEER
annual market share price of the Company’s shares) based RFEENRBBRD22FFHm
on the monetary value of the subscription rights attached to SREAE)BAZEROEE kXA
outstanding share options and future service cost. RARTG R AN RET & -
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+tF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Profit attributable to owners of the NG F SNy
Company 281,904 250,467

Weighted average number of ordinary & 2 317 % 8 AR AL 10 22 B 51
shares in issue less shares held under ZIIE T AT M 1E 2 INEFH

the share award scheme during the (T

year (thousands) 4,976,719 5,148,640
Adjustment for share options and B AR I BB AR 10 SR B (FAR)

awarded shares (thousands) 20,933 7,595

Weighted average number of ordinary & i% 58 2 ) 3 38 % b4 7 9 2%
shares for diluted earning per share (F )
(thousands) 4,997,652 5,156,235
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16 Property, plant and equipment 16 Y%  -BMENRZ®E
(Note (i)
Plant and Oil and gas (Note (i)~ Construction
Buildings machinery properties Pipelines Others in progress Total
(B3 () (B
BT  HERBE HREE 3 ift ERIRE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

TERL TERL TERL TEL TEL TEL TEL

As at 1 January 2017 RZB-t§-A-H
Cost A 741,328 921,251 3,407,931 2,559,323 333,958 1,323,504 9,287,295
Accumulated depreciation and 2t HEREH

depletion (143,551) (311,666) (1,443,229) (566,396) (197,461) - (2,662,303)
Net book value EHTE 597,777 609,585 1,964,702 1,992,927 136,497 1,323,504 6,624,992

Year ended 31 December 2017  HZ-2-+t%

TZRZ+-HLEE

At 1 January 2017 R-E-t£-f-A 597,777 609,585 1,964,702 1,992,927 136,497 1,323,504 6,624,992
Currency realignment AR 14,202 11,733 97,946 157,558 33,824 74,233 389,49
Additions AE 12,515 26,136 225,676 22,065 14,851 833,944 1,135,187
Transfers g 60,587 109,295 - 566,996 2,989 (739,867) -
Transfer from exploration and EREORITEEE

evaluation assets (Note 17) (W17 S S 14,320 S S = 14,320
Disposals/written-off HE /b (832) (1.923) S (2,915 (9,017) 5 (14,687)
Depreciation and depletion ERFERIBAFE (i)

for the year (Note (ii) (29.312) (74,382) (169,524) (123,299) (31,914) - (428,491)
Reversal of impairment losses MEEEEE (Hv)

(Note (iv)) - - 4,402 - - - 4,402
At 31 December 2017 RZF-+F+-A=1+-A 654,877 680,444 2,131,522 2,613,332 147,230 1,491,814 7,725,219
As at 31 December 2017 R-Z-tE+ZB=1-H
Cost KA 836,175 1,095,468 3,830,865 3,378,691 397,775 1,491,814 11,030,788
Accumulated depreciation, ZHHE  BERAMA

depletion and impairment (181,298) (415,024) (1,693,343) (765,359) (250,545) - (3,305,569)
Net book value FHFE 654,877 680,444 2,137,522 2,613,332 147,230 1,491,814 7,725,219
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16 Property, plant and equipment (Continued) 16 Y% -WMERRZ®(E)
(Note (iii))
Plant and Oil and gas (Note (i))  Construction
Buildings machinery properties Pipelines Others in progress Total
(Hr3E(H) (B i)
BF BER#S HREE EE Bt fRIE At
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

TEn TEn TEn TEn TEn TEn TEn

Year ended 31 December 2018  BZE-Z-\&

TZA=t-ALEE
At 1 January 2018 R=E-N\5-A-H 654,877 680,444 2,131,522 2,613,332 147,230 1,491,814 1,725,219
Currency realignment ELEE (39,766) (37,655) (111,284) (169,680) (8,299) (96,166) (462,850)
Acquisition of business (Note 33) U275 (H333) - - 64,971 - - - 64,971
Additions AE 2,612 6,122 264,346 1,911 25,664 743,214 1,053,869
Transfers gn 54,575 29,506 - 499,304 1318 (584,703) -
Transfer from exploration and EREBRIGHEEE
evaluation assets (Note 17) (RtzE17) - - 21,268 - - - 21,268
Disposals/written-off HE /b - (1,337) - (5,636) (617) = (7,590)
Depreciation and depletion for the /131 & [ 18 (¥ (i)
year (Note (ii)) (26,151) (74,692) (173,575) (163,741) (32,006) - (470,165)
At 31 December 2018 RIZ-\ETZA=1t-H 646,147 602,388 2,203,248 2,785,490 133,290 1,554,159 1,924,722
As at 31 December 2018 RZE-NE+ZF=1-H
Cost A 841,702 1,062,561 3,980,739 3,661,474 386,037 1,554,159 11,486,672
Accumulated depreciation,depletion Z3+47% - BERHE
and impairment (195,555) (460,173) (1,777,491) (875,984) (252,747) - (3,561,950)
Net book value BEFE 646,147 602,388 2,203,248 2,785,490 133,290 1,554,159 1924122
Notes: W SE
(i) Others mainly represent motor vehicles, furniture, fixtures and 0] HEMFrEBEREAEE - KM HERFH
equipment, and tool and moulds with net book values amounting to BERITAELUERERE EEmEFES R
approximately HK$34,684,000 (2017: HK$42,085,000), HK$31,741,000 4 /& 34,684,000 7 T (= & — + F
(2017: HK$38,764,000) and HK$66,865,000 (2017: HK$66,381,000) 42,085,000 # JT) * 31,741,000 #& T
respectively. (=Z T — £ & :38,764,000 & 7T)
X 66,865,000 /& T(= & — £ F
66,381,000/ 7C) °
(ii) Depreciation and depletion of approximately HK$453,034,000 (ii) 1B K& 18 49453,034,0008 T(Z &
(2017: HK$406,998,000), HK$1,183,000 (2018: HK$1,253,000) and — + £ : 406,998,000 7T) * 1,183,000
HK$15,948,000 (2017: HK$20,240,000) have been charged in cost B (ZZF — J\F 1,253,000 7 JT)
of sales, selling and distribution costs and administrative expenses &% 15,948,000 & w(=— & — + £F :
respectively. 20,240,000 7T) 7 BI A 85 & B AR - 88

ERBAKRARITHRFAS PO -
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16 Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(iii)

During the year, the Group has capitalised borrowing costs amounting
to HK$101,017,000 (2017: HK$99,974,000) on qualifying assets.
Borrowing costs were capitalised at the weighted average rate of its
general borrowings of 5.3% (2017: 5.4%).

The recoverable amount of oil and gas properties is determined at
the value-in-use using a discounted cash flow method and is assessed
at the Cash Generating Units ("CGUs") level within the segment of
“exploitation and production of crude oil and natural gas”.

The Group regularly assesses market commodity prices, costs to carry
out planned drilling programs, drilling results, and reservoir performance
to determine if there are any indicators of impairment of the Group’s
assets.

The fair value measurement of the Group’s oil and gas properties is
designated Level 3 on the fair value hierarchy.

The key assumptions for the calculation are those regarding the
discount rates and expected changes in future oil prices. The expected
future oil prices for the next five years ranged from US$58.6 to US$72.8
per barrel (2017: US$57.5 to US$71.2 per barrel). Forecast benchmark
crude oil price assumptions tended to be stable because short-term
increases or decreases in prices were not considered indicative of
long-term price levels, but were nonetheless subject to change. The
Group used a pre-tax discount rates ranging from 8% to 20% (2017: 8%
to 20%) to discount future cash flows from the Group’s CGU(s). These
rates differed based upon classification of reserve type, commodity type,
timing of future development expenditures and operating burdens.

As at 31 December 2018, a one percent increase in the pre-tax discount
rate would result in an impairment of approximately HK$110,700,000
(2017: HK$115,400,000), while a five percent decrease in the forecast
operating cash flows would result in an impairment of approximately
$98,600,000 (2017: HK$104,700,000).
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(iii)

(iv)
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Exploration and evaluation assets

e MR

(continued) (#)

17 HERFEEE

2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+tF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FE T FAT
Cost B 7R

At 1 January Rn—A—H 215,189 213,548
Currency realignment B R (9,669) 11,528
Additions NE 4,380 6,790
Written off (Note 9) R (K EE9) (5.651) (2,357)

Transfer to oil and gas properties under BEEYE  HENMKREET

property, plant and equipment MR EE (MEE16)

(Note 16) (21,268) (14,320)
At 31 December R+Z—ZA=+—H” 182,981 215,189

Exploration and evaluation assets represent the Group’s costs of
acquiring licenses and interests in undeveloped lands in West Central
Alberta, Canada, which are pending the determination of proven
or probable oil and gas reserves. The costs are accumulated in cost
centers by well, field, or exploration area pending determination of
technical feasibility and commercial viability.

The technical feasibility and commercial viability of extracting mineral
resource is considered to be determined when proven reserves are
determined to exist. A review of each exploration license or field is
carried out, at least annually, to ascertain whether proven reserves
have been discovered.

Land use rights

MR M HEEREER NS AN @A
EREPEBAMBE LN ERER
WA  BRFEEEHRPA SRR H
REE - BRERABEEB, HEXEY
RERERKARTLRE  FEERIMN R
BERATIE -

EETFHERARER RRBEEER
WERMEEEANTHERRREEE - &=
LEFHBYRF T ESORBETIRE -
BRESCDHBRKTAFRE -

18 £ ith {5 FA &

2018 2017

—E2-N\F —E—LF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHET FHET

Net book value REFE

At 1 January Rn—HA—H 456,458 393,344
Currency realignment B (25,426) 27,211
Additions = 3,886 44,406
Disposals & (10,915) -
Amortisation for the year (Note 9) FRE (M) (8,769) (8,503)
At 31 December Rt+-—_A=+—H 415,234 456,458
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19 Intangible assets 19 B EE
Other
intangible
Goodwill assets Total
(R Hth\EEE #et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAET T
As at 1 January 2017 R=—ZT—t&—HF—H
Cost (DN 971,746 38,958 1,010,704
Accumulated amortisation Rty - (8,413) (8,413)
Net book value BREFE 971,746 30,545 1,002,291
Year ended 31 December 2017 HE=-Z—tF
+ZA=+—-BLEE
At 1 January 2017 R-_ZE—+F—HA—H 971,746 30,545 1,002,291
Currency realignment B 25,753 2,105 27,858
Additions NE - 7,696 7,696
Amortisation for the year FAEHE (KEE9)

(Note 9) - (2,521) (2,521)
At 31 December 2017 R-ZE—+t&+_-_A=+—H 997,499 37,825 1,035,324
As at 31 December 2017 R-ZBE—tH&+=-H=+—H
Cost [N 997,499 48,586 1,046,085
Accumulated amortisation Bty = (10,761) (10,761)
Net book value BREFE 997,499 37,825 1,035,324
Year ended 31 December 2018 HZE_ZT—N\F

+TZA=+—HLEFE
At 1 January 2018 RZZE—NF—HA—H 997,499 37,825 1,035,324
Currency realignment B R (58,694) (1,992) (60,686)
Additions NE - 3,080 3,080
Amortisation for the year FAEHE (KEE9)

(Note 9) - (3,192) (3,192)
At 31 December 2018 RZE—-N\F+=—A=+—H 938,805 35,721 974,526
As at 31 December 2018 R-ZE-N\F+=-ZA=+—8H
Cost AR 938,805 49,045 987,850
Accumulated amortisation Z2atE Y - (13,324) (13,324)
Net book value BREFE 938,805 35,721 974,526
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Intangible assets (Continued)

Note:

Goodwill is allocated to a group of CGUs identified for sales and distribution
of natural gas and other related products business, which is also an operating
segment, representing the lowest level within the Group at which goodwill is
monitored for internal management purposes.

The recoverable amount of the group of CGUs is determined from value in use
calculations. The key assumptions for the value in use calculations are those
regarding the discount rates, growth rates and expected changes to selling
prices and direct costs during the year. Management estimates a discount
rate of 13.6% (2017: 13.4%) using post-tax rates that reflect current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to this group of
CGUs. The growth rate of 3.0% (2017: 3.0%) for the next five years are based
on industry growth forecasts. Changes in selling prices and direct costs are
based on past practices and expectations of future changes in the market.

The value in use calculations is derived from cash flow projections based on the
most recent financial budgets for the next 5 years approved by management.
Cash flows beyond 5-year period have been extrapolated using growth rates of
3.0% (2017: 2.6%) per annum, which is based on industry growth forecasts.
The Board considered no impairment loss is necessary as at 31 December 2018.

In sales and distribution of natural gas and other related products business, the
recoverable amount calculated based on value in use exceeded carrying value
by HK$1,710,102,000 (2017: HK$1,587,584,000).

Since the carrying amounts of the group of CGUs are not sensitive to the
changes in assumption, no sensitivity analysis is disclosed.

19

e MR

(continued) (#&)
BILEE (&)
Mt -

BMENEINREERBEARAR R EMIAR
EmFEBIHNN -—HEReEEBM(TE—
AEEra SEBERNMERB T EE
BEBEENREER)

ZEBESEEHEM A RESE T IRRER
BEmMAE FHEEZHARBRISRER
WHRE RREREEREERAZEHRE
B o EHEFEAREEAMSTGHEERRH
BERZEBSEESCFTRARZHEF
EAEEH TR EI13.6% (2B —+4F :13.4%)
ARAFI0%(ZZT—LF :3.0%) 2HEX
DERTEREEN EEREERAEH
TEREMSRKRESH 2 BAEEN KRB -

EREEFENREBEEEBEFHRKRAF
AEEZHBEEMEHNRERERBLT
EMR - BESFNREREEARZEFI0%
(ZF—EF 1 26%)MERTHELE - WL DHE
RITEERTBN -BEXERARR_ZT-N\F
TZA=+t—B AEBKREBNREERE -

EHERBEARARRKREMERERER S
FORBERAEAESENTRE @ EBE K
B /85 A1,710,102,0008 T(Z T — +
4 1 1,587,584,000 7T) °
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20 Investments accounted for using the equity

method

The amounts recognised in the consolidated statement of financial
position are as follows:

20

& AR

ARZRE

RIFEMBERRNRERZ BT ¢

2018 2017

—E-N\F —E—+F

HK$’000 HK$'000

THERT FAT

Associates i /N 296,922 296,732

Joint venture AEE 15,832 24,435

At 31 December R+-_A=+—H 312,754 321,167
The amounts recognised in the consolidated profit or loss are as REABEEXBRZESBUOT

follows:

2018 2017

—E-N\F —E—+tF

HK$°000 HK$'000

THET FAET

Associates /N 4,491 1,330

Joint venture AEPE (7,791) (3,686)

For the year ended 31 December BE+-_A=1t—BItEE (3,300) (2,356)
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(continued) (#&)
20 Investments accounted for using the equity 20 FRAEZEARZRE (&

method (Continued)

Interests in associates REE QAT ERE
R-ZZE—N\F+_A=+—8 REE
ARE(BIFELTERAGEEZHE -

Nature of investments in associates, which are unlisted limited liability
companies, as at 31 December 2018:

Percentage of

Country of interest held
Name Registered capital establishment Principal activities indirectly
BHEEs
=x: HEMEAR R ZBEXR TEER EHEBDL
SR HZEMEEREMR " RMB20,000,000 PRC Trading of natural gas 49%
("BrBEEIR")
FEFMZBERAERAT AR%20,000,000T FE ARREE 49%
(M2regeiR])
Sino Director Limited (Note) US$10,000 BVI Investment holding 25%
Sino Director Limited 10,0003 7T HEHRRES BEZR 25%
(B 7E)
S HBRE BB RMB 1,000,000 PRC Provision of IT services 50%
BIRA A
FAEPMBERE S KM AR #1,000,000C RAEITAR 5 50%
BRA A
IEHEBERXARABR AT RMB80,000,000 PRC Trading of nature gas 20%
IHEBERARERAF AR 80,000,000 # AAREE 20%
Note: i 5E -

As at 31 December 2018 and 2017, the Group invested HK257,250,000 in
Sino Director Limited with 25% equity interests as an associate. One of the
subsidiaries of Sino Director Limited is the beneficial owner of the mining rights
granted by the local government authority of the PRC. Sino Director Limited
and its subsidiaries are collectively regarded as the “Sino Director Group”.

A business valuation was performed for the underlying assets of Sino
Director Limited. The recoverable amount is determined based on
fair value less costs of disposal using discounted cash flow method.
The key assumptions are discount rates, marketability discount rate,
minority interest discount rate, forecasted production volume and
forecasted commodity prices. Management estimates a discount rate
of 11.4% (2017: 11.2%) using a post-tax rates that reflects current
market assessment of time value and the specific risks relating to the
underlying assets of Sino Director Group.

RZE—NERZZE—+tHF+ZA=+—8"
£ [ 2 [A)Sino Director Limitedi% & 257,250,000
BT BB B E QA K 25%K # - Sino
Director Limitedz H & — R M B A & AR H
EAEBRABFIAE ARG AIELECE
%5 % A A ° Sino Director Limited & £ Kf B 2 &)
%5 ¥8 A [ Sino Directors [ | -

SEMEBEERITERME - AT KRE
CHRNFERTRERSREEREATE
B ERAETE - AIkEI&BAEZH
BREBREATHEE MBARE  DEE
=R E CBAEEREABRER -
EEEFRARREAIMBHEMEEFN
fih 2 B 18 F & K Sino Directorts E 3 &
EZEERBMEFITIRENLAN(ZE
—tF 1 112%) °

FHRREBEAER LT 2018FFIf
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20 Investments accounted for using the equity

method (Continued)

Interests in associates (Continued)

The commodity price growth rate of 3.0% (2017: 3.0%) used in
the calculations is based on inflation growth forecasts. The Board
considered no impairment loss on the Group’s total investment in

associate is necessary as at 31 December 2018.

As at 31 December 2018, the Group determined that the recoverable
amount of Sino Director Limited amounting to approximately
HK$595,175,000 (2017: HK$586,250,000) exceeded its carrying
value amounting to approximately HK$257,250,000 (2017:

HK$257,250,000).

The recoverable amount of the investment in Sino Director Limited
would equal its carrying amount if (1) the commodity price growth
rate decreased to -4.3%, (2) the estimated future production volume
dropped by 57.9%; or (3) the post-tax discount rate increased to
21.0%. Management has considered and assessed reasonably
possible changes for other key assumptions and not identified any
instances that could cause the carrying amount of the investment in

Sino Director Limited to exceed its recoverable amount.

None of these entities are currently considered material to the Group.
The aggregated for associates which accounted for using the equity

method was as followed:

20

EREDREARZIRE (F)

R DR (F)

AEARBAOEMERERE30%(Z
T—+F :13.0%) PERBREETER -
R-ZE—N\FE+_A=+—HH BEH
REEBRBLERARNKBETENEN
VERIEN SR 0

R—_EBE-—NE+-_A=+—80 &
% 7 Sino Director Limited #9 7] 4 @
% % #) /595,175,000 (= T — +
& 15862500008 L) m R EE@
& #9 257,250,000 78 T(= T —
257,250,000/ 7T ) °

/1

ﬁ
<|:H‘

(N R EEERRR D E43% Q)
et R K EE TIES57.9% : Q)KL 1%
PrIR R4 AN Z=21.0% * B HSino Director
LimitediE EW A KRB SEHSERERE®T
BE-EEEEZREAFHEMBERRBR
AREEEANESEZE B REFRTM
7] RE & B 7ASino Director Limitedi® & #9 Bk
AEBBETRESEZEE -

ENSEZSERERAEEEBEK -
EREREARNBERARBALT

2018 2017

—E-N\E —E—L£F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FAT

- Total assets - EEE 1,291,873 1,327,939

— Total liabilities -BAafE (939,240) (968,098)
Net assets BEFE 352,633 359,841
Revenue BEE 101,834 48,594

Profit and total comprehensive income FERHENREE K EE

for the year 11,191 3,804

There are no material commitments or contingent liabilities relating to

the Group’s interest in associates.
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20 Investments accounted for using the equity

method (Continued)

Interest in a joint venture

e MR

(continued) (#)

20 ERAERZEARZKRE(HF)

R—EEELEER

2018 2017

—E-N\F —T—+F

HK$’000 HK$'000

F#ExT FHET

Share of net assets: ELEEFE:

At 1 January n—A—H 24,435 26,621
Currency realignment B (812) 1,500
Share of loss of a joint venture EiE—EaEEEE (7,791) (3,686)
At 31 December Rt+t—-_A=+—H 15,832 24,435

Nature of investment in a joint venture, which is an unlisted limited
liability company, as at 31 December 2018:

RZB-NFE+-_A=+—HB RE%E
TE(BLEERARBEZEYE :

Percentage of

Country of interest held
Name Registered capital establishment Principal Activities indirectly
BEFE

£ HEMER MY 2B xR FEEK EEE DL
AR EEERHE SR RMB PRC Trading of coalbed methane 35%

Al
LWARBEEERELRERA ARE o B HERES 35%

Al

The joint venture is currently considered not material to the Group.
The summarised financial information for the joint venture which
accounted for using the equity method was as followed:

ENBERSARCRRRAYEEE
X - ERAEEAENEE LU
AT -

THRREBARAT 2018F FI{
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mEMBRRHME

(continued) (#)

20 Investments accounted for using the equity
method (Continued)

20 EAERZEARZKRE(HF)

Interest in a joint venture (Continued) R—EEELEER(A)
2018 2017
—B-N\F —F—tF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
- Total assets - EEE 613,761 531,483
- Total liabilities -HRaE (568,527) (464,881)
Net assets BEEFE 45,234 66,602
Revenue B 187,417 113,856

Loss and total comprehensive loss FABBELAEEEELS

for the year (22,260) (10,531)

There are no material commitments or contingent liabilities relating to
the Group’s interest in the joint venture.

21 Financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income

(i) Classification of financial assets at fair value through
other comprehensive income

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive
income comprise:

. Equity securities which are not held for trading, and
which the Group has irrevocably elected at initial
recognition to recognise in this category. These are
strategic investments and the Group considers this
classification to be more relevant.

. Debt securities where the contractual cash flows are
solely principal and interest and the objective of the
Group’s business model is achieved both by collecting
contractual cash flows and selling financial assets.
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21 Financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income (Continued)

(i)

Equity investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income

Equity investments at fair value through other comprehensive

e M RRME

(continued) (#)

21 BMAFEFAHMEEZEN S
ZHMBEE (&)

(i) BRAFVPEFARMEZERKEZR

rRE

BAFEFAEMEZEKRS ZK

income comprise the following investments: AEEBFUNTIRE
2018 2017
—2-n% —E—tf
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
(Note (a))
(B 5E(a))

Equity securities: &NcEs

— listed in Hong Kong -BHEE™M 108,946 =

(a) These investments were classified as available-for-sale in 2017,
see (vii) below.

In the prior financial year, the Group had designated equity
investments as available-for-sale where management intended
to hold them for the medium to long-term.

(a)

FZERENR-ZE—LFHBERAMYE
& B2 T XWii)

RE-—BMBFE SEBEERT

HEEZRAEFER BEEBAEE
hRBAKE -
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mEMBRRHME

(continued) (#)

21 Financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income (Continued)

(iii) Debt investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income

Debt investments at fair value through other comprehensive
income comprise the following investments in listed and
unlisted bonds:

21

BAFESAHEMEE KRS

ZMBEE (&)
(i) BAFEI A2 E K> M

BRE

BRAFEFAEGEE RS ZE
BREBE TN EMRFLTE
HRE

2018 2017
—2-N%F —E—t%
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHT
(Note (b))
(B 5 (b))

Debt securities: BEBES
— listed in Hong Kong -BEL™ 99,356 =
— listed outside Hong Kong - BB ET 230,368 =
— unlisted -3EET 450 -
330,174 -

(b) These investments were classified as available-for-sale and
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss in 2017, see (vii)
below and Note 24 respectively.

On disposal of these debt investments, any related balance

within the fair value through other comprehensive income
reserve is reclassified to profit or loss.
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(iv)

(v)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income (Continued)

Amounts recognised in profit or loss and other

comprehensive income

During the year, the following gains/(losses) were recognised in

profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

e MR

(continued) (#)

21 BMAFEFAHMEEZEN S

ZMBEE (&)
(v REZEREMG2EREFREZ
£

FR - THIKE(BR)ENER
K H A 2w as AR

2018 2017
—E-N\F —T—+F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FE T FHET
(Losses)/gains recognised in other REMEEWKE S ER
comprehensive income; 2017 relating (B8 R —E—+t4F
to available-for-sale financial assets, HAtHEPNKEERH -
see (vii) below B 32 (vii) (54,000) 58,044
Gains reclassified from other HERAFEFAEMEZE
comprehensive income to profit or Wz ERTEEBEM
loss on the sale of debt instruments EHEREETOEEER 2
at fair value through other Wa: —E—tFanH
comprehensive income; 2017 relating HEVBKEERRH
to available-for-sale financial assets, B 3 (vii)
see (vii) below 2,097 17,748
Dividends from equity investments RERAFEFAREMEER
held at fair value through other WRIFBZRAEE 2R E
comprehensive income recognised in WA (R Bz HEt g AR
profit or loss in other income (note (PR E7)
7) 1,256 3,056
Financial assets pledged as security v) BEHRABERRZUBEE

At 31 December 2017, certain available-for-sale financial assets
amounted to HK$342,548,000 are pledged as a security for the
Group’s banking facilities. At 31 December 2018, no financial
assets at FVOClI is pledged to any banking facilities.

RZE—+tF+=A=+—8"
= T 4 %8 /5 342,548,0008 7T Z ]
HHERKEETAER EAE
ERITRENEF -RZT—NF
+ZA=+—8 #BEERQFE
ANEMm2EWS s BEEELD R
FAEMRITRLE ©

PRMREEERAT 08EER {77
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e

B 7% R MY A

(continued) (#)

21

Financial assets at fair value through other 21 Bz FEFAEMEEKE
comprehensive income (Continued) 2B ERE (&)
(vi) Fair value, impairment and risk exposure (viy AFE- -BERKRK
Information about the methods and assumptions used in BEREBETAFEMRMABAERRE
determining fair value in provided in Note 4.4. B E R SR 44 -
Debt securities at fair value through other comprehensive BAFEFAEHEZARKZZE
income are considered to be low risk, and therefore the EEERE AER - B kR E 5
impairment provision is determined as 12 months expected EBHER2EAEHEEREBETE -
credit losses. The Group has assessed that the expected credit SEERENZEABHEESRE
losses for these financial assets are not material under the 12 FAETIHZEMBEEZREE
months expected credit loss method. Thus no loss allowance EEEBEBETEXN Bt R&EEH
provision was recognised as at the balance sheet date. For WERREBEEREEG -F@ARER
details of the risk management, please refer to Note 4.2. BB B E28WE42 0
The carrying amounts of the financial assets at fair value BAFEFAHEM2EWZE 28
through other comprehensive income (2017: available-for-sale BEE(CZE—+F: A/t HEH
financial assets) are denominated in the following currencies: BEAE)ROEZNATE®TE
2018 2017
—E-—N\F T —LF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
us$ ET 330,174 469,879
HK$ BT 108,946 126,481
439,120 596,360
1 78 CHINA OIL AND GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2018 2
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e MR

(continued) (#)

21 BMAFEFAHMEEZEN S
ZHMBEE (&)

(viiy RAISEATHEENBEEZ
MBEE(ZF—tF)

21 Financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income (Continued)

(vii) Financial assets previously classified as available-for-sale
financial assets (2017)

Available-for-sale financial assets included the following classes AHHEVBEESE A TER

of financial assets: KBTS B EE -
2017
—E—tF
HK$'000
FHET
Non-current assets ERBEE
Equity securities: RAFS
— listed outside Hong Kong - BB BT 118,961
- listed in Hong Kong -BA& L™ 17,772
Debt securities: BEHHES
- listed in Hong Kong -&BA& L™ 89,476
— listed outside Hong Kong - BB BT 369,701
- unlisted -3EET™ 450
596,360

Classification of financial assets as available-for-sale

Investments were designated as available-for-sale financial
assets if they did not have fixed maturities and fixed or
determinable payments, and management intended to hold
them for the medium to long-term. Financial assets that were
not classified into any of the other categories (at FVPL, loans
and receivables or held-to-maturity investments) were also
included in the available-for-sale category.

The financial assets were presented as non-current assets unless
they matured, or management intended to dispose of them
within 12 months of the end of the reporting period.

Impairment indicators for available-for-sale financial
assets

A security was considered to be impaired if there had been a
significant or prolonged decline in the fair value below its cost.
See Note 3(I) for further details about the group’s previous
impairment policies for available-for-sale financial assets.

HMEBESTEBURLE

Sy EmEERHBE REEHA
FTEEHNROEBEERAHREE
MBHEENKRE BEEEAEFET
RHHE - E0 B AT EMBER
MPABEE (RRAFELEEAR -
EXREERRERFEEIHR
B)Mat AR EER -

BREMBEENRKEEEARR
RBEHRBRNZEAALE - BRI
MBEERIERBEERS -

I R RSB E AR B IS R

MRERXFEKNEES KB E
REKAK  BIBZESRBRE -
EREEAHEEMBEESLAH
MEBRNE—FTHE  F2HK
FE3() °

THRREBARAT 2018F FI{
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(continued) (#)

22 Inventories 22 8

2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+tF
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET FAT
Raw materials JR A4 127,760 105,078
Work-in-progress EEIR 76,878 69,226
Finished goods and natural gas B an R RKAR 78,139 70,134
282,777 244,438
23 Contract assets, deposits, trade and other 23 EHNEE e BFkH

receivables b & Uk SR IE
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+tF
HK$'000 HK$'000
TET FAT
Trade receivables (Notes (b) and (c)) 2 Sl aE (M ) 625,352 784,363
Contract assets (Notes (b) and (e)) BHEE (W u£< ) 109,210 =
Loan to an associate (Note (d)) =& (d)) 695,486 637,251
Loans to third parties /\/A:’T'EE Vil 22,600 24,000
1,452,648 1,445,614
Prepaid construction costs T R KA 141,719 108,341

Prepayment for acquisition of U B + b {5 FR A TR AT R IE

land use rights 67,634 35,003
Prepaid natural gas costs ﬁﬁi%ﬁﬁizﬁ 346,848 258,733
Prepaid material and equipment costs 197,092 182,263
Interest receivables from an associate KEHSZ & Bﬁ%

(Note (d)) 252,945 210,583
Other interest receivables 5,769 5,011
Other prepayments 105,614 109,787
Note receivables 84,408 55,655
Other receivables 160,280 142,507

2,814,957 2,553,497
Less: Non-current portion (1,063,841) (956,763)
Current portion 1,751,116 1,596,734
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23 Contract assets, deposits, trade and other
receivables (Continued)

Notes:

(a)

(b)

The Board considers that the carrying amounts of deposits, trade
and other receivables approximate their fair values as the impact of
discounting is not significant.

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified approach to measuring
expected credit losses which uses a lifetime expected loss allowance for
all trade receivables and contract assets. The Group has assessed that
the expected credit losses for these financial assets are not material.
Thus no loss allowance provision was recognised as at the statement of
financial position date. For details of the calculation of the allowance,
please refer to Note 4.2(b).

Information about the impairment of trade receivables and contract
assets, and the Group’s exposure to credit risk and risk management
can be found in Note 4.2.

The Group allows an average credit period ranging from 60 to 90
days to its trade customers and keeps monitoring its outstanding
trade receivables. Overdue balances are regularly reviewed by senior
management of the Group.

The ageing analysis of trade receivables based on invoice date is as
follows:

23

e MR

(continued) (#)

BHNEE RE EFZRH
ity FE WL SR IE ()

fi 3

(a)

(b)

(@}

HRTEYEYTEN EERRBR
Ze HHNMEMERREZ REER
HRAFEMEE -

SERAEEMBHRSENEIRBL
TR RHEHGEEEE  RMEESHE
WHRERAHAEERAZHERER
BB KECHEREUBEENTED
EEBR  @BATEKN - Bt - BB
BRARBHPAEYERREFNERER
BiE - -BRBEBMEZFE  F2HM
#E4.2(b) ©

EHESRRFERENEERE - MU
FPEBEBRZEERRLERERZ
AR R K zE4.2 -

EEETEIREFZFHEEYENT
60HZE9RZMH - W B THEEIEHE N
KEEZEFRBFE SESRERE
EBTHEMOABREZEH -

BERZAHNE HEKNEZER
DWW

2018 2017

—E-N\F ZE—+F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FExT FAT

Up to 3 months —EAMNUA 552,984 730,625
3 to 6 months =EA=NAEA 43,421 30,363
Over 6 months NEA LA 28,947 23,375
Total A& 625,352 784,363
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(continued) (#&)

23 Contract assets, deposits, trade and other
receivables (Continued)

(d)

BHEE B BEERH

HWEW:A

1 (78 )

Notes: (Continued) MizE : (&)
Loan and interest receivables from an associate (d) FEl—HEEARNERETE

2018 2017

—E-N\F —T—+F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FAET FAT

Loan to an associate BT —HBE AR 708,486 637,251

Interest receivables from an associate FEU—REs & R B FILE 256,945 210,583

965,431 847,834

Loss allowance EERE (17,000) —

Total 4 zE 948,431 847,834
On 23 September 2011, the Group entered into a loan agreement for RZE——FAAZ-_+=H £B8H

the construction of assets with Sino Director Limited, an associate, with
interest bearing at 6.2% per annum. On 1 January 2018, the Group
has entered a new loan agreement with the associate and the interest
rate has been revised as 8.5% per annum. As at 31 December 2018,
the Group loan to Sino Director Limited amounted to approximately
HK$708,486,000 (2017: HK$637,251,000). The outstanding interest
amounted to approximately HK$256,945,000 (2017: HK$210,583,000).
Both the loan and interest receivables are repayable on demand.

Management considered that the loan to the associate is low risk, and
therefore the impairment provision is determined at 12 months expected
credit losses. Applying the expected credit risk model resulted in the
recognition of a loss allowance of HK$17,000,000 on 1 January 2018
(previous loss allowance was nil) for the loan and interest receivables
from the associate and there is no change in the allowance during the
year ended 31 December 2018.

The contract assets primarily relate to the Group’s rights to consideration
for gas pipeline construction and connection services completed but
not billed at the reporting date. The contract assets are transferred to
receivables when the rights become unconditional.
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e MR

(continued) (#)

Contract assets, deposits, trade and other 23 EHNEE & BEZRH

receivables (Continued) 1t FE WL TR IE (48)

Notes: (Continued) s : (8)

(f) The carrying amounts of the deposits, trade and other receivables (f) e B LHMERZBE(TEER
(excluding prepayments and other tax recoverables) are denominated in 5 E18 R H ih A] Y [0 B 18 ) 2 BR M 1E iR
the following currencies: ATE®.EE -

2018 2017
—%-N\% —E—t5
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Renminbi AR 1,736,466 1,717,333
CAD il 19,622 42,532
Others Hih 90,752 78,297
1,846,840 1,838,162
Financial assets at fair value through profit 24 AT EEERARZU®K

or loss BE
2017
—E—+tF
HK$'000
FHEIT

Debt securities: EBES

— listed outside Hong Kong - BB LT 20,822
- unlisted -3k 28,020
48,842

The carrying amounts of the financial assets at FVPL are denominated BEATELER AR HBEE KT

in USS. BIAEITTEE °

In 2017, the Group classified financial assets at FVPL if they were R-Z2—+F SEEFTZENREH

acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the short term, i.e. A& RFEREE)MB BN MK EE

are held for trading. See Note 3(I)(v) for the Group’s accounting PBEREAFELBRHE AR HHAE °

policies for the financial assets. FASBEMBEEZSFTHE  F2H

B FE3(1)(v) e

Please see Note 2(a) for the explanations regarding the reclassification EHRME BB M EEREIRE -

of debt securities from financial assets at FVPL to FVOCl on 1 January RZF—A\F—H—-H BAHEEFHIRK

2018 following the adoption of HKFRS 9. AFEREEE AR ZUBEESEHNH»HE

BREATFEFAERMEZERES ZHBEE
EzBia - B2 T2 -
As at 31 December 2017, all the financial assets at FVPL are pledged RZF—tHF+-A=+—"8B FARK
as a security for the Group's unutilised banking facilities. AFELER ARV BEETAER -
EASERBARITREMNIER -
q FHRREBERAT 208FF3
A N
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(continued) (#)

25 Time deposits, bank balances and cash

25 EHER RITEHERE

2018 2017
—E-N\F —F—+tF
HK$°000 HK$'000
THET FET
Cash at banks and on hand BRI MFERE 2,496,198 2,299,083
Short-term bank deposits MHEIRITIER 170,704 39,895
2,666,902 2,338,978

Less: Time deposits with maturity B FREBA=EANTESER
over three months (158,679) (48,531)
Cash and cash equivalents BeMReSEEE 2,508,223 2,290,447

The interest rates for short-term bank deposits was approximately
from 2.9% to 4.15% (2017: 1.5% to 1.95%) per annum. The
deposits have a maturity of ranging from 90 to 183 days (2017: 90 to

365 days).

Included in bank deposits, bank balances and cash are amounts of
approximately HK$2,601,884,000 or RMB2,302,552,000 (2017:
HK$2,311,901,000 or RMB1,926,584,000) denominated in Renminbi
which are deposited with banks in Mainland China. The conversion
of these Renminbi denominated balances into foreign currencies and
the remittance of funds out of Mainland China is subject to the rules
and regulations of foreign exchange control promulgated by the PRC

Government.

The carrying amounts of the time deposits, bank balances and cash

are denominated in the following currencies:

RHROTERNERNEN TH29%E
415% (ZF —+tF :1.5%E 1.95%) °
FHRHNFOBEISBSE(ZE—+4
90H £365H) °

BITEXR BITEHEBERRSH
2,601,884,000%8 Jt 3¢ A R #2,302,552,000
T (= Z—+%2,311,901,000/8 Tk A R
#%1,926,584,0007T) I A AR B EHE @ I
FRABRHOIRTT - ZEAREE
EHEZBKINERPREANBELES
RSP BT M A SNE B IR AR E &

o

X

EHEHR ROTESRMREZKREEN
THEEEHE

2018 2017
—E-N\F —F—tF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHET F#E T

Renminbi AR 2,605,104 2,313,282
us$ =7 37,637 17,438
HK$ T 23,497 7,667
Others Hith 664 591
2,666,902 2,338,978
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e MR

(continued) (#)

26 Trade and other payables 26 EZRHEMEBENKIE
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+tF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Trade payables 2 5N IR 505,977 447,956
Consideration payables FERHRAB 5,650 6,000
Construction cost payables JEAT IR AN 433,485 415,775
Interest payable FE AR B 58,330 59,775
Dividends payable to non-controlling FERT IR R E = AR B
interests - 125,828
Salaries payables ERF € 26,725 15,540
Other taxes payable H b &~ 2 T8 6,670 11,294
Other payables and accruals HtEMNREBERETER 379,080 349,565
1,415,917 1,431,733
The Board considers that the carrying amounts of trade and other EERRAE EH5LEMENTKEZE
payables approximate their fair values. HEEEANFERES -
The ageing analysis of trade payables based on invoice date is as BERZEAHNESENFIBEBZERY
follows: Tﬁ'ﬁﬂ—F .
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+tF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHExT TETT
Up to 3 months =EAUR 402,076 358,365
3 to 6 months =@AER@EA 40,910 40,316
Over 6 months ANEAM E 62,991 49,275
Total A&t 505,977 447,956
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mEMBRRHME

(continued) (#)

26 Trade and other payables (Continued) 26 EFZNHMEARIE(E
The carrying amounts of trade and other payables (excluding other B hEMENZTBB(TNEIEE M ERN
tax payables and salaries payables) are denominated in the following BREENHFS)NEEENUNTIER
currencies: g

2018 2017
=E-N\F —E—L+F
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET FHET
Renminbi AR 1,217,902 1,273,459
HK$ BT 35,135 52,041
CAD mr 129,485 79,399
1,382,522 1,404,899
27 Contract liabilities/receipt in advance 27 EHNBEE FBWRFE

2018 2017
—E-N\F —T—+F
HK$°000 HK$'000
THET FHET

Receipt in advance for sales of natural gas $HEXAR M EMABBAE R Z
and other related products TE U R IE 1,356,955 1,366,236

Receipt in advance for connections of gas MREEZE K 2 BRFE

pipelines 113,173 217,767
1,470,128 1,584,003
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27 Contract liabilities/receipt in advance 27 EHNBE FBWFREE)

(Continued)

(a) The contract liabilities primarily relate to the payments received @) AAHBEEBEFZEHHEENRBEXRA
in advance for sales and distribution of natural gas and other RNEMBERERZ S WTEIK R
related products, included the amount received from customers BER EREEREFFERICRX
using I/C cards amounting to approximately HK$867,423,000 - H) FUE 49867,423,0008 7T © B &
not yet delivered to customers. Revenue is recognised when gas mMEARNMFERL - W TIREP
is used by customers. Below is the movement for the amount FRMRERER - LAT%EH&%}E'
received from customers using I/C cards: FERICRZ R RIERE &) :

2018 2017

ZE-N\F —T—+F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FE T FHT

At 1 January Hn—A—H 883,205 637,431
Currency realignment B (48,837) 52,372
Payments received in advance SR e 4,321,324 4,154,799
Recognised during the year FA E’Eﬁw (4,288,269) (3,961,397)
At 31 December Rt+t—-_A=+—H 867,423 883,205

(b) Revenue recognised in relation to contract liabilities (b) EFHEEHEBZCEIWSE
The following table shows how much of the revenue recognised TRIWRNAFEHEHASDE
in the current year relates to carried-forward contract liabilities. BEEBNCHERNZSE -

2018 2017
—E2-N\F —E—LF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET

Revenue recognised that was included — REZFABLI B ERZHZ
in the contract liability balance at RN 725
the beginning of the year

Sales and distribution of natural gas HERBXRARR

and other related products H M E®D 964,335 -
Gas pipeline construction and MREBRERERRS

connection services 172,362 -
There is no revenue recognised during the current year related AEEHEEBAFEED BER
to performance obligations that were satisfied in prior year. BHESTEBENE RN -
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27 Contract liabilities/receipt in advance
(Continued)

(c) Unsatisfied contracts with customers

The Group has applied the practical expedient in paragraph
121 of HKFRS 15 to its fixed-price construction and connection
contracts, as well as sales and distribution of natural gas and
other products contracts, such that the information about
revenue that the Group will be entitled to when it satisfied the
remaining performance obligations under those contracts that
had an original expected duration of one year or less is not
disclosed.

27 EREE TAWRIEE

(0 REEREFEMN

SECEREAVBREELELSE
ISHRBINECERAUTHEEZ
AONETRERERA LN LY
ERDHAARREMEREDN
ZER KENEEETRTZER
FEHBR A —FXREEMNELHE
TZRBBEHETRREHES
a2 BR o

28 Borrowings 28 &8
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+tF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Bank borrowings, unsecured RITHEE - |IEF 1,451,455 653,258
Other borrowings, unsecured HiEE - migm 68,026 96,000
1,519,481 749,258
Less: amounts due within one year WD BEARBBER —FRNEIH
classified under current liabilities 2 A (1,455,839) (689,258)
Non-current portion ERENE D 63,642 60,000
1 88 CHINA OIL AND GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2018 o
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Borrowings (Continued)

The carrying amounts of the borrowings are denominated in the
following currencies and carried at the following interest rates:

e MR

(continued) (#)

28 fEE(#&

BENREEATIIEESE LA T
B = 51 B

2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+tF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FE T FAT
Renminbi AR 1,284,268 492,000
CAD it 235,213 257,258
1,519,481 749,258
At fixed rates & F Fl == 1,047,736 354,000
At floating rates FEFI X 471,745 395,258
1,519,481 749,258
Weighted average effective interest rates  JN#E 9 B R F Fl & -
(per annum):
- Bank borrowings - RITEE 4.7% 4.3%
— Other borrowings - HMfEE 6.0% 6.4%
Senior notes BEEE
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—LF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FAT
US$ denominated senior notes INETHEZELEZRE 5,029,991 4,970,240

On 25 April 2013, the Company issued senior notes, with an aggregate
nominal value of US$350,000,000 (equivalent to HK$2,713,000,000)
at par value (the “Senior Notes A”), which bear interest at 5.25%
per annum and the interest is payable semi-annually in arrears. The
net proceeds after deducting the direct issuance costs, amounted to
approximately US$344,000,000 (equivalent to HK$2,666,000,000).
The Senior Notes A was mature on 25 April 2018 and were listed on
the Hong Kong Stock Exchange.

R-ZEBE—=FEWNA-+HAB A8liEHE
{& 3% 77 BF M 42 & /2 350,000,000 3 7T (18
Z7342,713,000,0005% 7T) B L Z# ([1E
KEZEAD  REFS25%HEAFEFE
F¥EIN - NBEEETBRRBRZANG
XA JF 8 B #9344,000,0003 7T (B H R
2,666,000,000# 7T) - BEEBARZZ
—NEFENA-THEBIHERETBHZ
i

FHRREBEAER LT 2018FFIf
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29 Senior notes (Continued)

On 11 November 2014, the Company issued senior notes, with
an aggregate nominal value of US$300,000,000 (equivalent to
HK$2,325,000,000) at par value (the “Senior Notes B"), which bear
interest at 5.00% per annum and the interest is payable semiannually
in arrears. The net proceeds after deducting the direct issuance
costs, amounted to approximately US$296,900,000 (equivalent to
HK$2,300,975,000). The Senior Notes B will mature on 7 May 2020

and are listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange.

On 11 April 2017, the Company issued senior notes, with an aggregate
nominal value of US$350,000,000 (equivalent to HK$2,712,500,000)
at par value (the “Senior Notes C"), which bear interest at 4.625%
per annum and the interest is payable semi-annually in arrears. The
net proceeds after deducting the direct issuance costs, amounted to
approximately US$346,556,000 (equivalent to HK$2,685,809,000).
The Senior Note C will mature on 20 April 2022 and are listed on the

Hong Kong Stock Exchange.

On 21 May 2017, the Company redeemed in full the outstanding
aggregate principal amount of US$350,000,000 of Senior Notes A
before their maturity at a total redemption price of US$354,594,000
(equivalent to HK$2,478,104,000), representing 101.3125% of the
principal amount plus accrued and unpaid interest, by using the net

proceeds from the offering of Senior Notes C.

As at 31 December 2018, the fair value of the senior notes amounted
to approximately HK$4,876,916,000 (2017: HK$5,082,411,000).
The effective interest is 4.92% (2017: 5.20%). The fair value of the
senior notes traded in active markets is based on quoted market
prices at the date of the statement of financial position. A market is
regarded as active if quoted prices are readily and regularly available
from an exchange, dealer, broker, industry group, pricing service,
or regulatory agency and those prices represent actual and regularly
occurring market transactions on an arm’s length basis. The senior

notes are within level 1 of the fair value hierarchy.
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BEERE(E

R-_ZE—WMFE+—A+—8  2AFEA
B %% 77 Bk @ 42 {8 /2 300,000,000 3 7t (48
% $22,325,000,0007% 7T) KB 5L E & ([ 12
KZEEB]) BEEF5.00%:TEEFEF
F¥EIN - MBEEZRTERRZASE
X I R 5B /5 49296,900,000 3 7T (1 & R
2,300,975,0007% JT) ° 18 % R BB A =
E_EERALHINARREBB MR
£

RZZE—+tFMNA+—H RAFEEE
%% 17 B ™ 42 {8 /350,000,000 T (#8 &
#2,712,500,0007% 70) A 18 5t E & ([ 1B 5t
ZC])  MEFLI625% T EBEFEF
+EIN - MBEEZRTEREBZASE
X I % %8 /5 49346,556,000 3% 7T (1 & R
2,685,809,0007% 7T ) ° 1B 5L BIRCHE K =
T _FNA_+RAINHEEREBH R
Fr b e

WR-_E—+FRA-_+—8 28R
FHAREBREAREELZIERC
BHREFERRELNELZBAKREE
7N 4 48 %8 350,000,000 3 JT © 42 fE [@ (B
354,594,0003% 7t (1255 722,478,104,0007%
TT) ¢ AL ER101.3125% 00 fE 51 & &
FE -

R-ZE-NE+-_A=+—0 BL£E
B2 R FELA4,876,916,0008 T (= F
—-+ % :5,082,411,000870) - B FI =
B492%(ZF—tF :520%) - RRE
ERMBEBEBEZEAZBR I AFERE
HBERRAKRAZMERETE - XKE
BTSSR EHRZ S -
KGHRE KRB ACTESEE - RERS
HRERBIRERE TS - B ER
BRELTFHETZEEAFTTERZZ
EMEE2R REELEBHEINABATF
BE—EK-
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30 Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is calculated in full on temporary differences
under the liability method using the tax rates enacted or substantively

enacted by the statement of financial position date.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets against current
tax liabilities and when the deferred income taxes related to the same

fiscal authority.

i 3E P 15 51

(continued) (#)

EREFMBHERBABEEL TS ZERY
Bk B RM K EERM B

2 HMEE -

EEEAEARTEMNASERNRBEE
HEMBRBEEERE MELEMERY

KR — B R

BEEBERE -

81 7] IR FE AT S B

2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+tF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Deferred tax assets BEMSHEE (7.646) (4,796)
Deferred tax liabilities BEMESHEaR’ 270,019 260,359
Deferred tax liabilities (net) BEFRGHEECHFRE) 262,373 255,563
The net movements in the deferred income tax account are as follows: EIEFEHER S FMMOT -
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—tF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FE T FHET
At 1 January n—A—H 255,563 221,291
Currency realignment Bl (14,763) 13,294
Charged to consolidated profit and loss RizEEERBR (FF:E13)
(Note 13) 21,573 20,978
At 31 December R+—_A=+—H 262,373 255,563
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30 Deferred income tax (Continued) 30 IELETE (&)
The movements in deferred income tax assets and liabilities (prior to FRIEBELEMEBHEENBE(ERB —FH
offsetting of balances within the same taxation jurisdiction) during Rl EE 7 & IREAN) Z2ES T -
the year are as follows:
Deferred income tax assets ELEFEHREE
Asset retirement obligation Tax losses Total
EERERE HEFR Bt
2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017
“E-N\f§ —E-t% “E-N\% E-t% —E-N\E i
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER FAT TEn TAET Thx TER
At 1 January R—A—H (35,186) (29,354) (103,072) (94,135) (138,258) (123,489)
Currency alignment ERAR 1,900 (1,711) 5,339 (4,155) 7,239 (5,866)
Credited to consolidated HAGEER
profit or loss (4,695) (4,121 (1,986) (4,782) (6,681) (8,903)
At 31 December R+-A=1+-H (37,981) (35,186) (99,719) (103,072) (137,700) (138,258)
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30 Deferred income tax (Continued) 30 IEIEFTEF (&)
Deferred income tax liabilities EIEFFEHRAEE
Accelerated tax depreciation
and depletion Tax losses Total
MERBREREH Hit &it
2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017
—E-N\F ZE—tF —B-N\f “E—+fF ZE-)N\§ “E—tF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Tan TAEr Thn TER TER FET
At 1 January w—A—H 358,254 309,226 35,567 35,554 393,821 344,780
Currency alignment %ﬁ%;@% (20,133) 19,147 (1,869) 13 (22,002) 19,160
Charged/(credited) to REBBEANR/ GIA)
consolidated profit or loss 34,448 29,881 (6,194) - 28,254 29,881
At 31 December R+-f=1-H 372,569 358,254 27,504 35,567 400,073 393,821
During 2018, deferred income tax liabilities to the extent of R-E-NF BEMMESHAEaE LR

approximately HK$168,000 (2017: HK$2,496,000) have not been
recognised for the withholding tax and other taxes that would
be payable on the unremitted earnings of certain subsidiaries
because the Board considers that the timing of the reversal of the
temporary difference is controlled by the Group and it is probable
that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable
future. Unremitted earnings in a total amount of approximately
HK$1,276,072,000 (2017: HK$1,472,230,000) as at 31 December
2018 and HK$7,929,000 (2017: HK$7,396,000) has been recognised
as deferred tax liability for the withholding tax.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for tax loss carry-forwards
to the extent that the realisation of the related tax benefit through
future taxable profits is probable. As at 31 December 2018, the
Group had unrecognised deferred tax assets for its tax losses of
approximately HK$112,812,000 (2017: HK$108,963,000) to carry
forward against future taxable income. All the tax losses will be
expired within the next 5 years.

%@168,000/%75(ff + 4 : 2,496,000
BT ERRAEENR R EAHE -
HREARINELERNBRRZKRE
LA AAEERRABLOERZ
ERERSEETEHBELEREESA
TSR RARRER -HRZT—N
F+ZA=Z+—H XELHBANBESE
%) 5 1,276,072,0008 (= T — £ F -
1,472,230,000 % 7T.) }£ 7,929,000 7T (=
T — 4 7,396,000 7T) C #t B H
BRAELERIEEE -

EIEFT S & 2 LAFR B O B 76 A1 25
ARARERREFNERAB LR AR
BEEBLEEMER R_ZT—N\F+=
A=+—H SB2AERECHEE
EZHRIBEE112,812,0008 (=%
— £ fF 1 108,963,000 JT) LA A5 88 82 ok
RERFWMALHE - TEREEBBR
TEAFAER -

535 B
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31 Assets retirement obligation 31 EEMEAIE

The movements in assets retirement obligation are as below: BERBEAREZZFHOT :
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+tF
HK$°000 HK$'000
THET FAT
At 1 January R—A—8 130,311 108,723
Currency realignment EHL R (7,036) 2,619
Acquisition of business (Note 33) Wb 2 7 (P 5E33) 557 -
Accretion (Note 10) 7w (MEsE10) 2,970 2,611
Site restoration expenditure Bk e X H (4,698) (7,507)
Change in estimates and discount rate et R iTIR R & 5,241 16,084
Provision for the year FREE 13,333 7,781
At 31 December R+—_A=+—H 140,678 130,311

Note: MeaE -

In accordance with the relevant rules and regulations in Canada, the Group
is obliged to accrue the cost for land reclamation and site closures for the
Group’s ownership interest in oil and natural gas assets including well sites
and gathering systems. The provision for asset retirement obligation has been
determined by the directors based on their best estimates in accordance with
the relevant rules and regulations.
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32 Share capital, share option and share award

schemes

(continued) (#)

32 RARBRE REE

(a) Share capital (a) B=x
Number of
shares Amount
BHEE ot
‘000 HK$'000
T B FExT
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each FR%0.01B L 2 EER
Authorised shares VA TE R 9
At 1 January 2017, 31 December 2017, R-E—+4—H—H -
1 January 2018 and —tF+=ZA=+—8"
31 December 2018 —E-N\F—A—8AK
—N\F+=-—A=+—H 125,000,000 1,250,000
Issued and fully paid BEEITREE
At 1 January 2017, 31 December 2017 WZ-_Z—+F—H—H
and 1 January 2018 —tF+ZA=+—HEK
—N\E—H—H 5,825,684 58,257
Issue of shares to the exercise of share  ZE1TRx D LATT(FBE AR #&
options 13,440 134
At 31 December 2018 RZZE-NF+=ZA=+—H 5,839,124 58,391

(b)

Share option scheme

The Company adopted a share option scheme (the “Share
Option Scheme”) pursuant to a resolution passed by the
shareholders on 23 November 2011.

Under the Share Option Scheme, the Board may at its discretion
offer options to any eligible participant who is an employee,
executive or officer of the Company or its subsidiaries (including
executive and non-executive directors of the Company or its
subsidiaries) and any suppliers, consultants or advisers who
will provide or have provided services to the Company or its
subsidiaries.

The maximum number of shares in respect of which options
may be granted under the Share Option Scheme is 10% of the
issued shares of the Company from time to time.

(b) FERAESTE

RERER-—T——F+— A
“HZABBZREER  AARM
B BRE £1 B (T FRARMEEH D) -

RIEERESE  EFRABBER
EREETEMNSERZERE &
ER2EERAFLENE QA
ZIRE TTHABIERABE(R
BRARKEMB AR ZHITRIE
MITES) UREAKEHELE
RARXEMBRARRERS Z
HER  FEXREBERXIER -

RIBEARERT S RRABREE
BROZBERESRZBNDEE LR
RARTEZEEITRMNZ210% -

THRREBARAT 2018F FI{
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32 Share capital, share option and share award
schemes (Continued)

(b)

Share option scheme (Continued)

The maximum entitlement of each eligible participant in any 12
month-period shall not exceed 1% of the number of shares in
issue on the date of offer of an option.

The offer of a grant of options may be accepted within 21 days
after the date of the offer, with a consideration of HK$1 for the
grant thereof. Exercise period in respect of the options granted
shall be determined by the Board and in any event such period
of time shall not exceed a period of 10 years commencing on
the date upon which such option is deemed to be granted and
accepted.

The exercise price in relation to each option offered to an
eligible participant under the Share Option Scheme shall be
determined by the Board at its absolute discretion but in any
event shall not be less than the highest of: (a) the official
closing price of the shares as stated in the daily quotation sheet
of the Stock Exchange on the date of offer of an option; (b)
the average of the official closing price of the shares as stated
in the daily quotation sheet of the Stock Exchange for the five
business days immediately preceding the date of offer of an
option; and (c) the nominal value of a share.

The Share Option Scheme was valid for 10 years from 23
November 2011.

On 22 January 2016, in order to motivate and reward the
Company'’s staff, the Company had granted to certain eligible
participants of the Company share options to subscribe for an
aggregate of 100,000,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each
in share capital of the Company. The share options shall be
exercisable in the following periods:

- 30% of the share options are exercisable on 22 January
2018;

- 30% of the share options are exercisable on 22 January
2019; and

- the remaining share options are exercisable on 22 January
2020.
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(b)
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REM+TZEASRE S8LaER
2EEZEBRLRAGBAEBER
BIREZ A EHTRMNEBZ21% -
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32 Share capital, share option and share award 32 BAKREIRE BT E
schemes (Continued) (&
(b) Share option scheme (Continued) (b) HEERESTE(E)
(i)  The number and weighted average exercise prices of the () BRESERERNEFEHST
share options are as follows: FEEWT :
2018 2017
—E-N\F —T—tF
Exercise Number of Number of
price option Exercise price option
fTfEE EREYE 188 BlREHA
HK$ ‘000 HK$ '000
BT T# BT T
Outstanding at 1 January w—A—BERTE 0.46 100,000 0.46 100,000
Exercise during the year FRTHE 0.46 (13,440) = =

Outstanding at 31 December  R+-HA=+—H
HARITE 0.46 86,560 0.46 100,000
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32 Share capital, share option and share award
schemes (Continued)

(b) Share option scheme (Continued)

(i) The following table discloses details of the Company’s
share options held by employees as at 31 December

32 RARBRE RETE

(#)

(b) HBMRAESHEI(E)

(ii)

TEREBERENR T —NF
TZA=+—BARHRARE

2018: Pt 2 715
Outstanding
Exercise at
price 31 December
Date of grant per share Exercise period 2018
R=ZB-N\F
+=ZA=+—8”
& A BRIT&EE TEH i R AT
HK$
I
Employees 22 January 2016 0.46 22 January 2018 to 22 January 2019 16,560
=1 —E-RF 046 —FE-—NF—-—A-+-HE 16,560
—A=—+=8 —E-AFE—-—HA=Z+=H
22 January 2016 0.46 22 January 2019 to 22 January 2020 30,000
—E-RF 046 —T-NF-A-+-H=E 30,000
—A=+=H iy e =
22 January 2016 0.46 22 January 2020 to 22 January 2021 40,000
—E—RF 046 —ET-_TE-—A-_+-HAZF 40,000
—AZ+=H 2 —f—-—HA=-+=H
Total @5 86,560

The fair value of the options granted during the year
ended 31 December 2016 determined using the binomial
option pricing model was approximately HK$0.127,
HK$0.148 and HK$0.171 per share respectively. The
significant inputs into the model were share price of
HK$0.455 as at the grant date, exercise price as shown
above, volatility of 40.99%, 40.97% and 42.56%,
expected life of options of eight, seven and six years,
and annual risk-free interest rate of 0.993%, 1.056%
and 1.184% respectively. The volatility measured at the
standard deviation of expected share price returns is
based on the historical volatility of the Company'’s share
price over a period of eight, seven and six years before
the date when the options were granted.
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32 Share capital, share option and share award
schemes (Continued)

(@

Share award scheme

On 4 November 2011, the Board approved the adoption of a
share award scheme (the “Restricted Share Award Scheme”)
with the objective to recognise the contributions by eligible
employees within the Group and to give incentives in order to
retain them for their continuing operation and development
and to attract suitable personnel for further development of the
Group.

Pursuant to the rules relating to the Restricted Share Award
Scheme (“Scheme Rules”), shares are comprised of (i) shares
subscribed for or purchased by the Company and delivered
to the Trustee appointed by the Company (Note 38(c))
subsequently; or (ii) the Trustee out of cash arranged to be
paid by the Company out of the Company’s funds to the
Trustee and be held on trust for the relevant eligible grantees
until such shares are vested with the relevant eligible grantees
in accordance with the Scheme Rules (“Restricted Shares”).
The Board implements the Restricted Share Award Scheme
in accordance with the terms of the Scheme Rules including
providing necessary funds to the Trustee to purchase or
subscribe for shares up to 10% of the issued share capital of
the Company from time to time.

Under the Restricted Share Award Scheme, the Restricted
Shares are granted to eligible employees of the Company or
any one of its subsidiaries for no consideration but subject
to certain conditions (including but not limited to, lock-up
period) to be decided by the Board at the time of grant of the
Restricted Shares under the Restricted Share Award Scheme.
The Restricted Share Award Scheme will remain in force for 10
years from the date of adoption.

The Restricted Share Award Scheme operates in parallel with
the Share Option Scheme. All options granted under the Share
Option Scheme continue to be valid and exercisable subject to
and in accordance with the terms of the Share Option Scheme,
respectively.

e MR

(continued) (#)

32 RARBRE REE
(#4&)

(0

IR 17 22 B =t &

R-F——F+—AEAB EXR
B BR A — TR B A A 5t &) (TR
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32 Share capital, share option and share award
schemes (Continued)

(9]

Share award scheme (Continued)

Pursuant to the Scheme Rules, the Board may, from time to
time, at their absolute discretion select the eligible grantees
after taking into account various factors as they deem
appropriate for participation in the Restricted Share Award
Scheme as a grantee and determines the number of Restricted
Shares to be awarded. The Board shall cause to pay the
Trustee the purchase price and the related expenses from the
Company’s resources for the shares to be purchased by the
Trustee.

The Trustee shall hold such Restricted Shares on trust for the
eligible grantees until they are vested. When the relevant
eligible grantee has satisfied all vesting conditions specified by
the Board at the time of making the award and become entitled
to the Restricted Shares, the Trustee shall transfer the relevant
Restricted Shares to that grantee.

For awardees who cease employment with the Group before
vesting, the unvested shares are forfeited. The forfeited shares
are held by the trustee of the Restricted Share Award Scheme
who may award such shares to the awardees as instructed by
the Board.

During the year ended 31 December 2018, 30,860,000 (2017:
1,680,000) restricted shares have been awarded to employees
without vesting condition.
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32 Share capital, share option and share award

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

schemes (Continued)

(@

Share award scheme (Continued)

Details of the Awarded Shares awarded during the year

For the year ended 31 December 2018:

e MR

(continued) (#)

32 RARBRE REE
(#4&)

IR 1 52 B &1 8 (A7)

FRARHERIKGHFIE

BE_Z-NF+-_A=+—H
IEFE

Number
of shares Fair value
Date of award awarded per share Vesting period
BHBH BHRHEE SREROQIFE B
HK$
BT
Employees
==
7 May 2018 860,000 0.6 Without vesting condition
—E-N\FRALH 860,000 0.6 BB R
Employees
==
19 December 2018 30,000,000 0.56 Without vesting condition
—E-NFE+ZA+ANHE 30,000,000 0.56 5B R
For the year ended 31 December 2017: HEz-_ZET—+tF+=-_A=+—8
IEFE -
Number
of shares Fair value
Date of award awarded per share Vesting period
B AH RUERGEE SREROLTE 5B
HK$
BT
Employees
==
13 April 2017 1,680,000 0.59 Without vesting condition
—tFWA+=H 1,680,000 0.59 55 B IR 1T
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32 Share capital, share option and share award 32
schemes (Continued)

(c) Share award scheme (Continued)

Details of the Awarded Shares awarded during the year
(Continued)

Movement in the number of shares awarded for the years
ended 31 December 2018 and 2017 were as follows:

BARBRE REE
(#)

f 1 22 b &1 8 (A7)

FARHERIK G B 18 (&)

EREBRODBERBEE_ZF N
FR-_B-—tF+-A=+—H

WEFEZZFHMT :
Number of Awarded Shares
REBROE
2018 2017

—E-N\F —E—+tF
Outstanding at 1 January R—A—BHKRITE 1,520,000 1,520,000
Awarded BT 30,860,000 1,680,000
Vested BB (30,860,000) (1,680,000)
Outstanding at 31 December R+ZA=+—RAEKRTE 1,520,000 1,520,000
During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Trustee acquired REZE-_E—N\E+-_A=+—

under the Award Scheme 53,640,000 (2017: 181,260,000)
ordinary shares of the Company through purchases on
the open market with a price range of HK$0.54 (2017:
HK$0.52) to HK$0.65 (2017: HK$0.83) per share at a total
cost (including related transaction costs) of HK$29,030,000
(2017: HK$104,257,000) which was credited to shares held
for share award scheme account of the Company as an equity
component of the Company. As at 31 December 2018, the
total number of shares in the reserve was 839,989,221 (2017:
817,209,221).
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33 Acquisition of business

Effective from 30 August 2018, the Group has completed a business
acquisition consisting of oil and gas assets in West Central Alberta,
Canada from an independent third party at cash consideration
of CADS8,627,000 (approximately HK$52,193,000). The Group
commenced to account for the business combination from the
effective date when the Group gained control over the business. The
gain on bargain purchase amounted to approximately HK$12,221,000
was attributable to the acquisition. Details of net assets acquired and
gain on bargain purchase are as follows:

e MR

(continued) (#)

33 WEBER

BE-ZEZ-NENA=1+HE £EZK
M—R2BUYEZFETHELKRE -
WEBEME XM EAES T D
REE B2 R E 58,627,000 T(4
52,193,000/ 7t) - £ B & 4 2 B H (&
SERSHERNITSER ARBE
a0 AR o Bz UHE M 8% 15 5 B Wk s
I % #912,221,0008 7T - BEWEE EF
BEREEBERBRSFBOT

HK$'000
FHET
Total cash consideration wEeNRE 52,193
Recognised amounts of identifiable assets acquired and ~ FTUCEE AT s R B = K A& £ B B HY
liabilities assumed EEREE
Property, plant and equipment (Note 16) W - BB MR E (FE16) 64,971
Asset retirement obligation (Note 31) & E R AE (M5E31) (557)
Total identifiable net assets A#pFAERE 64,414
Gain on bargain purchase (Note 8) HEWE NS () 12,221

Acquisition related costs were not significant and have been
charged to administrative expenses in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income for the year ended 31 December 2018.

The acquired business contributed revenues of HK$7,260,000 and net
profit of HK$2,420,000 since the date of acquisition to 31 December
2018, if the acquisition has occurred on 1 January 2018, consolidated
pro-forma revenue and profit for the year ended 31 December 2018
would have been HK$40,535,000 and HK$26,620,000 respectively.

HHEREKAT T EXNAEBHE—ZF
—NF+ZRA=+—RHILFEZHEEE
T 28 5% A B0 7T BB S FR R

BREARE-_TE—NF+=_A=1+—
H - BT Ui 7% 8 Bl & 3£ 887,260,000 78
JC K 4 %12,420,0008 7T - KB SFEE
R_ZE—N\FE—F—B#T BHE_F
—NE+ZRA=Z+—BLEEREES
& 2 8 KOs A i 9 Bl /40,535,000 JT
%26,620,0005% 7T °
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34 Disposal of an associate

35

On 15 March 2017, a subsidiary of the Company, in which 75%
equity interest held by the Company, entered into a sales and
purchase agreement with independent third parties, pursuant
to which the independent third parties agreed to purchase, and
the subsidiary agreed to sell its entire 30% equity interests in an
associate total cash consideration of RMB6,000,000 (approximately
HK$6,960,000). The transaction was completed on 15 March 2017
resulting in recognition of a gain on disposal of approximately
HK$3,759,000 (Note 8).

Cash flow information

This section sets out an analysis of net debt and the movements in net

34

35

- A

RZZE—tF=A+HB 2

& — [

BRAR(RAFHTIS%H RE)HE— 25

/\m::.:

VNEZAHAN—HEE

VYEZFREHEE

BB
"ﬁlzlﬁﬂj

EER—MBEL 730%21&%
ﬁﬁﬁ‘iz%/\ﬁﬁ%,ooo,oooﬂ,i.ﬁ6,960,ooo
B R BER-_ZE—tFE=A+h

BZER - R E W

7T (KEE8) °

Bang&ds

#93,759,000

ZliﬁﬁﬁﬂXﬁﬁﬁifféﬁ%i%gﬁﬂ’\]ﬁﬁ&

debt for each of the years presented. B FREE &
Net Debt 2018 2017
B FE —E-N\F —tF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHExT FHET
Cash and cash equivalents HeRkIREEEER 2,508,223 2,290,447
Borrowings — repayable within one year £& — ER—FREE (1,455,839) (689,258)
Borrowings — repayable after one year BE —EBR—FREER (63,642) (60,000)
Senior notes — repayable after one year BAZE — BR —FEEER (5,029,991) (4,970,240)
Net debt B EHE (4,041,249) (3,429,051)
Cash and cash equivalents ReEkREEEER 2,508,223 2,290,447
Gross debt — fixed interest rates BREEE — EEME (6,077,727) (5,324,240)
Gross debt — variable interest rates BESRE — 28X (471,745) (395,258)
Net debt [ER e (4,041,249) (3,429,051)
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35 Cash flow information (Continued) 35 WEREER (&)
Other assets Liabilities from financing activities
HpgE HEEDELMAE
Cash Borrowings Borrowings Senior notes
and cash due within due after due after
equivalents 1 year 1 year 1 year Total
R-F#
ReRRE R-FR R-F# kT
£{EEA HENEE HENEE BEEE H
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T THT THET T TAT
Net debts as at 1 January 2017 RIB—tE-A-RAZEBFE 183348 (360,907) = (5,006,417) (3,533,841)
Cash flows Reme 329,654 (141,178) (55,005) 311,145 444,616
Finance costs HBER S (23,127) (2,945) (274,968) (301,040)
Foreign exchange adjustments SMEZRE 127,310 (164,046) (2,050) = (38,786)

Net debts as at 31 December 2017 RZE—+&+-f=1—-H

LEEFE 2,290,447 (689,258) (60,000) (4,970,240) (3,429,051)
Change in accounting policy (Note 2(a)) &t ERE® (M :2()) = = = (54,512) (54,512)
Cash flows Rene 325,095 (786,142) (10,460) 241,703 (229,804)
Finance costs BB - (54,456) (3,361) (246,942) (304,759)
Reclassify from non-current to current  RFERBEFHEE R - (7,200) 7,200 - -
Foreign exchange adjustments HME /& (107,319) 81,217 2,979 - (23,123)

Net debts as at 31 December 2018 RZE-\F+-R=1+—8
ZEBFE 2,508,223 (1,455,839) (63,642) (5,029,991) (4,041,249)
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36 Commitments 36 HIE
(a) Operating leases (a) ®KRe&HE
The Group leases certain of its office properties under operating EERBEKLHETHHEEERS
lease arrangements. Leases for properties are negotiated for DAY - HEWFEAHELHE
terms ranging from 1 year to 20 years. AN TF1EE20FE2BTE -
At 31 December 2018, the Group had total future minimum R-ZBE—NFE+=-A=+—H &
lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases falling RETAIHELLHE D B E
due as follows: NHARZFERENRBEAT -
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+tF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FE T FHET
Land and buildings expiring: RT3 EARR B HA ) L 3b A =
Within one year —F R 18,763 13,831
After one year but within five years —FRERFN 38,918 22,731
After five years AF% 29,632 26,923
87,313 63,485
(b) Capital commitments (b) EXREKIE
The Group had the following capital commitments outstanding EERMBERAIARBEBEUTK
not provided for at the date of statement of financial position: BEEHRBITE AR IE -
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+tF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Contracted but not provided for: BRI 48 R B4
Property, plant and equipment ME - BE LRE 127,140 199,091
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e MR

Related party transactions

As at 31 December 2018, the Company was indirectly owned by
Sino Best International Group Limited (“Sino Best”), a company
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands (“BVI”) which in turn was
wholly and beneficially owned by Mr. Xu Tie-liang, the Chairman and
executive director of the Company, as to approximately 24.5%. The
remaining 75.5% of the Company’s shares were widely held. Mr. Xu
Tie-liang and other directors of the Company are considered to be
related as they are members of the key management personnel of the
Company.

Transactions with key management personnel

The directors of the Company are considered as key management
personnel of the Group. The remuneration of the key management
personnel is determined by the remuneration committee having
regard to the performance of individuals and market trends. Details of
the remuneration paid to them are set out in Note 12.

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries and
controlled structured entities

(a) Details of the principal subsidiaries are as follows:

37

38

BEALXRS

RZZE—N\F+=ZA=

(continued) (#)

+—R8 A8

2

PHREREBRBRAR (PRI (R
EEARARS((RBEBRAES]E
MR RE  ARBEERAITES
HHRRAE2EESEA)BEBEERDY
24.5% ° N 7 H 82 75.5%0% 10 & & T &
B oHFHRREERAAEMEZEH AR
AETZEBEAEMERABAGIMEEEA

=+ o

RIEEEAEBNRS

RAEEREREETREEAER

BEBABZHME I HFHZESR
BEMNALZRARTESBBRETE -
NFZEALTZMEFBHRMEI2-

JES

Z

FEMBLARZESERE

BEREZHB

(a) EEMBAAFBOT :

Place of incorporation/

Nominal value
of issued share

establishment and kind of capital/registered

Percentage of equity
attributable to the

Name legal entity capital Company Principal activities
KL BRITRAEE
% RYBREEERER HMER ARAEERERDL TEEK
Directly Indirectly
E# %
Profaith Group Limited  BVI, Wholly foreign-owned Us$1 100.0% - Investment holding
enterprise
ERERRHE - EV - REEK
SNEEERE
All Praise Investment BVI, Wholly foreign-owned Uss$1 100.0% - Investment holding
Limited enterprise
ERERRHE - EV - REEK
SNEEERE
China Oil And Gas BVI, Wholly foreign-owned Us$1 100.0% - Investment holding
Group Limited enterprise
FRRREEERAR EBGARES EV - REEK
SNEEERE
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38 Particulars of the principal subsidiaries and 38 FEMBARIRZEFIGEHE
controlled structured entities (Continued) ERFBFE)
(a) Details of the principal subsidiaries are as follows: (a)) FEMIBARAFBWMT : (&)
(Continued)

Nominal value

Place of incorporation/ of issued share Percentage of equity
establishment and kind of capital/registered attributable to the
Name legal entity capital Company Principal activities
HERAL, BRTRAEE
£ RYpBREEERER HMER ARAEERERD L TEXEH
Directly Indirectly
B &
China Oil And Gas Hong Kong, Wholly foreign- HK$1 - 100.0%  Investment holding
Management Limited ~ owned enterprise
THRRERBRAR FE HEBECE BT REEK
Alta Financial Holdings ~ BVI, Wholly foreign-owned US$1,000 - 100.0%  Investment holding
Limited enterprise
BXLBEEERLAR RBABARES 1,000% 7T REEK
SEBELE
Zhongda Industrial BVI, Wholly foreign-owned Us$10,000 - 100.0% Investment holding
Group Inc enterprise
PRIXEEERARA HBABRES 10,0005 ¢ REEK
SIEBELE
China Oil And Gas Hong Kong, Wholly foreign- HK$1 - 100.0%  Investment holding
Group (Asia) Limited owned enterprise
FORMAREE (TN) BE IEBERCE BT REEK
ARRA
Hong Kong China Oil ~ Hong Kong, Wholly foreign- HK$1 - 100.0%  Investment holding
And Gas Group owned enterprise
Limited
EETHMRRER BRI BBELE BT REEK
ARRA
Accelstar Pacific Limited BVI, Wholly foreign-owned Us$50,000 - 100.0%  Investment holding
enterprise
HEABARES 50,000% 7T REEK
SIEBELE
Plentigreat Holdings BVI, Wholly foreign-owned Us$10,000 - 100.0%  Investment holding
Limited enterprise
AREARES 10,000% 7T REEZER
SEBELE
Vast China Group BVI, Wholly foreign-owned Uss$1 - 100.0% Investment holding
Limited enterprise
HEABRRES E REEK
SEBELE
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38 Particulars of the principal subsidiaries and 38 FEMBARIRZEFIGEHE
controlled structured entities (Continued) ERFBEE)
(a) Details of the principal subsidiaries are as follows: (a) FEMIBATFERBWOT : (4#)
(Continued)

Nominal value

Place of incorporation/ of issued share Percentage of equity
establishment and kind of capital/registered attributable to the
Name legal entity capital Company Principal activities
ML BRTRAEE/
L RYBEREEERER TEMEX ARELEREBAL TEXK
Directly Indirectly
=K %
Sino Invent Holdings BVI, Wholly foreign-owned Uss$1 - 100.0% Investment holding
Limited enterprise
EEERRHE 17T REER
WNEBEERE
China City Natural Gas  PRC, Wholly foreign-owned RMB1,000,000,000 - 51.0% Investment holding and
Investment Group enterprise trading of natural gas
Company Limited*
("CCNG")
TP RRARE REINEBERE AR REEREANRREE
SEARAA 1,000,000,0007¢
([HmFh =]
FmERHMEAREME PRC Limited liability company ~ RMB65,874,000 = 40.8%(i) Trading of natural
NS gas, gas pipeline
construction and
operation of natural
gas stations
hE - EREMELF AR #65,874,0007T AAREE RAREE
BERRARRUELE
BREFMRERBLE PRC, Limited liability company ~ RMB44,000,000 - 40.8%())  Gas pipeline construction
IBEREEAT
HE - BEREMEAT AR #44,000,0007T ARREEBRE
SRR MEBEREKRAFTE PRC, Limited liability company  RMB20,800,000 - 40.8%() Trading of natural gas
EERAR
RE - AREEAT AR #20,800,0007T RAREE
BEFHEEER AR PRC, Limited liability company RMB900,000 - 40.8%()) Trading of natural gas-
related equipment
hE BREERA AR #900,0007T AARIEBRBEE
BEER R EAREME PRC Limited liability company  RMB100,000,000 = 30.6%(i) Trading of natural gas
NG and gas pipeline
construction
hE - EREMERA AR #100,000,000 AARBERAAREE
7T #iE

*  For identification purpose only
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38 Particulars of the principal subsidiaries and 38 FEMBARIRZEFIGEHE
controlled structured entities (Continued) ERFBFE)
(a) Details of the principal subsidiaries are as follows: (a)) FEMIBARAFBWMT : (&)
(Continued)

Nominal value

Place of incorporation/ of issued share Percentage of equity
establishment and kind of capital/registered attributable to the
Name legal entity capital Company Principal activities
EMEL BRTRAEE
£8 RIBEREEZERER HARER AEEERETA L TEEHR
Directly Indirectly
B 8 &
EMNFMREERET PRC, Limited liability company ~ RMB50,000,000 = 40.8%(i) Trading of natural gas
NS and gas pipeline
construction
hE BREERA AR #50,000,0007T AAREERRARER
g
BERAMMAABEREME PRC, Limited liability company ~ RMB25,000,000 - 50.5%  Trading of natural gas
NG and gas pipeline
construction
hE - BREERF AR #25,000,0007T AARBEERRARER
fegi
HETHMAEREME PRC, Limited liability company ~ RMB45,000,000 - 30.6%() Natural gas transmission
NG through pipeline
T EREELT AR #45,000,0007T BEAARHX
ZEMNFHMEEREFE PRC, Limited liability company ~ RMB15,000,000 - 51.0% Trading of natural gas
A7) and gas pipeline
construction
FE AREMRA AR ¥15,000,0007T RAARBEERRARER
fegi
BN Rk EER QT PRC, Limited liability company  RMB30,000,000 - 51.0% Trading of natural gas

and gas pipeline
construction

FE AREEAT A #30,000,0007T AARBEERRAAREE
fegi
BEZGZRMRBERLD  PRC, Limited liability company ~ RMB12,000,000 - 40.8%(i) Trading of natural gas
al
T EREMEAT AR #12,000,0007T AAREE
FORFRRYR (BK8)A  PRC, Limited liability company ~ RMB75,000,000 - 100.0%  Transportation services
B2 A]

FE - BEREMERT AE#75,000,0007T BRR®
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38 TEMBELARRZTEGHERS
ERCHB(E)

38 Particulars of the principal subsidiaries and
controlled structured entities (Continued)

(a) Details of the principal subsidiaries are as follows: (a) FEMIBATFERBWOT : (4#)
(Continued)
Nominal value
Place of incorporation/ of issued share Percentage of equity
establishment and kind of capital/registered attributable to the
Name legal entity capital Company Principal activities
FMEL BRTRAEE/
=L RIBBEREEZERER EMER AAEERETA TEER
Directly Indirectly
=K %
SEPHEBMAAER PRC, Limited liability company  RMB20,000,000 - 51.0%  Natural gas transmission
NS through pipeline
RE - AREEAT AR #20,000,0007T BEAARESR
ZMPREHXARRE PRC, Limited liability company  RMB111,000,000 - 45.5%(i) Gas pipeline design and
R construction, natural
gas transmission
through pipeline
hEl - EREMEAF AR¥111,000,000 RAREBR REE
JT BERAREZ
PEAHMREREE PRC, Limited liability company ~ RMB20,000,000 - 35.7%() Trading of natural gas
NS and gas pipeline
construction
RE - AREEAA AR #20,000,0007T ARRBEBERRAREE
fedi
Fom % ORYI) FeeJR  PRC, Limited liability company — RMB71,000,000 - 51.0% Investment holding
AR
RE - ARETAT AR #71,000,0007T RA R
iskdmik R BREE PRC, Limited liability company ~ RMB67,910,000 - 35.7%() Trading of natural gas
NG| and gas pipeline
construction
hE - AREMELA AR%67,910,0007T AARBERARREE
B
Ik mZeERARER PRC, Limited liability company RMB2,000,000 - 35.7%(i) Trading of natural gas
NG|
RE - ARETAT AR %2,000,0007T RKAREBE
REFRAFTRARAR PRC, Limited liability company ~ RMB75,000,000 - 35.7%(i) Trading of natural gas
BEEAR and gas pipeline
construction
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38 Particulars of the principal subsidiaries and
controlled structured entities (Continued)

(a) Details of the principal subsidiaries are as follows:

38 FEMBELRARZTIEFESE

BEZH5E)

(a) FEMBAAFBENOT : (&)

(Continued)
Nominal value
Place of incorporation/ of issued share Percentage of equity
establishment and kind of capital/registered attributable to the
Name legal entity capital Company Principal activities
EMEL BRTRAEE
£8 RIBEREEZERER HARER AEEERETA L TEEHR
Directly Indirectly
B 8 &
FE - BEREMERA AR #75,000,0007T ARAREERRARES
B
TERHPREEMRF PRC, Limited liability company ~ RMB50,000,000 - 40.8%(i)  Gas pipeline design and
BRAT construction
hE BREERA AR #50,000,0007T AAREBRIARBE
mRZERFERAA  PRC, Wholly foreign-owned HK$187,500,000 - 100.0% Investment holding,
enterprise construction of
natural gas stations
and trading of natural
gas
TE - NEBERE 187,500,000/ 7T BRERR  RARMZE
RAAREE

ZHAMRE AR AT PRC, Sino-foreign equity joint  RMB18,000,000
venture

mE PSR ERELE  ARM¥18,000,0007T

mHREREEEBR PRC, Wholly foreign-owned US$75,000,000
NRI(RIE AR R enterprise

(BER)EREERLDA)
FECNEBERE 75,000,000% 7T
EREARREMEABR PRC, Limited liability company  US$26,981,000
NG
FE EREMEAT 26,981,000% 7T
HEERMENE PRC, Sino-foreign equity joint  RMB170,000,000
BRAR venture

mE PSR ERERE  ARM170,000,000
T
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- 80.4%  Trading of natural gas
and gas pipeline
construction

AAREBERANRREE
feg e
100.0%  Investment holding

REER
- 100.0%  Provision for finance

RHEBE

100.0%  Provision for finance

RHEBE
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(continued) (#)

38 Particulars of the principal subsidiaries and 38 FEMBARIRZEFIGEHE
controlled structured entities (Continued) ERFBEE)
(a) Details of the principal subsidiaries are as follows: (a) FEMIBATFERBWOT : (4#)
(Continued)

Nominal value

Place of incorporation/ of issued share Percentage of equity
establishment and kind of capital/registered attributable to the
Name legal entity capital Company Principal activities
FMEL BRTRAEE/
=L RIBBEREEZERER EMER AAEERETA TEEK
Directly Indirectly
=K %
BN RREEREE PRC Sino-foreign equity joint  RMB40,000,000 = 38.8%(ii) Trading of natural gas
NS venture and gas pipeline
construction
mE - RSMEESERE AR40,000,0007T AAREERAAREE
2
FETmE T TE£EE PRC, Sino-foreign equity joint ~ RMB26,000,000 - 60.4%  Trading of natural gas
MRERAT venture and gas pipeline
construction
mE - RSMEESERE AR26,000,0007T AAREERAAREE
fedi
FETHMRRABREME PRC Sino-foreign equity joint  RMB15,000,000 - 75.0%  Trading of natural gas
NS venture and gas pipeline
construction
mE - FSNEESERE AR15000,0007T AAREERAAREE
B
SERTRR AT PRC, Sino-foreign equity joint  RMB284,400,000 - 51.0% Trading of natural gas
venture and gas pipeline
construction
hEl - RHEERERE  AR284,400,000 AARBEERRARE R
7T Bk
Baccalieu Energy Inc. Canada CAD 141,040,000 - 100.0%  Exploitation and

distribution of crude
oil and natural gas
mex 141,040,000/07C RE RS HERERKAR
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(continued) (#)

38 Particulars of the principal subsidiaries and 38 FEMBARIRZEFIGEHE
controlled structured entities (Continued) BERFEE)
(a) Details of the principal subsidiaries are as follows: (a) XFEMBRATFRUOT : (#)
(Continued)
Notes: M3E -
(i) The Group holds controlling interests in these subsidiaries (i) EEFBEBS1.0%EE B M B
through a 51.0% owned subsidiary, CCNG. Therefore the ARIF P RFEZEWE QA
Group has control over these entities and they are considered as ZhotEm - Bt SEEAZSE
subsidiaries of the Company. EREMOZHE MZSEEEESE

RARMMBRRF -

(i) The Group holds controlling interests in this subsidiary through iy SEEBPHPRERZENBA
CCNG and a wholly owned subsidiary, Hong Kong China Oil AEAPHAREEER A A
and Gas Group Limited (“HKCOGG"). Therefore the Group has (BB BRI DHEZHBER
control over this entity and it is considered as subsidiary of the AR ER - ALl EEEAEZ
Company. EEEGE MZEEBERARD

AT B AR -

(i) The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in (i ZFEEFERB  LEMIAFMMEA
the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results for AEEFEAFREEEILER
the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the EEFEERNBD EERAE -
Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion REHEMHBAR ZFBEEER
of the directors, result in particulars of excessive length. LR
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38 Particulars of the principal subsidiaries and

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR

controlled structured entities (Continued)

(b)

Set out below are the summarised consolidated

(continued) (#)

38 TEMBELARRZTEGHERS
ERCHB(E)

TREFIFHPREEWE L (F

financial information of CCNG and its subsidiaries that EHEEMSBEBERZEERE
have non-controlling interests that are material to the H)EREMBERBE - THER
Group. The information below is the amount before ANTIEYHEAI 25
inter-company eliminations:
2018 2017
—E-N\F —T—+F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FE T FHET
Total assets BEE 8,906,970 7,947,199
Total liabilities waff (4,759,378) (3,705,442)
Net assets BEFE 4,147,592 4,241,757
Revenue X 7,577,665 6,268,785
Profit for the year F RN 649,997 425,740
Other comprehensive (loss)/gain Hiham (EE) WS (152,952) 267,881
Total comprehensive income 2HE W E LR 497,045 693,621
Dividend paid to non-controlling SRS T IR ER
interests 126,605 26,638
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(continued) (#)

38 Particulars of the principal subsidiaries and 38 FEMBARIRZEFIGEHE
controlled structured entities (Continued) ERCHEB(E)

(b) Set out below are the summarised consolidated (b) TREIFHPEREMB LA (B
financial information of CCNG and its subsidiaries that EHEEMESBERZIEERE
have non-controlling interests that are material to the R)GEMBERBE - THRER
Group. The information below is the amount before ANTIEYHEAI 2 (F)

inter-company eliminations: (Continued)

CCNG CCNG
e MRS
2018 2017
—E-N\F —ET—LF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Net cash generated from operating s EL ISR
activities 917,108 986,390
Net cash used in investing activities KREETEMAZREF5E (1,067,136) (481,667)
Net cash generated from/used in BBEBEGE A
financing activities R4 58 437,162 (200,713)
Net increase in cash and cash equivalentsIR € & IR & 5 {H18 B 1L H1 R 58 287,134 304,010
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January W—HA—BzBR& KR EE
HH 1,430,538 1,040,994
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes [& & g5 & (11,921) 85,534
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 Rt+tZA=+—HBzReRk
December ReFHEER 1,705,751 1,430,538
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(continued) (#)

38 Particulars of the principal subsidiaries and 38 FEMBARIRZEFIGEHE
controlled structured entities (Continued) ERCHIB(E)
(c) Details of the controlled structured entity are as follows: () ZTEHIEBERIFERNOT
The Company controls a structured entity which operates in DEEH —HEESEENLEE
Hong Kong, particulars of which are as follows: B OHFBOT
Structured entities Principal activities
HBER FTEXEK
Best Thinker Limited (“Trustee”) Purchases, administers and holds the Company’s shares for the Restricted

Share Award Scheme for the benefit of eligible employees of the Group
Best Thinker Limited ([ 3t A J) REEBSEREENRMBREIERMDEREEA BB RFEABRNG

As the Trustee is set up solely for the purpose of purchasing, HRZEATIE AR &R 5 28
administering and holding the Company’s shares for the Bzt 2l (BHsE32(0) B A - BB R F
Restricted Share Award Scheme (Note 32(c)), the Company BRATIRNMBE DBl BREHEH
has the power to govern the financial and operating policies STEANTBREEERK WAl
of the Trustee and it can derive benefits from the services BEERRHMERONES TRHESE
of the employees who have been awarded the Restricted REBRATIRENREESFIZ -
Shares through their continued employment with the Group. THEANBEERBEOEEERRN
The assets and liabilities of the Trustee are included in the HEOBEREEARGZAET BN
consolidated statement of financial position from its adoption FHh o UBZTAFTENQFRM
and the Company’s shares held by the Trustee are presented as EB—EAHRBEEEEZP 2R -
a deduction in equity as “shares held for share award scheme”. SVE BRI 2B =T 8P RR (D ] -
39 Approval of consolidated financial 39 #HLEFRESMBHRE

statements

The consolidated financial statements were approved and authorised EERR-_ZE—NF=-A-_+ERH#LE

for issue by the Board of Directors on 27 March 2019. REETEGEAETB®HEK -
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mEMBRRHME

(continued) (#)

40 Statement of financial position of the 40 A B B AROR &
Company
2018 2017
—2-N\F S
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5 TET FAT
Non-current assets ERBEE
Intangible assets BmVEE 1,702 1,702
Interests in subsidiaries R B AREZ 5,736,642 5,103,723
Available-for-sale financial assets At HEMGBEE - 20,050
5,738,344 5,125,475
Current assets MEVEE
Amounts due from subsidiaries & U BT B A Bl FRIE 57,400 51,218
Cash and cash equivalents Be MBS EEER 10,673 3,027
68,073 54,245
Current liabilities REBEE
Other payables H b FE T SRR (49,554) (42,447)
Net current assets mEBEEESE 18,519 11,798
Total assets less current liabilities mEERTEAE 5,756,863 5,137,273
Non-current liabilities FERBAG
Senior notes BREE (5,029,991) (4,970,240)
Net assets BEFE 726,872 167,033
Equity #a
Equity attributable to owners of the NEEA ANEEES
Company
Share capital & 7 32 58,391 58,257
Reserves =4 41 668,481 108,776
Total equity o ey k] 726,872 167,033
The statement of financial position of the Company was approved NAMBERARKER_ZE—NFE=A
by the Board of Directors on 27 March 2019 and was signed on its “t+t+tHEEEERMAETHUTESAR
behalf. BERE
Xu Tie-liang Guan Yijun R BEEEE
Director Director EFE EFE
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(continued) (#)

Reserves of the Company 41 N Elf#fE
Capital Sharesheld  Share-based Exchange (Note)
Share  redemption forshare  compensation fluctuation ~ Contributed ~ (Accumulated)
premium reserve  award scheme reserve reserve surplus losses Total
BRE%ER  HRAAER (&)
BBEE EARERE  HFRRE  ORMGE  EXRERR gaeg  (RER ig

HK§000 HK$'000 HKS 000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Thn Thn Tin Thn Thn TEL Thn TR

At 1 January 2017 RZE-+E-f-H 24,578 998 (305,706) 3441 (17,542) 1,520,328 (703,030) 523,067
Vesting of shares under share ~ BIERHEB:E

award scheme GERG - - 991 (991) - - - -
Fichange differences on ARRNERNELEE

translating foreign operations - - - - (802) - - (802)
Equity-settled share-based NEGEENRAE

payments EBORE - - - 4,744 - - - 4,744
Shares purchased for share award AR 2B EEER R

scheme - - (104,257) - - - - (104,257)
Final dividend for the year ended  HZ-F—7%

31 December 2016 tﬂj H

IFERZRERE = - - - - (29128) - (29,128)

Loss for the year ERNEE - - - - - - (284,848) (284,848)
At 31 December 2017 R-E-+E+-4

3 originally presented Z+-ARES 24,578 998 (408,972) 719 (18,344) 1,491,200 (987,878) 108,776
Change inaccounting policy 3 RREH (R3E2(2))

(Note 2(a)) = = = = = = (54,512) (54,512)
Restated total equity as at -N\E-R-BEE

1 January 2018 §\H§ﬁiﬁ§3 2.578 993 (408,972) 719 (18,344) 1,491,200 (1,042,390) 54,264
Vesting of shares under share ~ BER G 2B HEER

award scheme - - 17,316 (17316) - - - -

Exchange differences on REBNERNELZE
translating foreign operations = - -
Equity-settled share-based WEREENRN A

(131) S S (131)

payments ERNER - - - 21,269 = = = 21,269
Shares purchased for share RRNEEHERERR
award scheme - - 29,030 - - - - 29,030)
Proceeds from shares issued ~ RTFREREREIRA
upon exercise of share options ~ FT/3A 775 - - (1,707) - - - 6,048
Final dividend for the year ended EZ-F—+%
31 December 2017 t-A=1-A
LERZRHRE = = = = = (20,390) = (20,390)
Profit for the year ERE = S - - - - 636,451 636,451
At 31 December 2018 RZE-N%
t-A=+-H 3233 998 (420,686) 9,440 (18.475) 1,470,810 (405,939) 668,481
Note: M sE -
The contributed surplus of the Company represents the excess of the net assets NBIZHBARRBREERENR—ALAL=EREA
value of the subsidiaries acquired pursuant to the Group’s reorganisation in MKERB AR EEFEBLE AT ot W
1993 over the nominal value of the Company’s shares issued in exchange ﬁﬁﬁeﬁ@mz@@z@gg cBIE—HAN—F
thereof. Under the Companies Act of Bermuda 1981 (as amended), the BEEQAFEEEAR) R ZHEARBRKRTE
contributed surplus of the Company is distributable to the shareholders in EFEBERTAH®SIET Hxﬁ MEB AT A Al aE
certain circumstances which the Company is able to satisfy. BFAMLERBR -
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Five Year Financial Summary

IEMBRE

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for UTEERBELBEVBEFEZEEREE
the last five financial years, as extracted from the published audited financial HEeF DRESKBCHEZLERYBRE
statements and reclassified as appropriate, is set out below. WFAEFEEDHE -

For the year ended 31 December

BEt-A=+—-HLEE

2018 2017 2016 2015 2014
—E-N\F —E—tF AN S —E—hE —ZE—OF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAET FAET FET FET
Results E
Revenue - 9,410,131 7,651,280 6,446,452 7,373,902 7,697,811
Profit before taxation B B A1 5 A 928,526 811,466 842,129 50,190 854,163
Taxation 1A (250,301) (188,527) (184,461) (20,857) (217,565)
Profit for the year FERHEF 678,225 622,939 657,668 29,333 636,598
Attributable to: LATR FEAg
Owners of the Company A F#EHE A 281,904 250,467 311,791 (183,831) 308,650
Non-controlling interests ~ JF¥EA#E &8 396,321 372,472 345,877 213,164 327,948
678,225 622,939 657,668 29,333 636,598

As at 31 December

R+=HA=+—8H
2018 2017 2016 2015 2014
—E-N\F —ZT—tF ZT-—RE ZT—HF —ZT—NF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FHET FHET FHT
Assets and liabilities BEKGE

Total assets REE 16,027,643 15,546,601 13,603,839 14,087,638 15,467,449
Total liabilities Y=V 10,115,583 9,340,946 8,352,885 (8,887,384)  (9,374,700)
Total equity T2k 48 %8 5,912,060 6,205,655 5,250,954 5,200,254 6,092,749
Non-controlling interests  FE422 A& 4 25 (2,716,153)  (2,861,109)  (2,420,523)  (2,423,190)  (2,491,642)

Equity attributable to NEEBE AEGER
owners of the Company 3,195,907 3,344,546 2,830,431 2,777,064 3,601,107
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